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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

OVERALL FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year under review, North Mining Shares Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$967,071,000, representing an increase
of approximately 106.37% as compared with 2017 of approximately
HK$468,601,000. Such increase was mainly attribute to due to () the
financial performance of the Group’s chemical trading operation has
been accounted for full year while it was newly commenced through the
acquisition of subsidiaries in last correspondence year; and (i) increase
in revenue from Group’s mining operation which was benefited by the
increase in the price of molybdenum concentrate as compared to last
corresponding year.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded a loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$484,008,000
(2017: loss of approximately HK$145,774,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 232.03% as compared with last year. Such increase
in loss for the year was mainly due to (i) allowance for credit loss of
approximately HK$46,046,000 for trade and other receivables; (i) interest
incurred for bank and other borrowing of approximately HK$276,722,000;
(iiiy amortisation of intangible assets of approximately HK$96,505,000.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are: (i) mining operations —
exploitation and trading of mineral resources; (i) property management
operations; (i) chemical trading operations — manufacturing and sale of
chemical products; and (iv) security technologies operations — research,
development and sale of security technologies products. An analysis of
each of these business segments is presented below:

Mining Operations — Exploitation and Trading of
Mineral Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has two mineral mines within
its Mining Operation, namely () Molybdenum Mine; and (i) Potassium
Feldspar Mine.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

Molybdenum Mine

The Group’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation and
production of molybdenum concentrate in the PRC. Our molybdenum
concentrate was produced by the molybdenum mine operated by
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company Limited
(“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The
grading of molybdenum concentrate produced by our molybdenum mine
was approximately 45%-50%.

During the year under review, the volume of molybdenum concentrate
produced was approximately 2,931 tonnes (2017: 3,104 tonnes).
The sales volume of molybdenum concentrate was approximately
2,841 tonnes (2017: 3,194 tonnes). The average selling price of
molybdenum concentrate was approximately HK$74,266 per tonne
(2017: HK$63,416). During the year under review, the Group’s mining
operation contributed revenue of approximately HK$233,882,000
(2017: approximately HK$189,540,000) to the Group. Gross profit was
approximately HK$85,699,000 (2017: approximately HK$40,692,000) and
the gross profit margin was 37% (2017: 20%), representing an increase
of 17% as compared with last year. The increase in gross profit margin
was mainly due to the increase in average selling price of molybdenum
concentrate from about HK$63,416 per tonne in 2017 to HK$74,266 per
tonne in 2018.

Potassium Feldspar Mine

The Group’s potassium feldspar mine is located in Shaanxi Province,
the PRC with in-pit indicated and inferred mineral resource estimates of
potassium feldspar resources of approximately 63.2 million tonnes and
approximately 40.5 million tonnes respectively. The estimated resources
was estimated by the technical report issued by an international mining
expert appointed by the Group. During the year under review, no revenue
was generated by the potassium feldspar mine as the operation was still
under development.

The Directors estimate that the potassium mine can commence its
operation in 2020 and consider that the commencement of the operation
depends on two major elements including exploitation technology and
plant and machinery as explained below:
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

Subsequent to the acquisition of potassium feldspar mine, the Group
engaged a mining technology research company to study and develop a
new production technology for the exploitation of the potassium feldspar
mine. The advantage of such production technology includes main feature
for (i) increase efficiency of exploitation process; (i) less waste would be
produced in production process; and (i) produce more different type of
products from potassium ore.

The Group is currently constructing the production factories including
the plant and machineries for the production of potassium. The main
infrastructures were in place and the production line is constructing,
however it needs to correspond with the production technology layout
by the mining technology research company. Therefore, the management
estimate that by completing the study of technology to be used in
the production of potassium in 2019, the Group will complete all the
necessary infrastructures and commence the operation in 2020.

Performance of mining operation

The overall performance of mining operation was encouraging and
improved significantly as compared with last corresponding year. During
the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group recorded profit arising
from its mining operation of approximately HK$67,132,000 (2017: loss
of approximately HK$25,739,000). The major reason leading to such
increase was mainly due to the increase in the price of molybdenum and
increase in gross profit margin for the sales of molybdenum concentrate.

Major assets in mining operation

As at 31 December 2018, the major assets included in the Group's
mining operation were mining rights and property, plant and equipment
associated with the Group’s molybdenum mine and potassium
feldspar mine of approximately HK$1,369,781,000 and approximately
HK$2,495,714,000, respectively. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR TN

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Directors appointed an
independent professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of the
Group’s mining operation on a yearly basis. The basis for assessing the
value in use was based on the discount cash flow method (the “DCF”).
In the opinion of the Directors, the DCF method is the best way to reflect
the value in use of the Group’s mining operation. During the year under
review, there was no change in the valuation method and the Directors
had the consensus to adopt a consistent valuation methodology and
accounting policy in accounting for such mining operation because there
would be no fundamental change in the mining industry and external
environment.

The major source data and inputs of the DCF method were mainly
comprised of:

- Estimated sales volume of molybdenum concentrates and
potassium minerals based on the existing production capacity and
corresponding production plan;

- Estimated increase in selling price of molybdenum concentrates
and potassium minerals based on historical price and market
information;

- Estimated production costs and operating expenses for (i)
molybdenum concentrates based on the existing production cost
structure; and (i) potassium minerals was based on the technical
report issued by an international mining expert appointed by the
Group with reference to market and experience for production of
potassium minerals;

- Estimated of the future cashflow, including changes in working
capital and the incremental capital expenditure foreseeable to be
incurred; and

- Discount rate of 13% and 21% for the molybdenum concentrates’
operation and potassium feldspar mine operation, respectively,
which were determined based on their weighted average cost of
capital.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWR DN

Based on the assessment of the value in use, no impairment loss had
been provided in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2018.

Property management operations

During the year under review, the performance of the Group’s property
management operations was relatively stable. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Group has two properties management services
for the management of two residential properties located in Shanghai,
the PRC and there was no addition and termination of properties
management services during the year under review. For the year
ended 31 December 2018, revenue generated from this segment was
approximately HK$7,607,000 (2017: approximately HK$7,487,000),
representing a decrease of approximately 1.6% (2017: 2.68%) as
compared to last year.

Chemical trading operations

The Group’s chemical trading operations mainly includes manufacturing
and sale of chemical products in the PRC. Our chemical products
were produced by Anhui Tongxi Chemical Company Limited (“Tongxi
Chemical”). During the year under review, the Group’s revenue generated
from chemical trading operation was approximately HK$703,500,000
and incurred loss of approximately HK$49,805,000. The major reason
leading to the loss was due to the fact that the chemical factory of Tongxi
Chemical had been closed down for safety review. The whole safety
review process had been taken appropriate four months and the chemical
operation had been resumed in late June 2018 with the satisfactory of the
PRC government. Because of this effect, the Group recorded a loss for its
chemical trading operation for the year ended 31 December 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the major assets included in the Group’s
chemical trading operation were property, plant and equipment of
approximately HK$304,228,000. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group carried out impairment assessment to assess whether the
recoverable amounts of the assets were below the carrying amount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR TN

For the purpose of impairment testing, the Group appointed an
independent professional valuation firm to assess the value in use of
the Group’s chemical trading operation on a yearly basis. The basis for
assessing the value in use was based on DCF. The major source data and
inputs of the DCF method were mainly comprised of:

- Estimated sales volume of chemical products produced by
Tongxin Chemical based on the existing production capacity and
corresponding production plan;

- Estimated increase in selling price of chemical products based on
historical price and market information;

- Estimated production costs and operating expenses based on the
existing production cost structure; and

- Discount rate of 15.2% which was determined based on their
weighted average cost of capital.

Since the recoverable amounts of Tongxin Chemical below its carrying
value, an impairment loss of goodwill of approximately HK$12,939,000
had been provided in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

Security technologies operations

The Group’s security technologies operations mainly includes research
and development of face recognition technologies in the PRC. Our
security technologies and service were provided by Xinjiang Casiavision
Security Technology Company Limited and Xinjiang Xintongxing
Telecommunication Engineering Company Limited (“Xinjiang Group”).
During the year under review, the Group’s revenue generated from
security technologies operation was approximately HK$13,689,000 and
incurred loss of approximately HK$4,883,000, which was mainly due to
increase in cost of sales and administrative expenses.
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BEEBNWmR DN

Xinjiang Group was acquired by the Group in 2017 at the consideration of
HK$430,000,000 and the major assets of which was a contract backlog
relating to the contracts for the sales of terminal device to the government
authority in Xin Jiang, the PRC.

During the year under review, the performance of Xinjiang Group was
not as good as expected because there was no sale of terminal device
generated from the contract backlog during the year ended 31 December
2018. The reason for such situation was that the Group produced the first
batch of terminal device to customer in late 2017, however, the customer
had certain feedback and required Xinjiang Group to adjust and add
several functions to achieve the best performance of the terminal device.
Accordingly, Xinjiang Group was in the process to adjust the derive but still
not satisfied during the year under review.

The management of Xinjiang Group consider that they will continue to
develop the function of terminal device in order to satisfy the customer’s
requirements. Nevertheless, in order to protect the interests of the Group
and in view of the uncertainty on whether the sale of terminal device
can produce the expected income flow under the contract backlog, the
Group had discussed with the former shareholders of Xinjiang Group
and they agreed to buy back the entire equity interests of Xinjiang Group.
Accordingly, subsequent to financial year end, the Group entered into the
disposal agreement with the former shareholders of Xinjiang Group to
disposed of its entire equity interests in Xinjiang Group at consideration
of HK$430,000,000, being the consideration paid for the acquisition of
Xinjiang Group in 2017.

Material Transaction

On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with the former shareholders of Xinjiang Group for the disposal
of the entire equity interests in Full Empire Investment Holding Limited at
the consideration of HK$430,000,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR TN

Termination of Joint Venture

On 9 April 2018, the Company and Mr. Xu Zi Jing (“Mr. Xu”) (“Parties”)
entered into the Joint Venture Agreement pursuant to which the Parties
agreed to form a Joint Venture for the purpose of the establishment,
operation, promotion and maintenance of blockchain asset trading
platform and the research and development and application of blockchain
related technology.

After careful consideration of all the circumstances surrounding the Joint
Venture and the Company’s right under the Joint Venture Agreement, the
Parties have mutually agreed to terminate the Joint Venture Agreement.
On 12 June 2018, the Parties entered into a termination agreement to
terminate the Joint Venture Agreement with immediate effect. The Board
considers that the termination of the Joint Venture Agreement will not
have any material adverse impact on the financial and operational position
of the Group.

PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the global economy is still facing lots of uncertainties,
such as the international financial crisis, slowdown of global economy,
Sino-US trade war, all these have posed great challenges to the
global economy. However, the Group is still confident that the Chinese
government can solve the dispute in an effective way and the Chinese
economy can keep on growing smoothly.

Molybdenum market

The operation environment of China’s steel industry is the key factor
that affects the development of the country’s molybdenum market. As
required by China’s environmental protection policy and supply-side
reform policy, steel factories have no alternative but to transform and shift
to produce high quality special steel. Meanwhile, the normalization of Fall/
Winter production restriction will further accelerate the enhancement and
reconstruction of the steel industry, there are still ample room to increase
the production of stainless steel and high strength steel. All the factors
stated above will further drive up the demand for molybdenum, and it is
expected that the demand for molybdenum in China will keep increasing.
It is expected that the molybdenum market will continue to improve in
2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEBNWmR DN

Potassium market

Potassium feldspar can be produced into potash fertilizer, which can
enrich the soil and enhance harvest. Over-supply in the potash fertilizer
industry still persists, but China’s urbanization and agricultural supply-
side reform have accelerated the development of a new large scale
agricultural industry, and mechanization, automation and intelligent
agricultural will be the direction of future development of the industry.
Consumption upgrade and the supply-side structural reform have created
huge demand for modern agricultural services and quality agricultural
products. The aforesaid conditions have provided opportunities for our
future development.

Security business market

Xinjiang’s public security has always been a concern to the Chinese
government. The government is gradually enhancing the security control
on different aspects and along the boundary line, and has started to
manage the urban and rural areas with the help of online systems. As
Chinese government will continue to improve the social security system
and will demand for more security systems, so we envisage a bright
future for our security business. However, due to the uncertainty on the
development of the security systems that involve advance technology to
fulfill the ever-changing environment, the Group decided to sell back the
security business to its former shareholders to avoid the economic risk
associated with the security business.

Chemical business market

China has stringent regulatory requirements for safety and environmental
protection, which have inevitably created short-term operation pressure
on the chemicals manufacturing industry. However, corporate with
competitive advantage on environmental protection will eventually capture
the opportunities emerged in an operation environment with sound
regulation. The Group will continue to invest on safety and environmental
protection, impose stringent control over its costs, enhance its production
efficiency, and will formulate effective marketing strategy to meet the
challenges of increasing competition in the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWmR TN

The Group will make every endeavor to keep abreast of the changing
market conditions, proactively identify investment opportunities and
expand its mineral resources in order to broaden the revenue base of
the Group, enhance its future financial performance and profitability, and
fine tune its business strategies when the Directors of the Company
think appropriate. Moreover, the Group is seeking for further operating
efficiency across the business. We are confident in the future and
committed to continuous growth of the Company.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and proceeds from suitable source of funding. During the
year under review, the Group recorded a cash outflow of approximately
HK$39,784,000 (2017: outflow of approximately HK$539,906,000) which
was mainly due to the Group used internal cash resources to repayment
of loan interests and convertible bonds in 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had outstanding bank loans and
other borrowings at the amount of approximately HK$1,347,920,000
(2017: approximately HK$847,664,000). The Group’s gearing ratio as
at 31 December 2018 was approximately 51.08% (2017: 31.91%). The
increase in gearing ratio was mainly due to the increase in proportion of
interest bearing bank borrowings to total liabilities and equity during the
year under review. The Board will closely monitor the liquidity position of
the Group to ensure the Group has sufficient funding to settle the debts
when fall due.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s current ratio was approximately
0.86 (2017: approximately 0.74). The increase in current ratio was mainly
due to increase in loan receivable and other receivables during the year
under review.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s debt to equity ratio was
approximately 0.99 (2017: approximately 0.42). The increase in debt
to equity ratio was mainly due the increase in bank loans and other
borrowings during the year under review. The ratio was calculated by
dividing the total liabilities of approximately HK$2,479,025,000 (2017:
approximately HK$1,929,976,000) by equity attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$2,497,615,000 (2017: approximately
HK$3,120,678,000). Overall, the Board believes that the Group has a
healthy financial position and has sufficient resources to satisfy its capital
expenditure and working capital requirement.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES
Capital Structure

The Group’s capital structure as at 31 December 2018 mainly
comprised of current assets of approximately HK$1,256,594,000 (2017:
approximately HK$955,339,000), current liabilities of approximately
HK$1,466,482,000 (2017: approximately HK$1,284,428,000) and
equity attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$2,497,615,000 (2017: approximately HK$3,120,678,000).

Current assets mainly comprised of () cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$122,533,000 (2017: approximately HK$162,317,000);
(i) inventories of approximately HK$520,772,000 (2017: approximately
HK$472,640,000); and (iii) prepayments, deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$586,765,000 (2017: approximately
HK$253,722,000).

Current liabilities mainly comprised of (i) borrowings of approximately
HK$710,524,000 (2017: approximately HK$596,343,000); (i) trade
payables of approximately HK$135,313,000 (2017: approximately
HK$184,859,000); and (i) accruals and other payables of approximately
HK$188,649,000 (2017: approximately HK$148,775,000).

Convertible Bonds Issued

During the year under review, the Group did not issue any convertible
bonds. As at 31 December 2017, the Group issued two convertible
bonds: (i) convertible bond in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$98,838,000 (“CB1”). The interest rate is 10% per annum, from
the date of issue payable annually in arrears. The bondholder will have
the right to convert the whole or part of the principal amount of the
convertible bond into the conversion shares at an initial conversion price
of HK$0.15 per share (subject to adjustment) at any time and from time
to time, between the date of issue of the convertible bond, and up to
the date falling on the second anniversary of the date of issue of the
convertible bond; and (i) convertible bond in an aggregate principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 (“CB2”). The interest rate is 10% per annum,
from the date of issue payable annually in arrears. The bondholder will
have the right to convert the whole or part of the principal amount of
the convertible bond into the Conversion Shares at an initial conversion
price of HK$0.15 per share (subject to adjustment) at any time and from
time to time, between the date of issue of the convertible bond, and up
to the date falling on the second anniversary of the date of issue of the
convertible bond.
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BEENWR DN

During the year ended 31 December 2018, CB1 was fully repaid.

Debenture and Bond Issued

Upon the maturity date of CB2 on 28 December 2018, the Group entered
into standstill deed in relation to turn the CB2 into a bond with a principal
amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price equal to 100% of its principal
amount to Sfund International Investment Fund Management Limited,
which is to the best of knowledge, information and belief of the Directors
having made all reasonable enquires, an independent third party of the
Company (the “Corporate Bond”). The Corporate Bonds would mature on
28 September 2019. The interest rate of the Corporate Bond was 10%
per annum.

Treasury Policies

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the business activities of the
Group were mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The
Board does not consider that the Group is significantly exposed to any
foreign currency exchange risk. It is the Group’s treasury policy to manage
its foreign currency exposure whenever such financial impact is material to
the Group. For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group
did not employ any financial instruments for hedging purpose and was not
engaged in foreign currency speculative activities.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWING AND CHARGES
OF GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had bank and other borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$1,347,920,000 (2017: HK$847,664,000).
As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s interest bearing bank loans
were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to 30% per annum
and were secured by (i) guarantees from a subsidiary of the Group and
the subsidiary’s minority shareholders; (i) guarantee from the ultimate
control party; (i) pledged bank deposit, (iv) pledged property, plant and
equipment; (v) pledged prepaid land lease; and (vi) pledged mining rights.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RAREE

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had no significant contingent WRZZ—N\F+-ZA=+—H AEETEEKX
liabilities (2017: Nil). FARBBE(ZE—EF:|)-

HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION AN ER R FH MR

POLICY

As at 31 December 2018, the Group employed 688 full time employees R-ZE—N\E+-A=+—0 X&EEEMH688
(2017: 637 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are H&BES (T —+tF :6374EE) - EEH
structured and reviewed with reference to the nature of the jobs, market ~ Bl#HA IR T/EMHS - R REARIRE T Mg
condition and individual merits. The Group also provides other employee &t ° AREB JRZHEM B T1EF)  BIRFERER -
benefits including year-end double pay, mandatory provident fund and  &FES M EERE o

medical insurance.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Yang Ying Min, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 25 August 2014 and was subsequently appointed as
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 22 September in the same
year. He was appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company
on 4 January 2016. Mr. Yang graduated from Peoples Public Security
University of China with a Bachelor of Laws LL.B.. After graduation, he
worked in Xian Municipal government, Shaanxi Province, China. In 2010,
he joined Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiu Long Kuang Ye Company
Limited (“Jiu Long Kuang Ye”), the Company’s subsidiary, as deputy
managing director. In 2012, he was appointed as chairman of Jiu Long
Kuang Ye. Mr. Yang has extensive experience in management and legal
affairs relevant to mining industry.

Mr. Qian Yi Dong, aged 33, was appointed as an Executive Director of
the Company on 15 March 2011 and was then appointed as the Deputy
Chairman of the Board on 21 April 2011. He is also currently a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Qian graduated from Beijing
Normal University Zhuhai majored in electronic commerce. He is also a
director of Universal Union Limited and China Wan Tai Group Limited, the
controlling shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Zhang Jia Kun, aged 71, was appointed as an Executive Director
of the Company on 14 August 2009, and is also currently a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He graduated from Shanghai
Education College and Shanghai Business College where he majored in
professional mathematics and financial management respectively. He has
extensive experience in financial management. Currently, he is the general
manager of finance of Wan Tai Group Limited and the legal representative
and chairman of the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Shanghai Yuan
Bei Trading Company Limited.

Mr. Zhao Jian (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 40, was appointed as an Executive
Director of the Company on 15 October 2018. He graduated from
Peoples Public Security University of China with a Bachelor of Laws LL.B..
After graduation, he worked in Guangzhou government, Guangdong
Province, China, and was successively responsible for administration and
human resources management. He has over sixteen years of experience
in administrative management and legal affairs.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. William Fong, aged 39, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Audit Committee of the
Company on 15 October 2015. He holds a Master Degree in Business
Administration from the University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor’s Degree
(Hons) in Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Fong has
over ten years of experience in audit and finance. He has been the chief
financial officer of China Kangda Food Company Limited, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong
Stock Exchange”) since July 2010. Before that, Mr. Fong had respectively
worked in two international accounting firms for seven years. He is a
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong respectively.

Mr. Leung Kar Fai, aged 40, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company on 24 November 2015. He holds a Master
of Philosophy in Earth Sciences and Bachelor of Science (First Class
Honours) from the University of Hong Kong. Mr. Leung has expensive
experience in mineral exploration, project management, mining project
evaluation as well as course management related to geology and natural
resources management. He is currently the director of Dragon Global
Group and the member of the Task Force on Gemstone Testing, Hong
Kong Accreditation Service. Mr. Leung is currently the chairman of the
Geological Society of Hong Kong and the founding chairman of Hong
Kong Mining Investment Professional Association.

Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho, aged 49, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company on 12 April 2001. Dato Dr.
Cheng obtained a Bachelor of Science in Building, a Master degree in
Urban Design from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 26 years’
experience in property development, property investment, valuation and
corporate finance. Among others, Dato Dr. Cheng is a Fellow of: Institute
of Public Accountants, The Royal Society of Medicine, The Association
of International Accountants, The Hong Kong Institute of Directors, The
Society of Operations Engineers, and Institution of Plant Engineers.

Dato Dr. Cheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive

director of Combest Holdings Limited (stock code: 8190, listed on the
GEM Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange) on 22 November 2016.
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Report of the Directors
EEERT

The Directors of the Company present their report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are mining operations — exploitation
and exploration, trading of mineral resources, property management
operations, manufacture and sales of chemical products and sales of
security technologies. Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries are set
out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial statements. New business
segments, namely chemical trading and security technologies operation
were added to Group’s business segment during the year.

An analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the
operations of the Group during the financial year are set out in Note 8 to
the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position and material
attributable factors of the development and likely future developments
of the Group’s business, are provided throughout this Annual Report,
particularly in the following separate sections:

(@) Review of the Group’s business — “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 4 to 16;

(o)  The principal risks and uncertainties the Group is facing — “Report
of the Directors” on pages 19 to 34;
(c)  Future development in the Group’s business — “Management

Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16;

(d) Analysis using financial key performance indicators —and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 16 and
“Summary of Financial Information” on page 200;

(e) Information about the Group’s Environmental, Social and
Governance (“ESG”) policies and performance — ESG Report on
pages 48 to 70;
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Report of the Directors
EEERE

Discussion on the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations — “Report of the Directors” on pages 19 to 34 and
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 35 to 47; and

An account of the Group’s key relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers and others — “Report of the Directors” on
pages 19 to 34 and ESG Report on pages 48 to 70.

PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

Although we have established the risk management system to identify,
analyse, evaluate and respond to risks, our business activities are subject
to the following risks, which could have material effects on our strategy,
operations, compliance and financial condition. We urge you to carefully
consider the risks described below:

1.

20

Economic Environment Risks

Affected by current macro-economy and policies at Mainland
China and abroad, the business of mining operations, property
management operations, chemical trading operations and security
technologies operations where the Company operates exits many
risks and uncertainties.

To cope with such risks, the Company made thorough research
and analysis on macro-economy, government policies, industrial
development, intensified market analysis and judgement and
adopted corresponding actions against potential risks. It
accelerated restructuring, transformation and upgrading, thus
cultivating new profit growth and enhancing its comprehensive
competitiveness and anti-risk capabilities.

Market Price Risks

The sharp fluctuation of molybdenum concentrate, chemical
products and security technologies products price mainly reflects
the change in supply and demand of molybdenum products,
chemical products and security technologies products, market
uncertainty and other factors out of control of the Group, including
but not limited to the overall economic situation, political unrest,
economic condition, availability of other metals, regulations of
governments both at Mainland China and abroad, natural disasters
and weather conditions. Price fluctuation will have a material impact
on the business, cash flow and revenue of the Group.
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Report of the Directors
EEERT

To cope with the risk, the Company intensifies prudent judgement
on the market, fully brings about the effect of supervision and
control over market price risk and alert thereof, continuously
improves its risk control capability in market price and constantly
strengthens production costs and expenses control.

Safety and Environmental Risks

Stringent requirements in relation to safe production and
environmental protection ability for a company have been stipulated
in the Production Safety Law of People’s Republic of China and the
Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China. As
the Company’s mining operation mainly includes the exploitation
and production of molybdenum concentrate, any safety or
environmental accident will inflict huge losses on the reputation and
assets of the Company.

To cope with the risk, the Company keeps improving management
rules, assigns responsibilities and further strengthens supervision
and examination in terms of safety and environmental protection.
It screens relevant hazards, takes preventive measures; constantly
increases awareness among enterprises and all employees in the
aspects of on-site management and safety and environmental
protection management by providing more training courses. It
also allocates more funds with a view to upgrade and reconstruct
technology and equipment, constantly promotes energy saving and
reduction of emissions.

Financial Risks

Details of financial risks are set out in Note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Environmental policies performance

The Group has taken initiatives to reduce energy consumption and
encourage recycle of office supplies and other materials. The Group will
continue to review and promote its environmental policies.

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has complied
in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the businesses and operations of the Group. During
the year under review, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.
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Relationship with employees and customers

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its employees and customers to meet its business goals. During the
year under review, there were no significant dispute between the Group
and its employees and customers.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 and the
state of the Group’s affairs as at 31 December 2018 are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 79 to 200.

The cashflows of the Group are set out in the consolidated financial
statements on pages 84 to 85.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year under review, the Group’s single largest customer and
supplier accounted for approximately 6% (2017: 12%) and 4% (2017:
8%) respectively, of the Group’s total operating revenue and cost of
sales. The Group’s five largest customers and suppliers accounted for
approximately 25% (2017: 39%) and 21% (2017: 28%) of the Group’s
total operating revenue and cost of sales respectively.

At no time during the year had the Directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the Directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) have any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during
the year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
page 83.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVE

Details of the amount of the Company’s reserve distributable to
shareholders as at 31 December 2018 are set out in Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are
set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSIDIARIES

The particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2018 are set out in Note 43 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year are
set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes of
information of Directors during the year ended 31 December 2018 and up
to the date of this report are set out below:

The annual remuneration of Mr. Yang Ying Min increased to
HK$1,800,000 (excluding discretionary bonus and/or other benefits) with
effect from 1 January 2018.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2018, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive Directors

Yang Ying Min (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Qian Yi Dong (Deputy Chairman)

Zhang Jia Kun

Zhao Jian

Xu Zi Jing (Resigned on 15 October 2018)

Independent Non-executive Directors

William Fong
Leung Kar Fai
Cheng Chak Ho

DIRECTORS RETIRING BY ROTATION

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws 87(1) and (2), Mr. Yang Ying
Min, Mr. Zhang Jia Kun and Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho will retire from
office by rotation, and both of them being eligible, offer themselves for re-
elections at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has an unexpired service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation, other than
normal statutory obligations.

The Directors’ remuneration for the financial year is set out in Note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 25 May 2011,
the Company adopted the share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme”). A summary of the Share Option Scheme is as follows:

(1) Purposes of the Share Option Scheme

The principal purposes of the Share Option Scheme are to enable
the Group and any entity in which the Group holds any equity
interest (“Invested Entity”) to recruit and retain high calibre persons
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group or
any Invested Entity, to recognise the contributions of the eligible
persons to the growth of the Group or any Invested Entity by
rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest in
the Company and to motivate and give incentives to these eligible
persons to continue to contribute to the long term success and
prosperity of the Group or any Invested Entity.

(2) Who may join

Persons who are eligible to the Share Option Scheme (“Eligible
Person(s)”) are any employee (whether full time or part time),
senior executive or officer, manager, director (including executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive director) or
consultant of the Company, any of its affiliates or any Invested
Entity, or any of their respective associates, chief executives, or
substantial shareholders, or any person, who, as determined by
the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group or any Invested Entity.
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(3)

(4)

(5)

Total number of shares available for issue

Total number of shares available for issue are 1,300,261,670,
representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of the AGM held on 25 May 2011.

On 26 July 2011, the Company granted 500,000 share options
to a consultant of the Company with 3 years of exercisable period
from 26 July 2011 to 25 July 2013. Upon the expiry of exercise
period, no share option was exercised, all outstanding share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme had been lapsed
accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 100,000,000 Share
options was granted to a director, then lapsed in the same year due
to his resignation.

As at 31 December 2018, total number of share available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme was 1,199,761,670, representing
5.58% of the issued shares of the Company.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each Eligible Person under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options)
in any 12-month period must not exceed one (1) per cent of the
shares in issue.

Maximum entitlement of each eligible person
who is a connected person

(@  each grant of option to an Eligible Person who is a director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company
or any of their respective associates, under the Share
Option Scheme must be approved by the independent
non-executive director(s) of the Company (excluding the
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of the
option); and

3)

4)

(5)
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(b)  where the Board proposes to grant any option to an Eligible
Person who is a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, and such option, if exercised in full,
would result in the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options already granted and
to be granted to such Eligible Person (including exercised,
cancelled and outstanding options) in the past 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant:

(i) representing in aggregate more than 0.1 per cent. of
the total number of Shares in issue; and

(ii) having an aggregate value (on the assumption that
all such Options had been exercised and all Shares
allotted), based on the closing price of the Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheet on the date of each grant or, if that date is not a
business day, the business day immediately before, in
excess of HK$5,000,000.00,

such further grant of options must be approved by the
Shareholders. The Company must send a circular to the
Shareholders containing the information required under Rule 17.04
of the Listing Rules. All connected persons of the Company must
abstain from voting at their respective general meetings, except
that any connected person may vote against the relevant resolution
at such general meeting(s) provided that his or her intention to
do so has been stated in the circular to be sent to the relevant
shareholders. Any vote taken at the meeting to approve the grant of
such options must be taken on a poll.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period within which the
option may be exercised, to be notified by the Directors to each
Eligible Person who accepts an offer in accordance with the terms
of the Share Option Scheme, provided that it shall commerce on a
date not be more than ten years from the date of grant.
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(7

(8)

©)

Acceptance of offer

The Eligible Person must accept any such offer notified to him
or her within ten (10) business days from the offer date, failing
which it shall be deemed to have been rejected. Upon acceptance
of the offer, the grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for the shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board at its absolute
discretion and notified to an Eligible Person but shall not be less
than the highest of:

0] the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations shest on the offer date;

(i) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five (5) business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 25 May 2011 and
will remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company, or any of their respective associates, had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN

SHARES

As at 31 December 2018, according to the register kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, and so far as was known to the
Directors or chief executive of the Company, the following persons had, or
was deemed or taken to have, an interest or short position in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company:

Long position:

Ordinary Shares of HK$0.016 each of the Company

RAE:
A2 F8R0.01678 T EE R

FERRZRHER

RZB-—NF+ZA=+—H REFARFER
Er M B GIIE3B6IRFE 2 E LM AR
BEERARABRITHRABRE THALR
ARBD AR P HA R RRABEE R

eV R

Approximate
percentage

Number of  interest in the

shares/ issued voting

underlying shares of the

Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company

RN

2817

i 4% SRR AR

mERG BRI

BRRES AR g1 HERGEE Bk

Qian Yong Wei (“Mr. Qian”) (Note 1) Beneficial owner 11,500,000 0.05%
gokfE ([#EE]) (MFE) EnlEB A

Held by controlled corporation 3,380,408,552 15.73%

HREEH RS

3,391,908,552 15.78%

Xu Zhe Cheng (‘Ms. Xu”) (Note 2) Held by spouse 3,391,908,552 15.78%
AR ([Frat]) (MiEk2) EEE L ESR ]

China Wan Tai Group Limited Beneficial owner 234,240,000 1.09%
(“China Wan Tai") (Note 3) EmBEEA

FREEREEARAF ([FEEZR]) (M33) Held by controlled corporation 3,146,168,552 14.64%

HREEHARRE
3,380,408,552 15.73%
Universal Union Limited (“Universal Union”) Beneficial owner 3,146,168,552 14.64%

Universal Union Limited ([ Universal Union | )

BEEBEEA
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Approximate
percentage

Number of interest in the
shares/ issued voting
underlying shares of the
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company
EARAT
2T
MR ERER 5
ke EEBA
BRE®SEEB 4 HERGEE Aok
China Huarong Asset Management Company Held by controlled corporations 4,888,000,000 22.74%
Limited (“China Huarong Asset”) (Note 4)
PHEREETERNHBR AT HEEHAFFE
(TFhEEREE]) (M)
Huarong Real Estate Company Limited Held by controlled corporations 4,888,000,000 22.74%
(‘Huarong Real Estate”) (Note 4)
EMEXBREARRA([EREE]) HEEH QRS
(Bi3E4)
China Huarong International Holdings Limited Held by controlled corporations 4,888,000,000 22.74%
(“China Huarong International”) (Note 4)
Fh B 2 R B R R AR A PR A B EE gt NS 2]
(TR EZERER]) (KiFEd)
Oceanic Merchant Limited (“Oceanic”) (Note 4) Person having a security interest 1,870,000,000 8.70%
in shares
Oceanic Merchant Limited ([Oceanic ]) (KizF4) ERMDFFERBERMHAL
Driven Innovation Limited (“Driven”) (Note 4) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
Driven Innovation Limited ([Driven |) (Fff£4) MEEGIAFRFE
Zhong Ling (“Mr. Zhong”) (Note 5) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
$E ([4E5e4E]) (BizEs) EE NS 2]
China Gem Group Limited (“China Gem Group”) Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%

(Note 5)
FREAEEEERAR ([FEAPAEE])
(FF3E5)

R NEIES e ]
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Approximate

percentage
Number of interest in the
shares/ issued voting
underlying shares of the
Name of shareholders Capacity shares held Company
EALT
21T
Mt 3R R 17
mERG, EEBA
BRE®SE LB 54 HERGEE Aok
China Gem Investment Management Limited Held by controlled corporation 3,018,000,000 14.04%
(“China Gem Investment”) (Note 5)
China Gem Investment Management Limited RN ES ]
([China Gem Investment | ) (Hf#E5)
China Gem Fund IX L.P (“China Gem Fund”) Beneficial owner 3,018,000,000 14.04%
(Note 4)
China Gem Fund IX L.P ([ China Gem Fund ] ) EmEE A
(B3E4)
Gu Jie (“Mr. Gu”) (Note 6) Beneficial owner 1,876,580,000 8.73%
FE ([EEE]) (H6) BB A
Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory Company Held by controlled corporation 1,324,929,577 6.16%
Limited (Note 7)
FERBEKREXRABR AR (ME7) BEEHAFFE
Mint International Group Limited (Note 7) Held by controlled corporation 1,324,929,577 6.16%
EMBREEFR AR (KME7) R ARRE
Pleasant Journey Global Limited (Note 7) Beneficial owner 1,324,929,577 6.16%

Pleasant Journey Global Limited ( Ff3£7)

BEmEAA
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Notes:

Mr. Qian personally held 11,500,000 shares in the Company, and held 95%
interest in China Wan Tai. China Wan Tai held 100% interest in Universal
Union. Universal Union held 3,146,168,552 shares in the Company.

Ms. Xu is the spouse of Mr. Qian. The interest of Mr. Qian was deemed to be
Ms. Xu's interest.

These shares are held by Universal Union, a wholly owned subsidiary of
China Wan Tai which is in turn beneficially owned by Mr. Qian and Ms. Xu as
to 95% and 5% respectively.

(i) Driven Innovation is the limited partner of China Gem Fund contributing
approximately 83.75% of the total capital commitment including its
3,018,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to China Gem Fund. Driven
Innovation is wholly owned by China Huarong International which in turn
is owned as to 11.90% by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment & Management
Company Limited (‘Huarong Zhiyuan”) and as to 88.10% by Huarong
Real Estate. Huarong Zhiyuan and Huarong Real Estate both are wholly
owned by China Huarong Asset. (i) Oceanic is wholly owned by China
Huarong International. Mr. Gu charged 1,870,000,000 of the Shares he is
interested to Oceanic on 11 December 2014. Accordingly, China Gem Fund
is interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, Driven Innovation is deemed to be
interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares, each of China Huarong Asset, Huarong
Real Estate, China Huarong International is deemed to be interested in
4,888,000,000 Shares and Oceanic is interested in 1,870,000,000 Shares
for the purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

China Gem Investment, the general partner of China Gem Fund is directly
wholly-owned by China Gem Financial Group Limited which is, in turn,
directly wholly-owned by China Gem Group which is, in turn, directly wholly-
owned by Mr. Zhong. Accordingly, each of China Gem Investment, China
Gem Financial Group Limited, China Gem Group and Mr. Zhong is deemed
to be interested in 3,018,000,000 Shares held by China Gem Fund for the
purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The Company issued and allotted a total of 1,870,000,000 conversion
shares to Mr. Gu on 29 August 2014 and Mr. Gu subsequently charged
these shares to Oceanic on 11 December 2014.

These shares were held by Pleasant Journey Global Limited (“Pleasant
Journey”). Pleasant Journey is wholly owned by Mint International Group
Limited which is wholly owned by Shanghai Mint Investment Advisory
Company Limited (“Shanghai Mint”). Shanghai Mint is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Pleasant Journey for the purpose of Part XV
of the SFO.

#5 A4 (E A $5A11,500,00008 A" A B AD KA
A BB HR95% % © 1 B & 2= 4% A Universal Union
100%# 2= ° Universal Union#% 5 3,146,168,552f%
KA TR

LT RBEEZRME - B 2 IR BT
Ltz

ZEBRMHBPRREER 2 EWE R FUniversal
Union# 74 ﬁﬁqﬂl%ﬁﬁ‘mﬂﬁ%%i&ﬂﬁiﬁﬂ
E 2 7 5 95% 5% HE &

(i) Driven Innovation/China Gem FundzZ AR &
BN B RAEBEELS83.75% B aiEEE
# T China Gem Fund;Z3,018,000,000/% A~ A &]
3B A% - Driven Innovationds AP B 2 Bl B B 2 &
wE mMPEERERIAERBERREERS
REFAR ([ERMBR)RERBEES S
11.90% K% 88.10% % « ZERBUR K ERM B %19 H
FEEMEESEMA - (i) OceanicH 7 B2 5
&‘%‘%ﬁ%ﬁ CBEAEN-_T—HME+—_/B+—
H % A # 25 21,870,000,0000% % 15 K 37 7
Oceanic ° A It IR 15 7 % & HI & & HI SEXVED -
China Gem Fundi3,018,000,0000% &5 # A
# 2% 1 Driven Innovationi# 1% % #23,018,000,000
B ER PREREE FREEK
AP B 2 ph BB 5 B 1R AR A 504,888,000,000% A 17
AR A 25 & Oceanici1,870,000,0007% A% 15
PEA R

China Gem Fundz ¥%3i#4& % AChina Gem
Investmentll PR R A S RIEBBR AR EES
AR PEPACBRERMBRAFABEFRHF
AEEER2EEE MPBEPAEEAHESS

HEXERE AL REZBHFRAEKIE
XVEE - China Gem Investment » F1 B & 7 4 &l 5= [
BRAG - HPEFPEERRELESEHRAR
China Gem Fund#}# 3,018,000,000/% fi% 17
WEER-

AARRZZE—NFNAZ TN B MEEEEET
&@E?“m/J 870,000,000% X ¥z 17 - BR e EH
BRZZ—NF+ AT —BBEREROHERT
Oceanic °

2 % % 15 fAPleasant Journey Global Limited
([Pleasant Journey | ) # % ° Pleasant Journeyt#
REOBEEEEERARNZEHRS  MRBBEKE
BEBERARIH EEREEREZABRAR ([ LG
RBED2EHE BREIEHFRHEGRAEXVE:

BRI AR Pleasant Journey# A K% (5
AR

2018 F i A FWMERDBRAE 31



Report of the Directors
EEERE

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company were not aware of any persons who, as at 31 December 2018,
had an interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO and/or, who was, directly or indirectly, interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital carrying rights to
vote in all circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor children,
or were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

There was no contract of significance in relation to the Group’s business
to which the Company, any of its holding companies or fellow subsidiaries
was a party, in which a Director had a material interest, subsisted at the
end of the year under review or at any time during the year under review.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Board has the general power of determining the Directors’
remuneration, subject to the authorization of the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting each year. The remuneration
of the Directors is subject to review by the Remuneration Committee,
and their remuneration is determined with reference to the Directors’
qualifications, experience, duties, responsibilities and performance and
results of the Company.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions during the financial year are set
out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors believe that none of the Directors and their respective
associates had an interest, directly or indirectly, in a business which
competes or may compete with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provides that each Director or other officers of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the
Company against all losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain
or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. In addition, the Company has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of relevant
legal actions against the Directors.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for convertible bonds and share option scheme of the Company,
no equity linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s byelaws
or the law of Bermuda.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
share capital were held by members of the public as at the date of this
report.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 200 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. William Fong, Mr. Leung Kar Fai and Dato Dr. Cheng
Chak Ho. The purpose of the establishment of the audit committee
is for reviewing and supervising the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. The audit
committee has reviewed the Group’s financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2018.

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite”) was appointed as auditors of the
Company in 2012, and then retired and was re-appointed at the
Company’s annual general meeting from 2012 to 2018.

Elite will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as
auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite as auditors of the Company
will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES TEERER

The Board believes that good corporate governance is crucial to improve EE&HE EECEBAHIEAREBRRERL
the efficiency and performance of the Group and to safeguard the KIBURRERREFZLABEE-

interests of the shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Company had applied #HE_-_Z—N\F+-_A=+— Eliif PAN/NEC]
the principles of the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) setoutin — BHEREBHM AL I ARARESF TR

Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and complied with
all the applicable code provisions of the Code, except the following code
provision:

1. Under the code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman 1.

and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Mr. Yang Ying Min (“Mr. Yang”), being the Chairman and Chief
Executive of the Company. Mr. Yang has in-depth knowledge
and considerable experience of the Group’s business who
is responsible for the overall strategic planning and general
management of the Group. The Board considers that vesting the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer in the same person
leading to consistent leadership of the Group and enabling the
Group to make and implement decisions promptly and thus
achieving the Group’s objectives efficiently and effectively in
response to the changing environment.

The Board shall nevertheless review the structure from time to
time and shall consider the appropriate adjustment should suitable
circumstance arise.

2. Under the code provision A.5.1 of the Code, company should 2.

establish a nomination committee which is chaired by the chairman
of the board or an independent nonexecutive director and
comprises a majority of independent non-executive directors.
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However, the Board considers that the setting up of such a
nomination committee may not be necessary at the current scale
of the Board and the Company. The Board is responsible for
considering and approving the appointment of its members and
making recommendations to shareholders on directors standing
for re-election, providing sufficient biographical details of directors
to enable shareholders to make an informed decision on the re-
election, and where necessary, nominate and appoint directors to fill
casual vacancies.

The Company has set out a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) for
achieving diversity on board of directors of the Company. The Policy
provide a sustainable and balanced development in Company’s
strategic objectives. The Board review the Policy annually and
ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.

Under the code provision A.6.7 of the Code, independent non-
executive directors should, inter alia, attend general meetings.

Due to personal and other important engagement at the relevant
time, Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho were absent from the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Company considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than the Code.

The

Company will periodically review and improve its corporate

governance practices with reference to the latest development of
corporate governance.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules.

The Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors regarding
any non-compliance with the Model Code during the year ended 31
December 2018, and they have all confirmed that they had fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code.

BOARD MEETING

The principal roles of the Board are to oversee the strategic development,
to determine the objectives, strategies and policies of the Group, to
monitor and control the financial performance and to ensure effective
internal controls and risk management. Implementation of strategies and
day-to-day operations are delegated to the management.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least 14 days is given for a regular Board meeting.
For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are dispatched to all Directors at least three days before each
regular Board meeting to ensure that the Directors have sufficient time
to review the related documents and be adequately prepared for the
meeting.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings, which record in
sufficient detail the matters considered and decisions reached, are kept
by the Company Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice by any Director. The Company’s Bye-laws
contains provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions in which
such Directors or any of their associates have a material interest.
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The following table shows the attendance of each individual member of
the Board and the respective Board Committees at the Board and the
respective Board Committees meetings and general meeting held during
the year ended 31 December 2018:

TRETEZENEZESFE LR ZAMNKEH
BREBE_T—\F+_A=+—BILFER{T
LEEERANRETEREeeR MERARE
ZFCER

Corporate Financial
Audit Remuneration  Governance Reporting
Board Committee ~ Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee General
Name of Directors meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting meeting
EVEEE FHZE" tEER BRHRE
E3pE Ezgen 8% &% ZEg®gE ZEgg REXE
Executive Directors HTES
Yang Ying Ming BER 4/4 n/a T™EH n/a ~EA n/a T n/a T 11
Qian Yi Dong B 4/4 n/a TNEf 2/2 2/2 2/2 1/1
Zhang Jia Kun KR 4/4 n/a i n/a i 2/2 2/2 0/1
Zhao Jian skl 1/4 n/a i n/a i n/a M@ A n/a N 0N
Xu Zi Jing (Note 1) R (B EE) 3/4 n/a TEHA n/a NEHA n/a TE A n/a @ A on
Independent Non-executive
Directors BYFHiTES
William Fong HER 4/4 2/2 2/2 n/a TNEA 2/2 11
Leung Kar Fai RERE 4/4 2/2 2/2 n/a MER n/a T i@ 11
Cheng Chak Ho HEx 4/4 202 202 22 natER 0
Note 1: Due to other work commitment, Mr. Xu Zi Jing resigned from her position izl BEEMTHEFTE FFHEER T —\F
as an executive Director of the Company on 15 October 2018. TATHEBEERITES:

Any Director may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

During the financial year of 2018, the Board had at all times at least three
independent non-executive directors and at least one of independent
non-executive directors have appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. The Company
has appointed independent non-executive directors representing at least
one-third of the board.
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The Company has arranged for appropriate liability insurance for the
Directors for indemnifying their liabilities arising out of corporate activities.
The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, an annual confirmation of their independency pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

Director’s Continuous Professional Development

Directors are encouraged to participate in continuing professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

During the year, all Executive Directors of the Company namely, Yang Ying
Min, Qian Yi Dong and Zhang Jia Kun received briefings and updates
on the Group’s business, operations, risk management and corporate
governance matters. Materials on new or changes to rules and regulations
applicable to the Group were provided to them. According to the training
records maintained by the Company, Independent Non-executive
Directors namely Wiliam Fong, Leung Kar Fai and Cheng Chak Ho also
attended regulatory update sessions and seminars on relevant topics.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All the non-executive Directors of the Company were appointed for an
initial term of one year and every Director (including those appointed for a
specific term) is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board set up various board committees responsible for various
aspect of business of the Company.

Remuneration Committees

The Remuneration Committee of the Company was established in May
2006. The members of the Remuneration Committee during the financial
year of 2018 are:

Mr. Leung Kar Fai (Chairman)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho

Mr. Qian Yi Dong

Mr. William Fong

The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include setting
remuneration policy of the Group and fixing remuneration packages of the
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws. Details
of the remuneration paid to the respective Directors are set out in note
11 to the financial statements. No Directors can determine their own
remuneration packages. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to discharge its duties. The Remuneration Committee
has adopted terms of reference which are aligned with the Code. The
chairman of the Remuneration Committee will report their findings and
recommendations to the Board for consideration and approval. The
Remuneration Committee will meet at least once a year to discharge its
responsibilities in accordance with its terms of reference.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Remuneration Committee
held two meetings, the work performed included the followings:

a. discussing the policy for the remuneration of the Directors;
b. reviewing remuneration packages of the Directors;

C. making recommendations to the Board on remuneration of the
Non-Executive Directors; and

d. proposed annual remuneration package of newly appointed
Directors to the Board.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, they are as follows:

Mr. William Fong (Chairman)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
Mr. Leung Kar Fai

The Audit Committee will meet no less than twice a year to review all
business affairs managed by the Executive directors and to review
the interim and annual financial statements of the Group before their
submission to the Board for approval and to review the effectiveness
of the financial reporting system, risk management and internal control
systems of the Group. The Audit Committee has adopted terms of
reference which are aligned with the Code. A copy of the terms of
reference of the Audit Committee has been posted on the Company’s
website.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Audit Committee met on
two occasions with the presence of external auditors and discharged its
responsibilities in its review of the interim and annual results. The work
performed by the Audit Committee for the year ended 31 December 2018
included reviews of the following:

a. the directors’ report and the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2017 of the Group, with a
recommendation to the Board for approval;

b. the consolidated financial statements for the six months ended 30
June 2018 of the Group, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval;

C. the audit fees for the year ended 31 December 2018 proposed
by the external auditors, with a recommendation to the Board for
approval;

d. the new accounting policies and practices adopted by the Group;

e. the compliance status of the Group with the applicable regulatory
and other legal requirements;

f. the Group’s investment policy and the adequacy of provision made
for diminution in value for the Group’s assets and investments; and

g. the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.
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Corporate Governance Committee

In order to further strengthen the Company’s corporate governance, the
Company established the Corporate Governance Committees on 12
January 2008:

The members of the Corporate Governance Committee during the
financial year of 2018 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)
Dato Dr. Cheng Chak Ho
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun

The major responsibilities of the Corporate Governance Committee are to
oversee the Company’s corporate governance matters and to ensure that
the Company has complied with the Code. The Corporate Governance
Committee had reviewed the corporate governance report of the
Company and confirmed that the Company had complied with the Code
of the Listing Rules throughout the year except some deviations from the
Code mentioned in the section headed “Corporate Governance Practice”
of this report.

Financial Reporting Committee

The Board, supported by the accounts department, is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements of the Company and the Group.
The Company has also set up a Financial Reporting Committee which
major responsibility is to oversee the preparation of financial statements
of each financial period, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flow for that
year. The Financial Reporting Committee is also responsible to ensure the
compliance by the Group of disclosure requirements under the Listing
Rules in a timely manner.

The members of the Financial Reporting Committee during the financial
year of 2018 are as follows:

Mr. Qian Yi Dong (Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Jia Kun
Mr. William Fong
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During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Financial Reporting
Committee had reviewed the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2017 and the unaudited financial
statements of Group for the six months ended 30 June 2018. They
also confirmed the preparations of the audited and unaudited financial
statements of the Group were in compliance with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Rules.

Nomination Function

The Board is collectively responsible for performing the nomination duties
including:

a. reviewing the structure, size and diversity (including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service) of the Board on
a regular basis (“Board Diversity Policy”);

b. formulating and adjusting the Board Diversity Policy and reviewing
the measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
from time to time;

C. reviewing the candidates’ qualification and competence;

d. assessing the independence of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors; and

e. making decision on appointment of Directors.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy (‘Board Diversity
Policy”) in accordance with the requirement set out in the Code. Such
policy aims to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
Accordingly, all Board appointments shall be based on meritocracy, and
candidates shall be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates
shall be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to, gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The ultimate
decision shall be based on merit and contribution could the selected
candidates could bring to the Board. The Board, from time to time,
oversees the implementation of the policy, and reviews, as appropriate,
the policy to ensure the effectiveness of the policy and continues to give
adequate consideration to these measurable objectives when making
recommendations of candidates for appointment to the Board.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An amount of approximately HK$1,200,000 (2017: HK$1,080,000)
was charged to the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2018 for the auditing services provided by
Elite Partners CPA Limited. There was no non-audit service assignment
provided by Elite Partners CPA Limited during the year (2017: Nil).

SHAREHOLDER’S RIGHTS

Convening a Special General Meeting by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Bye-law 58 of the Company, a special general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any shareholder
holding not less than one-tenth of the issued share capital of the
Company and the securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall make a written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company at
the head office or principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying
the shareholding information of the shareholder, his/her contact details
and the proposal regarding any specified transaction/business and its
supporting documents.
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The Board shall arrange to hold such general meeting within two (2)
months after the receipt of such written requisition. The Company shall
serve requisite notice of the general meeting, including the time, place of
meeting and particulars of resolutions to be considered at the meeting
and the general nature of the business. If within twenty-one (21) days
of the receipt of such written requisition, the Board fails to proceed
to convene such special general meeting, the shareholder shall do so
pursuant to the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act of
Bermuda.

The procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns in writing to the
Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary at the Principal
Place of Business and the Company Secretary shall then forward the
same to the appropriate executives of the Company or members in the
Board for further handling.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary of the Company at the head office or principal place
of business in Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of
the shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/she intends
to put forward at general meeting regarding any specified transaction/
business and its supporting documents.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring that
the Board procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently
and effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the
Board is fully appraised of the relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments relating to the Group and facilitating the
induction and professional development of directors.

During the year under review, the company secretary has attended
relevant professional seminars to update her skills and knowledge. She
met the training requirement set out in Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company follows a policy of disclosing relevant information to
shareholders in a timely manner. The Directors meet and communicate
with shareholders at the AGM of the Company. The Chairman proposes
separate resolutions for each issue to be considered and put each
proposed resolution to the vote by way of a poll. Voting results are posted
on the Company’s website on the day of AGM.

Our corporate website which contains corporate information, corporate
governance practice, interim and annual reports, announcements and
circulars issued by the Company enables the Company’s shareholders to
have timely and updated information of the Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems for the Group to
safeguard investments of the Shareholders and assets of the Group at all
times.

The Board will conduct regular review regarding internal control and
risk management systems of the Group. During the year ended 31
December 2018, the Audit Committee reviewed and discussed with the
Group’s internal audit team and the senior management on the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Company’s internal control systems including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management. The
Audit Committee further made recommendations to the Board to ensure
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable statutory
accounting and reporting requirements, legal and regulatory requirements,
internal rules and procedures approved by the Board, to identify and
manage potential risks of the Group. Besides, the Audit Committee and
the Board will also perform regular review on the Group’s performance
and internal control system in order to ensure effective measures are in
place to protect material assets and identify business risks of the Group.
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In respect of the year ended 31 December 2018, the Board considered
the internal control and risk management system effective and adequate.
No significant areas of concern that might affect shareholders were
identified during the relevant period.

On behalf of the Board

Yang Ying Min
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

RHE—ZE-N\FT_A=+—HLEFEMS "
EEeRA/NMENLRREENETRER
A A BRI R BB AT BE B BR E L B EX

I o

KREFS

EFETE
BRE

B8 —E-NF=A-+N\H

2018 Fii A FBERMBERA A 47



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HRREARE

SCOPE, MATERIALITY, AND REPORTING PERIOD
OF THIS REPORT

Principle and Scope of the Report

This is the annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) of North Mining Shares Company Limited (“‘North Mining”
or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), which
was prepared according to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) in Appendix 27 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Main Board (the “Main Board”)
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report includes the business
operations of the Group in both Hong Kong and China during the
reporting period for the year ended 31 December 2018 (the “Reporting
Period”) relating to the overall performance, risks, strategies, measures
and commitments of four aspects: quality of working environment,
environmental protection, operating practices and community
participation.

During the Reporting Period, the principal activities of the Group are:
(i) mining operations — exploitation, exploration and trading of mineral
resources; and (i) property management operations; (i) chemical trading
operations; and (iv) security technologies operations. These activities
are mainly operated in mainland China. The office in Hong Kong is
primarily responsible for compliance matters in relation to the listing of
the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Therefore, after
conducting tests on materiality, the Group decided to include all of its
principal subsidiaries engaged in the above businesses in mainland China
and the office in Hong Kong in this ESG Report. All the information is
extracted from official documents or statistics reports of the Company.

For details of our corporate governance, please refer to our report on
corporate governance from page 35 to page 47 of this annual report.
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Overall Approaches and Policies

North Mining has been persisting in creating economic benefits,
promoting business development and performing its corporate social
responsibility to strike a balance between all parties, while advocating
corporate integrity in its pursuit of sustainable development. For our
sustainable development, we are committed to:

° Ensuring the compliance with laws, regulations and standards
applicable to our operations in an ethical and transparent manner;
o Maintaining our stable growth to become a leading mining company

with constant and consistent revenue and returns by ensuring
continuous and healthy growth in production capacity and further
expanding the product mix of our mining operations;

° Maintaining a long-term and sustainable relationship by listening to
the voice of the community to understand the social needs;
o Establishing and maintaining open and transparent communications

with local communities and the public on matters regarding safety,
environment and community relationship;

. Protecting the integrity, health, and benefits of stakeholders
on issues such as cooperation and respect for employees,
communities and environment, for the sake of being recognized as
a company with sustainable development.

STAKEHOLDERS’ FEEDBACK

The Group attaches importance to communications with all internal
and external stakeholders to understand their concerns and needs. We
believe that listening carefully to the views of stakeholders will help us
develop an effective and comprehensive corporate social responsibility
policy in an objective way. Therefore, we will communicate with
stakeholders through different channels in our daily operations.

With this report, the Group intends to inform stakeholders of the Group'’s
performance in other aspects in addition to the financial performance
and business operations. Should any stakeholder has any question
or comment regarding the contents of this ESG Report, he or she is
welcome to share his or her valuable comments with the Group in the
following ways:

Address:  Rooms 2009-18, 20/F, Shui On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Tel: (852) 2520 8433

Fax: (852) 2537 4678

Email: info@northmining.com.hk
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ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

North Mining has been committed to protecting the environment, thus a
safety environment management committee has been established and
a designated person has been assigned to monitor safety issues and
impact on environment during the production process of the Company.
During the course of our business, including mining, processing,
production and other processes at mines, as well as daily office back-
up, we adopt relevant prevention and protection measures on air, water,
waste and other aspects to mitigate the impact on natural environment in
view of meeting the implementation standards for environmental impact
assessment.

We ensure the compliance with relevant national regulations and prepare
internal guidelines and codes in accordance with these regulations. Such
regulations, internal guidelines and codes include but not limited to:

° “Letter of Luonan County Environmental Protection Bureau on
Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact Assessment
on the Potassium Feldspar Pilot Project of Shaanxi Daqin
Potassium Industry Limited (BRFA R Z#HE B R A F]) " Luo Huan
Han [2013] No.34

° “Letter on Implementation Standards for Environmental Impact
Assessment on the Mining Project of 1.2 million Tons Per Annum of
Changling Potash Mine of Luonan Dagin Potassium Mining Limited*
(BBMBAETEARAF) "~ Luo Huan Han [2016] No.93

Environment impact of air pollution:

° Environmental air quality shall be subject to the secondary standard
under the “Air Quality in a Specific Environment” (GB3095 — 2012)

° Dust and yard dust shall be subject to the secondary standard and
unorganized emission limits under the “Comprehensive Air Pollutant
Emission Standards” (GB16297-1996)

o “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

o “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

o “Environmental Protection Law of the PRC”

o “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control
of Pollution From Environmental Noise”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on Assessment of
Environmental Impacts”

o “Regulations of Environment Protection in Construction Projects ”

o “Decision of the State Council on Several Issues Concerning
Environmental Protection”

o “Air Pollution Control Ordinance”

o “Energy Conservation Law ”

o “Cleaner Production Promotion Law”

50 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2018

BREBE®RS
ETBE-—ERNRERFE IRILRER
g AEAHARLEBETHNLERRERE
ROTEE -HEXBBET BRENELBER
B REREESTR UKBBERELETE
BABERR K BENFSZHERBAAEND
HREREEERE RESERRENTZE U
EANERRYETERNTRE

BAERTABERAER  WIRRELERR
A ERIE 5l R <F o &0 0E R R A a5l AT Al
BREETRR:

o (BHBRERERENMAARRFELR
AR EAPHEEREYETENTE
R Y — IR IRK[2013]345%

o (BREAEGAZMBAERATREMONE
1208 M,/ FIRE TIRIRBYETENT
IZAER ) — B IR K[2016]9355%

&

A

ERIRIER

e RBRETRIT(RRETREEEZE)
(GB3095-2012) — 1= %4

WEE - EHBENTT (KRSEWERA FER
E) (GB16297-1996)F — M IZHF 4
BB MR E

o (hEAREAFMBERBRER)

o (TRISLEHIEH)

o (hEARAMERBRESL)

o (REARKEMBIRERESLEEE)

AN\Y
1

\_{

o (PEARHKNMBREZENELR)

o  (EREBRBEREEEEN)
o (EBERERRERES THBERRE)

o (ERIFRE DGO
o (ERHIBEIROR)
o (RREERER)



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RR dE8REREHE

Waste Treatment:

. “Waste Disposal Ordinance”

° “Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes”

Coal-fired boiler exhaust gas:
° Subject to the Period Il Standards of Second Zone under the
“Emission Standards of Air Pollutants for Boilers” (GB13271-2001)

Cooking fume:
o Subject to relevant standards under the “Emission Standard of
Cooking Fume” (GB18483-2001)

According to the aforesaid regulations, the Group has formulated
“Management Standards — Control Standards of Environmental
Factors” to provide precise content and requirements of environmental
management for aspects including “design and development of
products”, “manufacturing, packaging and transportation of products”,
“waste management” and “obtaining of raw materials and natural
resources”.

During the Reporting Period, no violation of environmental laws and
regulations regarding emission of exhaust air and greenhouse gas,
discharge into water and land, as well as hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes that had significant impact on the Group was found. The Group
also confirmed that it was not subject to governmental penalties due to
any violation of aforesaid laws and regulations in the course of business
during the Reporting Period.

Emission

In consideration of inevitable and negative impact of our mining activities
on the ecological structure of land, the Group implements a number
of measures to closely monitor various processes. Environmental
protection and rehabilitation at mines of the Group are in compliance
with the “EIA Report” and the “Soil and Water Conservation Plan”. By
starting the planning and design according to the internal regulations on
“Mine Design”, we carry out appropriate planning for mining processes
with reference to the land, climate, air quality and other environmental
conditions at mining areas. In accordance with the design requirements
and the protection design for open mining areas, our employees are
required to commence work to minimize the impact of production and
work on environment.
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The Group continues to reinforce environmental management on the basis
of meeting the regulated emission standard of manufacturing enterprises
and committing to designing, constructing and operating the plant and
relevant environment protection facilities at the same time, and also strives
to build a long-term effective mechanism for energy conservation and
emission reduction, so as to achieve the goal of sustainable development.
The ISO14001 environmental management system of the Group passed
the annual review and verification of the certification authority during the
Reporting Period, which assured the validity of certification.

To further enhance the environmental management of our mines, in
addition to regular inspections by the local government on water quality,
air quality and noise of our mines, we will appoint intermediaries to check
our mining and production activities for the purpose of improving our
environmental protection measures according to their recommendations.

Air Pollution - emission of exhaust air, greenhouse
gas and dust

In order to prevent environmental destruction, the Group has unified
processes in disposing tailings and waste rocks for the construction of
slag-stacking dams. Besides managing wastes disposal at production
sites, we have also adopted measures in reducing wastes. As potassium
feldspar ores are large in size and evenly stratified, we adopt the mine
blasting technique to control the distribution of shot holes and the use of
explosives to improve mining efficiency and ore recovery. We achieve the
goal of no emission, discharge and disposal of “three wastes” (i.e. waste
water, waste gas and solid waste) by recycling and reuse.

In respect of the emission control of chemical trading operations,
Anhui Tongxi has formulated and implemented relevant environmental
management procedures in accordance with laws and regulations,
including “Environmental Protection Law of People’s Republic of China”,
“Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Environmental Pollution from Solid Wastes” as well as “Energy
Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China”, ensuring the
emission generated during course of the business (including chemical
production, storage, transportation and sales etc.) would not exceed the
national limit.

The Group treats the incurring exhaust gas with lye sprinkling to reduce

substances such as sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide, and dries the
sludge to reduce water content and sludge volume.
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment

For general office waste, including electronic products, the Group has
formulated a guideline for waste classification, recycling and disposal, with
the waste delivered to qualified professional waste recycling companies
for centralized processing.

The Group carries out the principles of segregated management and
centralized treatment of hazardous waste to achieve the goals of
reduction, recycling and biosafety, establishes a sound hazardous waste
management system, takes measures to prevent hazardous waste from
polluting the environment, conducts separate collection and storage of
hazardous waste and designates relevant marks, and regularly delivers
the collected hazardous waste to qualified unit for treatment according to
environmental protection regulations to avoid environmental pollution.

Wastewater Treatment

Anhui Tongxi has obtained the “pollutant discharge permit” issued by the
local environmental protection bureau, all discharged wastewater has
been processed by sewage treatment equipment, which is in compliance
with the standard for pollutant emission of China. Anhui Tongxi proactively
facilitates the implementation of water-saving projects including “reusing
of steam condensation” as well as the nearby recycling of wastewater
from work processes, and continues to optimize the reuse rate of such
wastewater and reduces the consumption of new water in the principles
of “source reduction, process control and end treatment”. In addition,
Anhui Tongxi builds wastewater station to guarantee the qualified
discharge of wastewater.
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Emission Data Summary : RSB ERE:
Unit Quantity

Types of emission B EE By HE
Greenhouse gas emission BEREEHER
— Scope 1 - Direct emission — ®E—- -—EHEEHW Kiloaram

e Fuel consumption o MAELERE 9 N/A 75

. o e o T
— Scope 2 - Indirect emission — ®E= BN o
" ) Y (carbon dioxide

e Electricity consumption s BIERE squivalent) 54,814,513

- Scope 3 - Other indirect emission — HE= —HmEEYK ( *q%ﬂ:ﬁ)*““g)
e — X E =

e Paper consumption o HSRIEFE * 3,100

e Water consumption o JBEFE 281,901
Exhaust gas emission [EE R HE AR
- Nitrogen oxide - RE‘m gram N/A 73
- Sulphur dioxide — Z&tH = 7,205
- Particulates — FERY) N/A i A
Waste water 757K tonne 75,400

g
Waste EEEY
. tonne

—  Hazardous waste — BEEEY . 775
- Non-hazardous waste — EEEEY h 78
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Disclosures of the key performance indicators (the “KPI”) of the Group in
Aspect A1 of the ESG Guidelines are summarized as follows:

KPI A1.1

KPI'A1.2

KPI A1.3

KPI A1.4

KPI'A1.5

KPI A1.6

Types of emissions and emission data (if applicable) are
set forth in the data summary above.

Total emission of greenhouse gases is set forth in the
above paragraphs. Greenhouse gases generated in the
course of daily operations do not exceed the highest
levels permitted by relevant laws. For Scope 1 of
greenhouse gas emission, the Group does not record
and compile comprehensive emission data on direct
emission from operating machineries in the course
of business. In addition, the Group does not capture
the exact trip records of motor vehicles, thus cannot
calculate emission of nitrogen oxide and particulates.

Total hazardous waste is set forth in the data summary
above.

Total non-hazardous waste is set forth in the data
summary above.

Measures to reduce emissions and results achieved can
be referred to the above paragraphs.

Methods of treating waste and measures to reduce
emissions are set forth in the paragraph headed
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Waste Treatment
above.
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Use of Resources

Effective resources utilization is our aim. We minimize losses during our
production process and make full use of resources by recycling and
reuse. During the crushing process, we break the rocks into a suitable
size to reduce losses. We will also reselect from the slag to fully use the
resources.

Besides environmental management on our mines and chemicals, we also
implement a number of measures to save energy and reduce emissions at
the office. The use of all office equipment is subject to the rules of “turning
equipment on when needed, keeping equipment on standby mode when
idled, and turning equipment off when leaving the office”. Certain specific
measures include:

° Control lighting equipment by a timer based on summer and winter
time;

° Stipulate operating regulations on electric appliances in the office,
for example, turning off lights in the office during noon break;

° Switch off the power supply of all electrical equipment after work
and purchase energy-saving and environment-friendly products;

° Strictly prohibit employees from wasting water by regulating water
consumption with the principle of water conservation;

° Use recyclable teacups and hot water as much as possible and
reduce disposable bottled drinking water for meetings and group

activities;

° Post slogans like “saving water” in corridors and washrooms of the
office for raising the awareness of energy conservation;

° Create a paperless office by encouraging the use of e-mails and

other electronic documents, and require internal documents to be
printed on both sides, as well as recycle waste paper.

Moreover, all production plants should comply with, and be approved
by, the energy management system to further strengthen energy
management. As such, the Group has further strengthened the control
over the energy-consumption index of main working procedures
to complete the energy efficiency monitoring work on key energy-
consuming equipment and facilities. In addition, each unit has established
a comprehensive control index to perfect the energy index assessment
and the energy efficiency benchmarking system. The Group encourages
its production plants to continuously increase the use of clean energy to
facilitate the establishment of a sufficient, safe and clean energy supply
system. The Group reviews its internal policies on environment protection
from time to time and evaluates practicable environment protection
factors in daily operations for the sake of improving the utilization rate of
resources.
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Resource Consumption Data Summary: HRHEEERE:
Unit Quantity
Type of resource consumption EREEESR By HE
Water 7K tonne 402,716
i
Electricity ESW] kilowatt hour 69,385,459
FREF
Fuel (including petroleum and gasoline) WoE (BIEAH&Rm) litre 490,122
— motor vehicle, vessel and other transportation — MR EAMER T NF
vehicle
Fuel (including petroleum and gasoline) PR (RIEA & h) litre 74,147
- equipment and machinery —E e es N
Paper R tonne 0.65
Mg
Package materials (plastic) BEYR (B tonne 0.22
7
Package materials (Corrugated) BEYE (R5) tonne 512
148

Disclosures of the KPIs of the Group in Aspect A2 of the ESG Guidelines

are summarized as follows:

FL 7555 B B BAESGIE 5| A2/ [ HY BE 82 48 U35

R BEE WA T

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type and
intensity is set forth in the data summary above.

KPI A2.2 Total water consumption is set forth in the data summary
above.

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives is set forth in
the paragraph above.

KPI A2.4 The Group does not have any problem in acquiring
appropriate water sources, and believes that our water
consumption is at a reasonable level. Water efficiency
initiatives are set forth in the paragraph above.

KPI A2.5 Types and data of packaging materials are set forth in the

data summary above.
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ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

In view of mitigating the impact on the environment and natural resources
caused by the Company, we have strictly followed the Implementation
Standard for Environmental Impact Assessment in running our production
and business activities via building slag fields to lessen dust pollution,
and implemented recyclable production and reused wastewater to lessen
water pollution.

Besides reducing the impact of our work on the land ecology, we are also
actively engaged in greening and reclamation. Vegetation restoration is
indispensable in the construction of mining area. To prevent unnecessary
vegetation removal, we clearly demarcate the vegetation area to be
removed. Since our mine construction is at the primary stage only, it is
unsuitable for any meaningful greening project. However, we will design
our greening projects in detail based on the guidelines set out in “EIA
Report” and “Soil and Water Conservation Plan” and also the construction
progress of mines. Upon completion of production at the mining area,
we will gradually restore the ecological environment by carrying out
environmental protection and restoration management as planned.

Furthermore, the Group proactively enhances staff's awareness of
environmental protection to implement the concept of sustainable
development. As such, the Group continues to reinforce the propaganda
and education on energy conservation and consumption reduction,
actively conducts environmental protection trainings and routine
emergency drills and steps up the efforts in the publicizing and
implementation of the new “Environmental Protection Law” and relevant
systems by organizing expert lectures, and setting up environmental
protection column, etc., thereby striving to enhancing the legal sense and
awareness of environmental protection of workers and members of the
management team.

The Group proactively guides its departments to realize the concept
of green office and advocates to save resources and energy, reduce
pollutant emissions, use and recycle renewable products, and also
upholds the idea of people first and harmonious office, thus taking the
lead to create a green and comfortable office environment for its staff. The
Group advocates the planting of green plants in the office to purify air and
reduce air pollution. The Group implements a comprehensive enterprise
environmental protection system by assigning dedicated personnel
for environmental protection. In addition, environmental protection
responsibility statements are signed by all levels of management to
achieve the goals of “dedicated personnel, delegated responsibilities,
assigned tasks and stipulated rewards and punishment” and to make
environmental protection management cover all operation posts and all
staff.
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Disclosures of the KPIs of the Group in Aspect A3 of the ESG Guidelines

are summarized as follows:

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impact of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them are set forth in the paragraph
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SOCIAL ISSUES REPORT HEEERE
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICE ERERZEIEH
EMPLOYMENT =4
Employment Data Summary : EFHERE:

Unit Quantity
Employee statistics EE#HK By HE
Total number of employees BT Person 688

A
By gender 1R

. Percentage

- Male -5 Bt 83.9
- Female — 2k 7 16.1
By employment nature REBITE
— Full-time permanent staff —2BEHET Percentage 60.9
— Full-time contract staff —2BANET ADL 39.0
— Temporary/part-time staff — BB T 0.1
By rank . Percentage
- Management executives —THREEAR =k ¢ 16.7
— Other staff —EMET 7 83.3
New employee FEBET

Person
— Male -5 X 27
— Female — 2k 6
E ::‘\ I:Zi

mployee turnover BTk Person

- Male -5t X 10
- Female — 2k 3
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Employment, Remuneration and Benefit Policy

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had 688 employees. The Group
is committed to providing a good and safe working environment for its
employees. On the basis of the “Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, “Employment Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China”,
“Labor Standards Act” and industry practice, we have formulated
relevant employment and labour practices, covering recruitment and
dismissal, remuneration and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunities, diversity, other packages, and benefits policies
and guidelines, to ensure all of our employees are treated equally. All
employees have access to detailed policies and provisions in this regard
which clarify their rights and responsibilities.

To attract and retain employees, the Group has developed a competitive
remuneration and benefits system, including basic remuneration,
employee benefits and interests such as mandatory provident fund,
insurance, annual leave, sick leave, various allowances and severance
payment. We also arrange shift leave or compensation leave for staff
who work overtime according to their work nature, and pay remuneration
to employees who work overtime reasonably. The Group also offers
additional remuneration and benefits, such as employee assessment
bonuses, with reference to factors including employee performance,
financial performance and market conditions. For long service staff, we
will provide length of service awards to thank for their contribution to the
Company over the years.

Based on the nature of our business, there will be more outsourced
construction workers and equipment installation personnel during the
construction of our mines. For external personnel, the Company will pay
contractual payment by installments. If they are not paid on time, we will
urge the relevant party to make the payment first, failing which, we will pay
them out of the total project payment after negotiation with the other two
parties.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity Policy

The Group has a fair recruitment and promotion system. The evaluation
for recruitment or promotion and the determination of remuneration
and benefits are based on individuals’ scope of work, qualifications,
work performance, company performance and market conditions. In
guaranteeing equal opportunities for our employees, no employee is
discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due to gender, race,
religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any other cause.
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Dismissal Policy

Regarding policies for dismissing employees, should an employee commit
serious misconduct and show no improvement after repeated warnings,
the supervisor and senior management of the Company should conduct a
comprehensive internal discussion. Before being dismissed, an employee
should be allowed to respond and explain. Reasons for dismissal should
be clearly presented to the employee, and the dismissal procedure must
be made in accordance with relevant laws and regulations.

Employee Communication

We advocate open communication and encourage employees of different
positions and posts to express their views through different channels,
including communicating with the management directly or through
corporate activities. In order to understand our development history and
vision, and the realization of our own value, propaganda for corporate
culture will be organized upon the entry of staff. We also organize festive
meals, leisure trips and other activities to recognize their hard work,
alleviate the fatigue from work and enhance team cohesion.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to employment that had significant impact on
the Group.

Health and Safety
Safety First

The ore mining business involves dangerous processes to a certain
extent. In view of this, the Group attaches top priority to providing
employees with a safe working environment. In order to achieve the
goal of safe operation, we have developed comprehensive work
health and safety guidelines, including “safety training system”, “safety
regular meeting system”, “safety inspection system” and “safety hazard
investigation system”, with reference to industry practice and regulatory
requirements, and have strictly supervised and implemented the same.
A safety committee has been set up to deal with and respond to safety
issues and emergencies. The safety committee will conduct safety
inspection of the working environment on a regular basis (including a
semi-annual safety assessment) and formulate safety guidelines according

to the “Safety Assessment Report” prepared by them.
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The environment of mines usually involves higher risks. As such, we put
great emphasis on employees’ occupational health and safety awareness.
We enhance safety education and provide relevant safety training and
knowledge for employees, including equipping with fire prevention
equipment, watching videos about fire prevention, first aid and electrical
safety. We arrange a 3-day safety training for safety management staff bi-
annually under the organisation of the government. Training contents are
prepared uniformly by safety supervision units at municipal level according
to relevant requirements of national laws and regulations. Upon the
completion of training, a related examination will be held. Such training will
also enhance the entire safety management system significantly.

In addition, the Company requires the provision of relevant qualification
certificates for specific operations and equipment, such as qualification
certificates for specific electricians, specific equipment operation permits
for loader drivers and excavator drivers.

Physical and Mental Health

We also organize a variety of activities for our employees to enhance
the interaction between them, promote employees’ physical and mental
development, maintain work-life balance and strengthen their sense of
belonging.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no major safety incident and
work-related injury. Also, the Group was not involved in any breach of
laws and regulations relating to safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards that had significant impact on the
Group.

Development and Training

Training statistics:
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Unit Quantity
B BE

Total number of employees receiving training SHEEFIE TR Person 556
A

Proportion of employees receiving training to SR8 T8 TS Percentage 81.0

total number of employees Bt

Total training hours #5588 hour 20,318
aN

Average training hours 91T 2L hour 36.5
aNsi
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We are convinced that employee development is critical to the sustainable
development of our business. The Group continues to promote the culture
of learning and encourages employees to actively equip themselves with
knowledge. We provide our staff with professional knowledge through
various trainings and development programs to improve their quality
and skills and facilitate their development. All new recruits will be offered
induction trainings to become familiar with the Company’s culture,
business and operation.

The Group determines the remuneration and benefits of employees
with reference to their job appraisal based on the nature of their work,
qualifications, work performance and market conditions. We encourage
internal promotion and provide a fair promotion platform, adequate on-
the job and professional training as well as promotion opportunities for
employees. The Group attaches importance to the views of employees
and encourages them to discuss their promotion and the objective of
career development with the management. Training and development
plans include but not limited to:

o Safety training on mine operations

o Professional knowledge of mining and other aspects
o Seminars/guidelines on relevant regulations
o Knowledge relating to listing rules and corporate governance

Labour Standard

The Group strictly complies with the “Employment Ordinance” of Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong and the “Regulation on Labour Security
Supervision” of the State Council of the People’s Republic of China. All
recruitment procedures and promotions are strictly supervised by the
Group’s human resources management system. Due to its capacity as
an ore mining and processing enterprise and given the nature of our
work, the Group has more male staff. However, the Group has no specific
gender requirement on staff in our recruitment.

The Group has strict rules on the conduct of all our employees, including
directors and management, to protect employees from any form of
harassment and bullying and ensure employees are treated equally. We
are committed to protecting human rights, prohibiting the employment of
forced labour and child labour in business operation, and ensuring that all
employees are not discriminated against or deprived of any benefit due
to gender, race, religion, age, marriage and family status, disability or any
other cause.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no child labour and forced
labour, and no incident of discrimination due to race, religion, age and
disability was reported.
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OPERATING PRACTICE
Supply Chain Management
Procurement Policy

The Group values integrity and holds the same ethical standards
for suppliers and partners. We have a stringent “Company Contract
Management System” to regulate all procurement activities. We mainly
take costs, product quality and track record into consideration in the
selection of suppliers, and only those with good business record and
without serious violation of regulations or business ethics will be selected.
The provision of products and services by suppliers are all made in
accordance with our stringent procurement tender procedures and are in
line with our requirements. Suppliers are strictly prohibited from obtaining
supply contracts through any form of interest transfer.

The Group will grant the supplier fair and reasonable conditions when
purchasing goods from the supplier and will not exploit the supplier in any
way. Meanwhile, the Group will evaluate the products provided by the
supplier, check whether the supplier has fulfilled the product liability and
report relevant information in time to ensure that its products meet the
requirements of the Group, or replace the supplier when necessary.

Communication with Supplier

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not replace any major
supplier. The Group endeavours to maintain a long-lasting and favourable
relationship with major suppliers and to enhance mutual communication
and understanding, so as to bring about stable supply and costs of raw
materials for the Group to a certain extent.

Product Responsibility
Focused on Quality Understanding the Customers

We perform extremely stringent quality control on our products and
services to ensure the products meet the specifications and requirements
of our customers. We will also be actively aware of the needs of our
customers via on-site sales and marketing activities; customers will also
be invited to visit our Company for the promotion of our products and
philosophy. We will review the service process with reference to customer
feedback. If a customer complains and requests for compensation, the
Group will promptly deal with the case and investigate the complaint
from customer. We will also undertake follow-up procedures, thorough
investigations and review to optimize our customer service.

During the Reporting Period, the Group received no significant complaint

or claim related to the quality of the Group’s products from our
customers.
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Protection of Privacy and Intellectual Property

We respect the privacy and intellectual property of our customers and
operate in compliance with relevant requirements under the “Intellectual
Property and Patent Law”. We require employees to properly handle
customers’ business sensitive information and will not resell for profit to
prevent our customers from making losses.

We also strive to protect our own intellectual property. The Group
commenced product research and development on human face
recognition technology, intellectual image analytical technology and
application during the Reporting Period. Therefore, relevant subsidiaries
have strictly observed the internal guideline to require their staff to handle
the information of related technology properly and prohibit any individual
(such as staff, clients and business partners) who is accessible to those
information be benefited from transferring or selling the same.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no incident of violation of
intellectual property in its products, technologies, and the daily business
operation.

Advertising and Labelling

To attract customer and improve sales, we will carry out marketing and
promotional campaigns for our products. These campaigns comply
with the “Advertisement Law of the People’s Republic of China”, the
“Interim Measures for the Administration of Internet Advertisement” and
other applicable laws and regulations governing advertising and labelling
enacted by relevant government authorities. We stand by the principle of
law-abiding to operate our production and business activities.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all of the relevant
laws and regulations in relation to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters of our products and services that had significant
impact on the Group.

Anti-corruption

The Group has always maintained a “good faith” business, striving for
a clean working atmosphere and requiring directors and all employees
to strictly comply with the relevant legal norms and ethical standards.
We have formulated and strictly implemented a series of anti-corruption
measures according to the “Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of
China”, the “Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of
China” and other national laws and regulations. The Group has an internal
audit team and an audit committee and also appoints external lawyers
and auditors to comply with the corporate governance and disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for listed companies. We
will regularly review the internal governance mechanism to improve our
governance standard.

RELEBRABERE

BREEXFPLERAEMER KB (HEER
BRI HERTEE BEEPNAXHEE
R ERBTITZERE T2BEEN
AR REANBETLENERX -

BPRIBHREE FHOMBERE -AEBRRE
HRIF I W I A BRI DA B B BE R R DT
il X% & PR 2 7t 55 I EE dm B 3% o B - AR AP B
REBMITARES BERETIREREEMX
SERMHER EREE A EBELEERNA
T (MBI FEFREBEHSF) BEIHERH
RATEREF

BEHM AEEEER BT UREBBRE
SEPARBBEFARLANBEENEF-

EERER

BRI EFPRIEFHE RS EERSERETT
BHEBRTHF ELLHEETFEHNE (FE
ARAMBESZR) (EMEESERGITH
) REMBRAEHEEGREENERERE
B BMAZETELERE ETTEELE RS -

BEHR AKRECETHERRARERERM
REmEmaARE EBE SHELLREE A
HARBERERTENERESR -

k&S

AEE-—ERFIBEIRLE BHEEREN
TERE EREZENAA R TEBETHERZE
RRBAEBER - L ARR (PEARANE
R ~KhEARKMBEREEE) ERFOER
ER DA — RV RESE IR G E AL BB AT
AEBRBEANGEFALERZE S LBEHFIH
BRREN N BEADATT A B R AT LT AR B R
ERRBEEER BMESEHRIABEEH
B SR MNEAKFE-

2018 F i A FWMERDBRAE 65



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B HBREARE

For the day-to-day business operations, the Group will not allow any
corruption and fraud. All relevant provisions on anti-corruption, anti-
bribery and conflicts of interest have been set out in the Code of Conduct
for Employees to ensure that employees are in strict compliance with the
law at work. The Group provides employees with information on anti-
corruption regularly to enhance their awareness of corruption and develop
good professional conduct.

The board of directors plays a vital role in anti-corruption and can
challenge all the operation and management activities of the Group. In the
financial aspect, the directors are under absolute supervision to prevent
irregularities of all kinds. By virtue of the authority vested by the board
of directors, the management is committed to preventing corruption in
accordance with the corporate process.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

If any corruption or fraud is found, it may be reported by any person
through our open internal mailbox. We will conduct investigation promptly
and report the same to the management and relevant law enforcement
departments.

During the Reporting Period, we did not notice any issue in breach of laws
against corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that
had significant impact on the Group. In addition, the Group did not notice
any significant risk and problem.

COMMUNITY
Community Investment

The Group attaches importance to building a harmonious corporate and
community relationship with its communities through active participation
in activities of its communities. We discuss with the community’s key
persons from time to time to understand local community’s perception of
our corporate. We will integrate the views from community stakeholders
into our daily operation with a view to getting on harmonious with the
community.

The Group is actively considering to promote corporate social
responsibilities within the enterprise, organize or participate in appropriate
community activities, thus enabling our employees to make personal
contribution to the community and enhance their community awareness.
We hope to support targeted poverty alleviation objects through different
activities, so as to improve the living, learning and working environment of
our community.
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INDEX OF “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE” BY THE STOCK

AR E

EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED

ERBMEXZMARLNE (RE g
RERHEES) Rl

Subject Areas Contents Chapter of
This Report

TEHK AEN P EEE
A. ENVIRONMENTAL

B
A1 EMISSIONS

B
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Environment —

regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to air Emission

— R

A2 USE OF
RESOURCES
EREM

General Disclosure

— R

A3 THE
ENVIRONMENT
AND NATURAL
RESOURCES
BRERRRER

General Disclosure

—RIE

and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

EMERLEE AR AR LIMHES AEREERE
W 2 T T T BT A EA B M ARRD A R IR0
B o

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BERERER (BREER KREAMRME) B

Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

BIEBETABRBERRABERERNBEAFZ ENEK

RIR-BERY

Environment — Use
of Resources

RR-BREM

Environment —
Environment and
Natural Resources

BRR-RERRAER

2018 Fii A FBERMBERA A 67



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - HERERRS

Subject Areas Contents Chapter of
This Report
TEHR AEN A ETE
B. SOCIAL
e

Employment and Labour Practices

EBRETER

B1 EMPLOYMENT

ER&

General Disclosure

—RIRE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, holidays, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

ERHFMR@EE BEREN TESH RY FTEKE ZT
£ RIBGAREMFBREMNOERER: REBTHETABEKR
FENRRERRRIINES -

B2 HEALTH AND SAFETY

BERAZE

General Disclosure

—RIE

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.

ERRHZE2THERERREREBEERBELLENEE  JE
THETABEAZENHEMERRADNER -

B3 DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

R R

General Disclosure

— MR

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work; and description of training activities.

BRRTEERET TEREOME R BEBEMBER  RIEREIIE
o
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RE - HERERRSE
Contents

Subject Areas

FTEHR AE

Chapter of
This Report
AREEEH

B4 LABOUR STANDARDS
% T XA

General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to

preventing child and forced labour

— R BREADIFE T8 THESR: RETHRTABEATEN

HEER LR PINER -

Operating Practices

EEIED

B5 SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT
s E =

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply

chain.

—MRIRER IR IRIE At g B BUR
B6 PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

EmEE
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to
health and safety, advertising, labelling, privacy and remedy relating
to products and services provided.
— MR R BHEMRHEERNMBREHREERLZE BEE BHELAMEZEEN
RARIENBER  LEFHETABERZENEMEELR
Pl & H o
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Subject Areas Contents Chapter of
This Report
TEHR AEN A ETE

B7 ANTI-CORRUPTION

RES
General Disclosure Information on the policies and compliance with relevant laws and Operating Practice —
regulations that have significant impact on the issuer relating to Anti-corruption
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
—MRARER BRI IEHE PR PEFOARENEE RETHETARE Z2EBI-RESR
AT ENBBER LR PINER -
Community
B8 COMMUNITY INVESTMENT
HERE
General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the Community —
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities  Community
take into consideration the communities’ interests.
—MRIRER FALMRSERTHREEMEHRFENBRREEKEDEE HE-HERE

LR R 2 R B
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elite
s partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

To the members of
North Mining Shares Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of North Mining
Shares Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 79 to 200, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes
1o the consolidated financial statements including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

As described in note 1.3 to the consolidated financial statements,
which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$570,779,000 for the year ended 31 December 2018 and, as of
that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately HK$209,888,000. These conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Qur responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
“Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfiled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018. These matters
were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit
matters to be communicated in our report.
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Key audit matter

HEERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

LB 2 BN AR RZER

Impairment assessment of mining rights

RIEEZ B E T

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had mining rights of
approximately HK$3,296.3 million belongs to the Group’s
cash generating unit of mining operation (‘CGUs”).
RZE-—NF+ZA=+—H EBEEEBEZHERED
3,296,300,000/ 8 T VER EEXEZRKBEEHR REELSE
i (REEAESBAM]) -

For the year ended 31 December 2018, no impairment loss
had been recognised for mining rights, details of which are
set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

RBEZZ-\F+_A=+—BIFE BERFEER
BRZBEBE BRFBEINSENEE M BHREZWMT
18 ¢

We had identified the impairment assessment of goodwill,
intangible assets, mining rights and property, plant and
equipment relating to the CGUs as a key audit matter because
of its materiality to the consolidated financial statements and
the high level of management'’s judgement involved.
HRERAZEReELEMUNEE BRVEE KERERY
¥ BMERRBZAEMEGAVEREBEER MA
BEREZEREHE SR REENE KRR EREZ
ENER

Our audit procedures to address the impairment assessment
of intangible assets, mining rights and property, plant and
equipment included the following:
TEZEMRREE BEEE WEERME BEEZE
ZRER A FEEREFEEAT:

° We assessed the management’s identification of the
CGUs based on our understanding of the Group’s
operation.

o  HERAREMY EEEEBKNTR FEEEERY
ZEReEEEM ZH -

° We assessed the competency, independence and
objectivity of the independent external valuer taking into
account of their experiences and qualifications;

. B SN EAN 2B D B RBEB R E
BRMNE R&HE

° We assessed the cash flow forecast prepared by
the management, as assisted by the independent
external valuer, in determining the CGUs (“Forecasts”)
and discussed with them to evaluate the valuation
methodologies used and tested the main assumptions
applied (including the expected future cash flows and
discount rates, where appropriate) against historical
trends and market data;

. THERERANECZEREESEN  AEIINE
HEMBE TEFNRSRETEA ([FR]) - BER
BamARANmERTE HEBEBE RMHE
BASERz TE2RE (BREAATEFARERSRSE
AR E R RS ER)

° We checked the mathematical accuracy for the

calculation of the recoverable amount of the CGUs.
. EHFTEZSReESR BN B SR 5T ERE -
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Key audit matter

HEERER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

R 2 BRI AERZER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and long-term receivables

FEW AR R RAEW 5 2 BB T 1L

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has long-term
receivables of approximately HK$466,664,000 and trade
receivable of approximately HK$23,435,000.
RZT-—N+ZA=+—RH " BXEEZRBEKIAED
466,664,000/ JT K2 & 48 Bk 3K 723,435,000/ 7T

The collectability of trade and other receivables is a key
element of the Group’s working capital management, which
is managed on an ongoing basis by management. The
determination as to whether trade and other receivables are
collectable involves management judgement and estimates.
As such, we determined that this is a key audit matter.
FEUEREFREMERR Z AT EXBELESNE
ZHERED BREDNERBELALETEHEE -BTE
L BR 30 K EL At FEURR 5 8 P MBI B 18 I VB R A & o
Eitt EE5E U REARETFE-

Management considered the age of the outstanding
balances, existence of disputes, recent historical payment
patterns and any other available information concerning the
creditworthiness of customers. Management incorporated
this information together with the default rate of the industry
and forward looking growth rate to determine the provision of
expected credit losses on trade and other receivables.
EREDEREREELAHR KR ROFEMY SOHB
ENFREXAREMECEEES,EENRIRER - EEE
HZEERBITEEN R LA REBES UETERE
e BR 3 e Eof JE WK Y TR BR{E B S 18 5 s

The significant accounting judgements and estimates and
disclosures related to trade and other receivables are included
in Note 20, 24 and 25 to the financial statements.

B A PR MAR R I Aty FE MU 2 B K & 5 T B Ak 51 DA R 452 B
BRI KM EE20 ~ 24 %25 -

Our audit procedures included, but are not limited to the
following procedures:
EECETIRFBIEETRIRUATIES

° We assessed the Group’s processes relating to the
monitoring of trade and other receivables and reviewed
the ageing of receivables to identify collection risks.

. FETE BEREREEWIRTRH M EKREEE B
B T FE B A A R LSRR T R e DA T SE AR L Bz o

° We requested trade and other receivable confirmations,
reviewed management’s reconciliation of confirmation
replies, where applicable, and obtained evidence
of receipts from selected customers subsequent to
financial year end.

. FEDERBUWIHRA R EMEYRER B BEE
HHADBEBNYER (NER) WAV EEEEREZE
FEERE ORGSR -

° We assessed management’s assumptions used in
assessing the allowance for doubtful debts amount
through review of specific debtors’ payment history
and management’s assessment of credit risk of these
debtors.

. EEDABRNBEEBANERELREREHZ
EEBANEERRT G THERETERERE
PR RAR

° We also reviewed and assessed management’s
expected credit loss model assessment and assessed
the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures of trade and
other receivables and the related credit risk in the
financial statements

. EENERTEKTEEEENTEREEBBERTMG
A ET A B SR [ S R 2 R P AR R At B R
RAAEERBOEELSLTRE
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Other information included in the annual report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged
with Governance for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors of the Company determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors of the Company.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 2B

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matter in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Siu Jimmy with practising certificate number P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2019

10/F., 8 Observatory Road,
Tsimshatsui, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mEBEmRkHEMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—F

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 FHET FAET

Revenue g 5(a) 967,071 468,601
Cost of sales $HE A (893,075) (362,506)
Gross profit EF 73,996 106,095
Other income E A 5(b) 14,293 4,672
Research and development cost B AL A (24,542) -
Impairment of financial assets, net M EEREBEFE 6 (46,046) -
Other gains and losses H b Uz M g5 18 7 (211,152) (88,435)
Administrative expenses TTHE W (137,825) (95,489)
Loss from operations REER (331,276) (73,157)
Finance costs Bl & AR 9 (276,722) (121,366)
Loss before income tax BRATBHATER 10 (607,998) (194,523)
Taxation I8 13 37,219 13,317
Loss for the year REEEE (570,779) (181,206)

Attributable to: FEAL:

Owners of the Company ZIN/NEEZZE DN (484,008) (145,774)
Non-controlling interests e R (86,771) (35,432)
(570,779) (181,206)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
mEBEmRkHMEEKER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E 4
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FET FHET
Loss for the year KEEEE (570,779) (181,206)
Other comprehensive loss Hih2HEER (HRBIETE) !
(Net of tax effect):
Items that are or may be reclassified R{F 1 2 %7 75 #8 5t 7] 5
subsequently to profit or 10ss: B R Em s EE
Exchange differences arising from BREBINNBRRAIEEY
translation of foreign subsidiaries ] (136,672) (62,845)
Other comprehensive loss for the year AFEEHME2EER (136,672) (62,845)
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEEEXAFREAE (707,751) (244,051)
Attributable to: BEfh:
Owners of the Company KRARHEE A (601,612) (226,980)
Non-controlling interests IR = (106,139) (17,071)
(707,751) (044,051)
Loss per share BREE
- Basic, HK cents —ZA B 15(a) (2.25) (0.68)
— Diluted, HK cents —#5E B 15(b) (2.25) (0.68)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI EREK

As at 31 December 2018 R=F—F+=-A=+—H

31 December

31 December

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
+=ZA=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
{hg=3 FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W WE k& 16 894,155 977,120
Prepaid lease payments TENEENRIA 17 63,076 72,974
Mining rights iR 18 3,296,318 3,402,590
Gooduwill B 19 56,192 69,131
Investment deposits KEES 20 - 600,000
Intangible assets mEEE 21 337,625 454,787
Finance lease receivables Bl EERE 22 3,706 5,077
Long-term receivable KB e kIR 20 466,664 -
5,117,736 5,581,679
Current Assets REBEE
Finance lease receivables Bl EERE 22 1,091 1,314
Inventories 5E 23 520,772 472,640
Trade and bill receivables EUWER R EE 24 23,435 66,660
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables T8 FUIE ~ 17 & K E b & U 50 20 & 25 586,765 252,408
Tax recoverables Al Y (O F IR 1,998 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMEeEEY 26 122,533 162,317
1,256,594 955,339
Total Assets EEHAE 6,374,330 6,537,018
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#EE
Share capital % 7 27 343,926 343,926
Reserves fE 2,153,689 2,758,390
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A2 &l A A FE{G 2,497,615 3,102,316
Non-controlling interests JEVERER 1,397,690 1,504,726
Total Equity LA 3,895,305 4,607,042
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

As at 31 December 2018 R=F—F+=-A=+—H

31 December 31 December
2018 2017
—E-N\#F —ZT—+tF
+=—ZA=+—-H +t=ZA=+—H
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FHEx FHET
LIABILITIES =N
Non-Current Liabilities kREBEE
Bank loans and other borrowing RITERREMEER 33 637,396 251,321
Other payables H e FRIE 32 38,204 -
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEBE 29 336,943 394,227
1,012,543 645,548
Current Liabilities REBEE
Trade and bill payables EREREER 30 135,313 184,859
Other payables and accruals HMENRRETER 32 188,649 148,775
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERMEMEE 33 710,524 596,343
Provision for environmental and resources tax IR{% & &R B & 31 124,123 -
Convertible bonds AR R E S 28 - 344,686
Contract liabilities SRAE 34 32,873 -
Corporate bond TEESH 35 275,000 -
Tax payables FERTHIIR - 9,765
1,466,482 1,284,428
Total Liabilities =Rif k] 2,479,025 1,929,976
Total Equity and Liabilities EERAEAE 6,374,330 6,537,018
Net Current Liabilities REBAEFE (209,888) (329,089)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities EERERABAESE 4,907,848 5,252,590
Net Assets BEEFE 3,895,305 4,607,042

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2019 and signed on its

behalf by:

Yang Ying Min
BHER
Director

BF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FREEREHR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

Attributable
Capital Share to Non-
Share Share  Contributed Capital ~ redemption option  Convertible ~ Statutory ~ Exchange Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve note reserves reserve reserve loss Subtotal interests equity
TERR FER

Be  BHEE KARR  HARRE AFEOER  MRERR BERE  EERRE  EXERE  ZHER Mt EEEE  BEEE
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HK$ 000
T T T T TEL TEL TEL TiERL T T T T T

At1 January 2017 RZZ—+5-A-H 344921 3770925 31,350 (894) - - 8902 12,617 (90792) (737805) 3,339,284 86946 3426230

Loss and total comprehensive  AEEEER

Joss for the year 2EREEE - - - - - - - - (81,208)  (145,774)  (226980) (7071)  (44,051)
Acquisiton of subsiclaries KEHBLR - - - - - - - - - - - 1434851 1434851
Repurchase of shares BBk (995) (8,993) - - 9% - - - - (995) (9,988) - (9,988)
Transfer -7 - - - - - - - 3917 - (3.977) - - -
At 31 December 2017 RIZ-tF

343926 376192 31,350 (894) 995 - 8902 16,654 (171,998) (888,551) 3,102,316 1,504,726 4,607,042
Impact on initial application of

HKFRS 9 - - - - - - - - - 8972 (8972 (897) 9.869)
At1 January 2018 U396 3761932 31,350 (894) 99 - 8,902 16,654 (171998) (097,52 3093344 1503829  4597,173
Loss and total comprehensive

loss for the year - - - - - - - - (117,604) 484,008) (601,612) (106,139) (707,751)
Redemption of convertiole note - - - - - - (8902 - - 8,902 - - -
Grant of share options - - - - - 5883 - - - - 5883 - 5883
Lapse of share options - - - - - (5,883 - - - 5883 - - -
At 31 December 2018 RZB-)\E

TZA=1-8 343926 376192 31,350 (894) 995 - - 16,654 (089.602)  (1,366,746) 2,497,615 1,307,690 3,895,306
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GeaReRER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHEEZHERE
Loss before income tax B FTIS AT B 18 (607,998) (194,523)
Amortisation of intangible assets M| A E 96,505 32,485
Amortisation of mining right IERE N 52,494 50,569
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments T AH & SR IE 6,156 5,524
Bank interest income RITHIBUA (726) (174)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M BEREEBETE 58,620 27,458
Impairment loss of financial assets BB ERERE 46,046 -
Impairment loss of goodwill EEREEE 12,939 -
Imputed interest expenses arising from AMREFEEZHENBRAY
convertible bonds 39,036 39,099
Share options expenses B AR 5,883 -
Loan interest expenses BHRFBERX 237,686 82,267
Loan interest income BERA B WA (6,540) -
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEWE - BEMZHER 2,223 286
Provision of obsolete inventories EEGTERE 34,263 -
Written off of construction in progress EE T 6,572 -
Operating (loss)/profit before working capital changes & & & & ) pil 2 4L &
(&18), % F (16,841) 42,991
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories HFE gm),md (112,027) 22,138
Increase in Provision for environmental and IRIR R B TR B A1 00
resources tax 130,088 -
Decrease in finance lease receivables FEU B E TR E R 1,075 -
(Increase)/Decrease in trade and FEUERF R RE BEAFIE - ZE2 R
bill receivables, prepayments, H b UK (38 0) R
deposits and other receivables (233,789) 265,268
Decrease in trade and bill payables, ERERAREE  EMENTKE
other payables and accruals FEET RIER (20,243) (92,247)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations K (TR FiiBzie (251,737) 238,150
Tax paid BRI (31) (21,350)
Other tax paid HEteFHmE (11,763) (91,637)
Net cash (used in)/generated from KeEs (FTA) /FIBzEeTHE
operating activities (263,531) 125,163
Cash flows from investing activities REZHELEZRESRE
Interest received 2 U FE 726 174
Purchase of items of property, plant and equipment BAME - BEMEEIEE
and addition to properties under development ARRBERTYE (70,254) (1,750)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWE BE RREMSHRIE
plant and equipment 33,431 -
Net cash outflow for acquisition of a subsidiary WS — KM B R R B IR & - (468,597)
Net cash outflow of acquisition of assets through EBRREHRBARIMBEE
acquisition of subsidiaries WEm L F - (53,566)
Received from settlement of promissory notes BAHREBEEEE - 300,000
Withdrawn of pledged bank deposits PO EFRRITER 104,079 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBFRE (A ZRLFHE
investing activities 67,982 (223,739)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mEHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash flows from financing activities METHELECRESRE
Proceed from bank loans RITERFERE 1,112,793 432,136
Loan interest paid ENERFE (135,218) (82,267)
Repayment of loans EEER (566,505) (665,956)
Repayment of convertible bonds EEBMRES (108,722) (25,000)
Repurchase of shares EEAEI E5) = (9,988)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BMEEBE (TR ZBELFE
financing activities 302,348 (851,075)
Net increase/(decrease) BeERBEEEY2
in cash and cash equivalents #in, CRd)BE 106,799 (449,651)
Cash and bank balances at 1 January R—A—AzBRERIBTES 56,097 596,003
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net IEERSH2HE FH (41,418) (90,255)
Cash and bank balances at 31 December R+-—B=+—HZEEK
RATHEER 121,478 56,097
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents RE R R EZEBYEBR 2D
Cash and bank balances R e MIRTTAE 121,478 56,097
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

1.

86

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION

1.1

1.2

General information

North Mining Shares Company Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liabilities. The address of the registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business has been changed to Rooms 2009-18, 20/F., Shui
On Centre, 6-8 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on 26
February 2019. The shares of the Company are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”).

The principal activities of the Company are investment
holdings. The principal activities of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) are mining, property management,
manufacture and sales of chemical products and sales of
security technologies products.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the same functional currency of the
Company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company (“Directors”),
the ultimate holding company of the Company is China Wan
Tai Group Limited, which was incorporated in Hong Kong.

Statement of compliance and basis for
preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(‘HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION
(Continued)

1.2 Statement of compliance and basis for
preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs under the historical cost
convention. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
also include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinaries.

1.3 Going concern

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have considered the future liquidity of the Group.
As at 31 December 2018, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$209,888,000 and incurred net loss
of approximately HK$570,779,000 for the year ended 31
December 2018. These conditions indicate the existence
of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt
about the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore the Group may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

Notwithstanding the aforesaid conditions, these consolidated
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis on the assumption that the Group will be able to
operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. In
the opinion of the Directors, the Group can meet its financial
obligations as and when they fall due within the next year
from the date of the consolidated financial statements, after
taking into consideration of the following measures and
arrangements made subsequent to the reporting date:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

88

GENERAL INFORMATION AND STATEMENT OF
COMPLIANCE AND BASIS FOR PREPARATION
(Continued)

1.3 Going concern (Continued)

(i) On 28 March 2019, the Group entered into a disposal
agreement (“Agreement”) to put back the entire equity
interests of Gold Pearl Investment Limited to its former
shareholders at a consideration of HK$430,000,000.
Pursuant to the Agreement, the consideration will be
received by the Group in two years from the date of
Agreement as to HK$230,000,000 due on 28 March
2020; and HK$200,000,000 due on 28 March 2021;

(i)  The Directors will strengthen to implement measures
aiming of improving the working capital and cash flow
of the Group including closely monitoring the general
administrative expenses and operating costs; and

(i)~ The Directors will continue to source for additional
funding and negotiate with certain bankers to
obtain additional banking facilities and/or extend the
borrowings when they fall due.

On the basis of the foregoing, and after assessing the
Group’s current and forecasted cash positions, the
Directors are satisfied that the Group will be able to meet
in full the Group’s financial obligations as they fall due for
the period of twelve months from the date of consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements of the Group have been prepared on the going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue to
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to
be made to restate the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might arise
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities
as current assets and current liabilities, respectively. The
effects of these potential adjustments have not been reflected
in these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. RHFFTRLETEBUKERE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 2.1

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Accounting Standards Board for the first time:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments

HK(FRIC)-Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-

based Payment Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial performance
and positions for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue,
HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the related
interpretations.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

2.

90

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. RHFFTRLETEBUMERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 28 (48)
(Continued)
2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFNFRKEITEBMERE

(Continued)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with
the cumulative effect of initially applying this Standard
recognised at the date of initial application, 1 January 2018.
Any difference at the date of initial application is recognised
in the opening retained profits (or other components of
equity, as appropriate) and comparative information has
not been restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the
transition provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected
to apply the Standard retrospectively only to contracts
that are not completed at 1 January 2018. Accordingly,
certain comparative information may not be comparable
as comparative information was prepared under HKAS 18
Revenue and HKAS 11 Construction Contracts and the
related interpretations.

The Group recognises revenue from the mining and sales of
driling mud and pelletising clay which arise from contracts
with customers Information about the Group’s performance
obligations and the accounting policies resulting from
application of HKFRS 15 are disclosed in notes 2 and 3
respectively.
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRAFITIRBEITIEEBMBRE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 28 (48)
(Continued)
2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFNFRKEITIEBMERE
(Continued) 28 (&)
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers BAMBREENFISEEFANA
(Continued) BRA (&)
Summary of effects arising from initial application of WK IEFE B IR EERIE155 89
HKFRS 15 HEHL
The following adjustments were made to the amounts BEHR-_ZE-N\F-—A—BZ&ESE
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position MEIRAR AR 2 SEIELHUT
at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the Bl T EREHTEZHBE YR
changes have not been included. BIEER-
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
Previously under
reported at HKFRS 15 at
31 December 1 January
2017 Reclassification 2018*
R-Z-N\&§
-BA—H
ERAR-Z—t& REFBHE
+=A=+-H BEERIFE155
BEZEEE BN E FEZERE"
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTiET FTAET FET
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and other payables BHREMERNRK
Other payables and accruals Hib RN R R ERE A 148,775 (37,409) 111,366
Contract liabilities (Note) BRAE () - 37,409 37,409
148,775 - 148,775
Note: Mo5E

As at 1 January 2018, advances from customers of HK$37,409,000
in respect of sales of goods previously included in trade and other
payables were reclassified to contract liabilities.

Excepts as described above, the application of HKFRS 15 has no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

RZZE-NF—A—R FHHEEBRMD
BEFAESREMENROELER
BRX37,409,000 8 TEEH N BEANE

Ao

B EX A E SN AR BN HREER
FIFUAEENGRA VBRI L ER
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92

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments and the related consequential amendments to
other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for
1) the classification and measurement of financial assets
and financial liabilities, 2) expected credit losses (‘ECL”)
for financial assets and other items (for example, financial
guarantee contracts) and 3) general hedge accounting.

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 January 2018 (date
of initial application) and has not applied the requirements
to instruments that have already been derecognised as at
1 January 2018. The difference between carrying amounts
as at 31 December 2017 and the carrying amounts as at
1 January 2018 are recognised in the opening retained
profits and other components of equity, without restating
comparative information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared
under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.
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2.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. RHFFTRLETEBUKERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 28 (48)
(Continued)
2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFNFRKEITIEBMERE

(Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

Classification and measurement of financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loan and
receivables which subsequently measured at amortised
cost previously. Upon the initial application of HKFRS 9, the
Group’s financial assets are classified as financial assets at
amortised costs based on the business model under which
the financial assets are managed and its contractual cash
flow characteristics. Accordingly, there was no impact on the
amounts recognised in relation to financial assets from the
application of HKFRS 9.

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for all trade
receivables.

Except for those which had been determined as credit
impaired under HKAS 39, trade receivables have been
assessed individually with outstanding significant balances,
the remaining balances are grouped based on past due
analysis.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including
restricted bank balances bill receivables, pledged bank
deposits, bank balances, are assessed on 12m ECL basis
as there had been no significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRMFFIRZIETEBHERS
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R (48)
(Continued)
2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERFMITRZETERMBHRE
(Continued) 28| (&)

94

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

Summary of effects arising from initial application of
HKFRS 9

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 January 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

ERMBHRESENESIEMTA
(%)

6 FEF & B R 75 35 & 2E R E 955 FF
EECHECHE
RZZB-N\F-A-BHESHBMR
MERPHERHSETUTIIREE K

FIRKEHEHENES -

Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
Previously under
reported at HKFRS 9 at
31 December 1 January
2017 Reclassification 2018*
RZEB-NE
—A—BRE
RAR-Z—tF EBMERE
+ZBA=t—H ERIEIRETE
HEZREE BN E ZEREE"
HKD$'000 HKD$'000 HKD$'000
THT TET FHT
Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables: B 5 R E M EWGE:
Trade and bil receivables (Note) YRR R F & (Fa) 66,660 (4,769) 61,891
Other receivables (Note) Hofth e 5R0E (B 56,293 (5,100) 51,193
122,953 (9,869) 113,084
Equity R
Accumulated losses (Note) ZEtEE (M) (888,551) (8.972) (897,523)
Attributable to non-controlling interest FE{% A% fE AT 1,504,726 (897) 1,503,829
616,175 (9,869) 606,306
Note: MI3E -

As at 1 January 2018, the amount of approximately HK$9,869,000
represented the additional impairment loss based on the new
expected credit loss model under HKFRS 9.

Excepts as described above, the application of HKFRS 9 has no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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2. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

HKFRS 16 Leases'

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts?

HKFRIC-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Amendments to Definition of a Business*
HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets
10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Materials®

and HKAS 8

Amendments to Plan Amendment, Curtailment or

HKAS 19 Settlement!
Amendments to Long-term Interests in Associates
HKAS 28 and Joint Ventures'
Amendments to Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle!

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for business combination and assets acquisition for

which the acquisition date is on or after the first annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

5 Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRMFFIRZIETEBHERS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R (48)

(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERFMITRZETERMBHRE
(Continued) 28| (&)

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the
identification of lease arrangements and accounting
treatments for both lessors and lessees. HKFRS 16 will
supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related interpretations
when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on
the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer. In addition, HKFRS 16 requires sales and
leaseback transactions to be determined based on the
requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of the
relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16
also includes requirements relating to subleases and lease
modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are
removed for lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability have
to be recognised for all leases by lessees, except for short-
term leases and leases of low value assets.

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain
exceptions) less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability.
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of
the lease payments that are not paid at that date.

Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. For the classification of cash flows, the
Group currently presents upfront prepaid lease payments as
investing cash flows in relation to leasehold lands for owned
use and those classified as investment properties while other
operating lease payments are presented as operating cash
flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in
relation to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and
an interest portion which will be presented as financing cash
flows by the Group.
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2.

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

Under HKAS 17, the Group has already recognised an
asset and a related finance lease liability for finance lease
arrangement and prepaid lease payments for leasehold lands
where the Group is a lessee. The application of HKFRS 16
may result in potential changes in classification of these
assets depending on whether the Group presents right-of-
use assets separately or within the same line item at which
the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable
to lessor, HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor
accounting requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to
require a lessor to classify a lease either as an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS
16.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$32,506,000 as
disclosed in note 36. In addition, the Group currently
considers refundable rental deposits paid of HK$1,806,000
and obligations under leases to which HKAS 17 applies.
Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS
16, such deposits are not payments relating to the right
to use the underlying assets, accordingly, the carrying
amounts of such deposits may be adjusted to amortised
cost. Adjustments to refundable rental deposits paid would
be considered as additional lease payments and included in
the carrying amount of right-of- use assets. Adjustments to
refundable rental deposits received would be considered as
advance lease payments.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 17 establishes the principles for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of insurance
contracts and supersedes HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts.
The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2021.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRMFETRKEITEBHBERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R (&)

(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFTTRZEITEBMERE
(Continued) 28| (48)
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs

(Continued)

HKFRIC-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

HKFRIC-Int 23 sets out how to determine the accounting
tax position when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments. The interpretation requires an entity to determine
whether uncertain tax positions are assessed separately
or as a group; and assess whether it is probable that a tax
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment used, or
proposed to be used, by an entity in its income tax filings.

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

The amendments clarify that for the purpose of assessing
whether a prepayment feature meets the SPPI condition, the
party exercising the option may pay or receive reasonable
compensation for the prepayment irrespective of the reason
i.e. prepayment features with negative compensation do not
automatically fail SPPI.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments to HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial
Statements and HKAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures deal with situations where there is a sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its associate
or joint venture. Specifically, the amendments state that gains
or losses resulting from the loss of control of a subsidiary
that does not contain a business in a transaction with an
associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using the
equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that
associate or joint venture. Similarly, gains and losses resulting
from the remeasurement of investments retained in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method) to fair
value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new
associate or joint venture.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. RHFFTRLETEBUKERE

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 28 (48)
(Continued)
2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFNFRKEITIEBMERE

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment,
Curtailment or Settlement

The amendments clarify that the past service cost (or the
gain or loss on settlement) is calculated by measuring the
defined benefit liability (asset) using updated assumptions
and comparing benefits offered and plan assets before and
after the plan amendment (or curtailment or settlement) but
ignoring the effect of the asset ceiling (that may arise when
the defined benefit plan is in a surplus position). The change
in the effect of the asset ceiling that may result from the plan
amendment (or curtailment or settlement) is recognised in
other comprehensive income.

In addition, an entity is required to use the updated
assumptions from this remeasurement to determine current
service cost and net interest for the remainder of the
reporting period after the change to the plan. In the case of
the net interest, the amendments make it clear that for the
period post plan amendment, the net interest is calculated
by multiplying the net defined benefit liability (asset) as
remeasured under paragraph 99 of HKAS 19 with the
discount rate used in the remeasurement (also taking into
account the effect of contributions and benefit payments on
the net defined benefit liability (asset)).

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

The amendments clarify that an entity applies HKFRS 9,
including the impairment requirements, to long-term interests
in an associate or joint venture to which the equity method
is not applied that form part of the net investment in the
investee. Furthermore, in applying HKFRS 9 to long-term
interests, an entity does not take into account adjustments to
their carrying amount required by HKAS 28.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. BRMFFIRZIETEBHERS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS R (48)

(Continued)

2.1 Application of new and revised HKFRSs 21 ERAFNFRKEITEBMERE
(Continued) 28| (&)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

The annual improvement packages amended the following
four standards.

HKAS 12 Income Taxes

The amendments clarify that an entity should recognise the
income tax consequences of dividends in profit or loss, other
comprehensive income or equity according to where the
entity originally recognised the transactions that generated
the distributable profits. This is the case irrespective
of whether different tax rates apply to distributed and
undistributed profits.

HKAS 23 Borrowing Costs

The amendments clarify that if any specific borrowing remains
outstanding after the related asset is ready for its intended
use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that
an entity borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation
rate on general borrowings.

HKFRS 3 Business Combinations

The amendments clarify that when an entity obtains control
of a business that is a joint operation, the entity applies the
requirements for a business combination achieved in stages,
including remeasuring its previously held interest in the joint
operation at fair value. The previously held interest to be
remeasured includes any unrecognised assets, liabilities and
goodwill relating to the joint operation.

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements

The amendments clarify that when a party that participates
in, but does not have joint control of, a joint operation that is
a business obtains joint control of such a joint operation, the
entity does not remeasure its previously held interest in the
joint operation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

3.1

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

- has power over the investee;

- is posed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

- has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

- the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relevant
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

- potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

- rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

- any additional facts and circumstances that indicate
that the Group has, or does not have, the current ability
to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

3.

102

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.1 Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s entity
therein. Non-controlling interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes in
equity since the date of the combination. Losses applicable
to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest in the
subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding
obligation and is able to make an additional investment to
cover the losses.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, income, expenses and

cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Business combination

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the

Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

- deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

- liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment transactions of the acquire or the
replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment
transactions with share-based payment transactions of
the Group are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Sharebased Payment at the acquisition date; and

- assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3.

104

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Business combination (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after assessment,
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the
excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share
of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be
initially measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis.

Where the consideration the Group transfers in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value
and considered as part of the consideration transferred
in a business combination. Changes in the fair value of
the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with the
corresponding adjustments being made against goodwill or
gain on bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Business combination (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or
HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss
being recognised in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

Changes in the value of the previously held equity interest
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity before the acquisition date are reclassified to profit
or loss when the Group obtains control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period (see above), or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised
as of that date.
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3.

106

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

3.3

Business combination (Continued)

Contingent consideration was recognised, if and only if,
the contingent consideration was probable and could be
measured reliably. Subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration were recognised against the cost of the
acquisition.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Goodwill was determined at each
step. Any additional acquisition did not affect the previously
recognised goodwill.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities
that do not constitute a business, the Group identifies and
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase price first to
financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair values,
the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated
to the other individual identifiable assets and liabilities on
the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase.
Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.

Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on acquisition of a business represents the
excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s interest
in the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of the relevant business at the date of
acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated impairment

losses, if any.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.3

3.4

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than
its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the
unit and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based in the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on
a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset is
derecognised.
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3.

108

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value excepts for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 since 1 January 2018.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

(a) Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at FVTOCI:

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial application/
initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in
a business combination to which HKFRS 3 Business
Combinations applies.
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3.

110

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.

(i) Amortised cost and interest income
Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured
at FVTOCI.

Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 in
accordance with transitions in note 2) (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income (Continued)
For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from
the next reporting period. If the credit risk on
the credit-impaired financial instrument improves
so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on
financial assets which are subject to impairment under
HKFRS 9 (including trade and other receivables, and
financial guarantee contracts. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL”") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date.
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3.

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2) (Continued)

Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions
at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances and/
or collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate
groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2) (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3.

114

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with

note 2) (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals

held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion

is more appropriate.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

e ISR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)
(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application

HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with

note 2) (Continued)

(iy  Credit-impaired financial assets
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(o)  a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for
that financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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3.

116

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with

note 2) (Continued)
(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables,
when the amounts are over two years past due,

whichever occurs sooner.

Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v} Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unblFRSed and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of

default occurring as the weights.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2) (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group
is required to make payments only in the event
of a default by the debtor in accordance with
the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed.
Accordingly, the expected losses are the present
value of the expected payments to reimburse
the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from
the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on
loan commitments for which the effective interest
rate cannot be determined, the Group will apply
a discount rate that reflects the current market
assessment of the time value of money and the
risks that are specific to the cash flows but only
if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into
account by adjusting the discount rate instead of
adjusting the cash shortfalls being discounted.
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3.

118

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2) (Continued)

V)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on past due
analysis:

° Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the
Group’s trade and other receivables are
each assessed as a separate group;

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure the constituents of
each group continue to share similar credit risk
characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application
HKFRS 9 with transitions in accordance with
note 2) (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss
allowances are recognised at the higher of the
amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and the amount
initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over
the guarantee period.

Except for investments in debt instruments/
receivables that are measured at FVTOCI, the
Group recognises an impairment gains or loss
in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account. For investments in
debt instruments that are measured at FVTOCI,
the loss allowance is recognised in OCl and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve without
reducing the carrying amount of these debt
instruments/receivables.
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3.

120

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9
on 1 January 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans
and receivables. The classification depends on
the nature and purpose of the financial assets and
is determined at the time of initial recognition. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention
in the marketplace.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables (including trade,
bills and other receivables, restricted bank balances,
pledged bank deposit, and bank balances and cash)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application
of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of
the financial assets have been affected.

For all financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

° breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest and principal payments;
or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade
and other receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of
impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group’s past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the
portfolio past the respective credit periods granted to
individual customers, observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.
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3.

122

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application
of HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018) (Continued)

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade and other receivables where
the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit or
loss. When a trade or other receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the asset at the date the
impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment
not been recognised.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for
amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues
to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own
equity instruments.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.5 Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payable are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured
initially at their fair values. It is subsequently measured
at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined
in accordance with HKFRS 9 (since 1 January
2018)/IFRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities
and Contingent Assets (before application of
HKFRS 9 on 1 January 2018); and

° the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised
over the guarantee period.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been
put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period in which it
is incurred. In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated
that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future
economic benefits expected to be obtained from the use
of the property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is
capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property,
plant and equipment, using the straight line method, over
their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Mining structure and building,

plant and machinery 20 years
Leasehold improvement 3 to 5 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

The gain or loss arising from disposal of an asset is
determined as the difference between the sale proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.7 Leasehold interests in land

3.8

3.9

Leasehold interests in land are classified as operating
leases and presented as “prepaid lease payments” in the
consolidated statement of financial position when all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership are not substantially
transferred to the Group. Leasehold interests in land are
amortised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease or when there is impairment, the
impairment is recognised in the profit or loss.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.
A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group
will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of receivables. The amount of the provision
is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted
at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision
is recognised in the consolidated profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately are initially measured at
cost. Mining rights are reclassified from exploration and
evaluation assets at the carrying amount when the technical
feasibility and commercial viability of extracting mineral
resources are demonstrable. Mining rights with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any identified impairment loss. Amortisation for mining rights
with finite useful lives is provided using the unit of production
method based on the actual production volume over the
estimated total proved and probable reserves of the mineral
mines.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.10Current assets and current liabilities

Current assets are expected to be realised within twelve
months of the end of reporting period or in the normal course
of the Group’s operating cycle. Current liabilities are expected
to be settled within twelve months of the end of reporting
period or in the normal course of the Group’s operating
cycle.

3.11Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
method.

3.12Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less,
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the consolidated statement
of financial position.

3.13Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have been decreased:

- Property, plant and equipment

- Prepaid lease payments

- Mining rights
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3.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Impairment of other assets (Continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for intangible assets that are not yet
available for use and intangible assets that have indefinite
useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated annually
whether or not there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of
its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other
assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

- Recognition of impairment loss

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised in
respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to
reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro-rata basis, except that
the carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less costs to sell, or value
in use, if determinable.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.13Impairment of other assets (Continued)

- Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favorable change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill
is not reversible. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised in prior years. Reversals of impairment
losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in which
the reversals are recognised.

3.14Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or
as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of
the goods or services underlying the particular performance
obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or
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3.

130

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon application
of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Revenue recognition (Continued)

Contracts with multiple performance obligations
(including allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligations (to specify), the Group allocates the transaction
price to each performance obligation on a relative stand-
alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the
Group would sell a promised good or service separately
to a customer. If a stand-alone selling price is not directly
observable, the Group estimates it using appropriate
techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount
of consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in
exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to
the customer.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts
or inputs to the satisfaction of a performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict the Group’s
performance in transferring control of goods or services.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.14Revenue recognition (Continued)

Costs to fulfil a contract

The Group incurs costs to fulfil a contract in its construction
contracts. The Group first assesses whether these costs
qualify for recognition as an asset in terms of other relevant
Standards, failing which it recognises an asset for these costs
only if they meet all of the following criteria:

(@) the costs relate directly to a contract or to an
anticipated contract that the Group can specifically
identify;

(b)  the costs generate or enhance resources of the Group
that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)
performance obligations in the future; and

(c)  the costs are expected to be recovered.

The asset so recognised is subsequently amortised to profit
or loss on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The asset is subject to impairment review.

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 January 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated
customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described
below.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Foreign currencies

@

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group’s entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
HK dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency.

Transaction and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, except when deferred in equity as qualifying
cash flow hedges or qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such
as equity instruments held at fair value through profit or
loss, are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss.
Translation difference on non-monetary items, such as
equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets,
are included in the fair value reserve in equity.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.15Foreign currencies (Continued)

(iii)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(1)  assets and liabilities for each financial position
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(2) income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated
at the dates of the transactions); and

(8)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of the net investment in foreign entities,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to shareholders’ equity. When a foreign operation is
sold, such exchange differences are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXETEEHE @
POLICIES (Continued)
3.16Lease 3.16 &
Leases are classes are classified as finance leases whenever WA E 2GR AEZ BRI DR
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risk and % M Bl T AMEA  BEEHER
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are HAmANS -FIEAMBERSE

classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a
reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recognised as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to
accounting periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of
return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect
of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.
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3.

136

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Stripping costs

Stripping costs incurred during the production phase are
generally considered to create two benefits, being either
the production of inventory or improved access to the ore
to be mined in the future. Where the benefits are realised in
the form of inventory produced in the period, the production
stripping costs are accounted for as part of the cost of
producing those inventories.

Where the benefits are realised in the form of improved
access to ore to be mined in the future, the costs are
recognised as a stripping activity asset and is accounted
for as an addition to, or an enhancement of, the ‘Mining
Infrastructure’ in the statement of financial position if the
following criteria are met:

(@ it is probable that the future economic benefit
(improved access to the ore body) associated with the

stripping activity will flow to the entity;

(b)  the entity can identify the component of the ore body
for which access has been improved; and

(c)  the costs relating to the stripping activity associated
with that component can be measured reliably.

Other production stripping costs are charged to the profit or
loss as operating costs as they are incurred.
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e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.17 Stripping costs (Continued)

The stripping activity asset is initially measured at cost, which
is the accumulation of costs directly incurred to perform
the stripping activity that improves access to the identified
component of ore, plus an allocation of directly attributable
overhead costs.

If the costs of the inventory produced and the stripping
activity asset are not separately identifiable, a relevant
production measure is used to allocate the production
stripping costs between the inventory produced and the
stripping activity asset. This production measure is calculated
for the identified component of the ore body and is used as
a benchmark to identify the extent to which the additional
activity of creating a future benefit has taken place. The
Group uses the expected volume of waste extracted
compared with the actual volume for a given volume of ore
production of each component.

The stripping activity asset is subsequently depreciated using
the unit of production basis over the life of the identified
component of the ore body that became more accessible as
a result of the stripping activity. The stripping activity asset
is then carried at cost less depreciation and any impairment
losses.

3.18 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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3.

138

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.19 Employee benefits

(i) Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, leave
passage and the cost to the Group of non-monetary
benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees of the
Group. Where payment or settlement is deferred and
the effect would be material, these amounts are stated
at their present values.

(ii) Contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds as
required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance and to the state-managed
retirement benefits schemes for the employees of
the Group’s overseas entities are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as incurred.

(i) Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal
plan which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.

(iv)  The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain directors and employees. Equity-settled
share-based payments are measured at fair value
(excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting
condition) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the
equity-settled share-based payments is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group's estimate of shares that will eventually vest.

3.20 Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit is the profit for the year, determined
in accordance with the rules established by the taxation
authorities, upon which income taxes are payable.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.20 Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable
on differences between the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available which deductible temporary difference can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill (or gain on bargain
purchase) or from the initial recognition (other than a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Company is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each end of reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the year when the liability is settled or the asset
realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited in profit or loss,
except when it relates to items charged or credited directly
to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in
equity.

3.21 Provisions

A provision is recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Where the effect of the time value
of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present
value at the end of reporting period of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EASHBEHE @)
POLICIES (Continued)

3.22Contingent liabilities and contingent 322 FARABRAREE

140

assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements. When a change in the probability of an
outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, they will then be
recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset
is recognised.

3.23 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements,
related parties include a person and an entity as defined
below:

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(@  has control or joint control over the Group;

(b)  has significant influence over the Group;

(c) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

3.23 Related parties (Continued)

(i)

An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any
of the following conditions applies:

(@)

the entity and the Company are members of
the same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others);

either entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of a third entity;

either entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Company or an entity related to the Company.
If the reporting entity is itself such a plan, the
sponsoring employers are also related to the
plan;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (i);

a person identified in (i)(a) has significant voting
power in the entity;

the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personal
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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4.

142

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year are discussed below.

4.1 Useful life of property, plant and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment in order to determine the amount of depreciation
expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated at
the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience,
the expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as
technical obsolescence arising from changes in the market
demands or service output of the assets. The Group also
performs annual reviews on whether the assumptions made
on useful lives continue to be valid.

4.2 Amortisation and impairment of mining

rights

Mining rights are amortised using the unit of production

method based on the actual production volume over

the estimated total proved and probable reserve of the

molybdenum mines.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.2

4.3

Amortisation and impairment of mining
rights (Continued)

The process of estimating quantities of reserves is inherently
uncertain and complex. It requires significant judgment
and decision based on available geological, geophysical
engineering and economic data. These estimates may
change substantially as additional data from ongoing
development activities and production performance becomes
available and as economic conditions impacting mineral
prices and costs change. Reserve estimates are based
on current production forecasts, prices and economic
conditions. The directors exercise their judgments in
estimating the total proved and probable reserves of the
molybdenum mines. If the quantities of reserves are different
from current estimates, it will result in significant changes
to amortisation of mining rights and affect the recoverable
amount of exploration and evaluation, from which a material
loss may arise.

The carrying amounts of mining rights are reviewed for
impairment assessment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable in accordance with the accounting policy as
disclosed in the relevant part of this section. The recoverable
amounts of mining rights, or where appropriate, the
cash-generating-units to which they belong, are calculated as
the higher of its fair values less costs to sell and value in use.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to estimate the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating-units
and to choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Net realisable values of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on the current market condition and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of competitor actions in
response to severe industry cycles. Management will
reassess the estimations at the end of the reporting period.
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4.

144

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

4.4

4.5

Income taxes and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to income taxes in different jurisdictions.
Significant judgement is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations
for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during
the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income
tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
to be probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses can
be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Amortisation and impairment of intangible
assets

The cost of intangible assets acquired in business
combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised
over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that intangible asset may
be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are
reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognised in profit or loss in the period when the assets
are derecognised.
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5.

REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 5. WmkHEMMA
An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income is as follows: REBWRREMPAZDITHT
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
(@) Revenue: (a) Uz :
Sales of molybdenum concentrate HEEEH 242,232 202,928
Property management fee income MEEREBWA 7,607 7,487
Sales of chemical products HEBER 703,543 199,694
Sales of security technologies products SHERTHME®D 13,689 58,492
967,071 468,601
(b) Other income: (b) HfbA:
Bank interest income HRITH B WA 726 174
Loan interests income B B WA 6,540 -
Government grant T HE R 5,741 -
Sales of by-products 42 Bl E o 1,286 4,498
14,293 4,672
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6. IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS, NET 6. TRIEEREBERE

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Reversal of impairment of other receivables J8& [o] H b & KGR TE 2 R E 2,416 -

Impairment of trade and other receivables TEAMEEEKRIBE T B 5 R HAEUGK
under ECL IH 2 R E (48,462) -
(46,046) -

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HtWEmREER
2018 2017
—E-NF —ET—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHET
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments A E SRR (6,156) (5,524)
Amortisation of mining rights PRE I 5 (52,494) (50,569)
Amortisation of intangible assets mEERE (96,505) (32,485)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREEE (12,939) -
Written off of construction in progress e T2 s (6,572) -
Provision of obsolete inventories ZEGFERB (34,263) -
Gain on de-registration of subsidiaries BB N RIS R 2 U e - 143
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE BWEMREZER

plant and equipment (2,223) -
(211,152) (88,435)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Operating segments has been identified on the basis of internal
reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and to assessing their performance.

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business

units based on their products and services and has four reportable

operating segments as follows:

(@  Mining operation: — Exploration of mineral mines

— Exploitation of molybdenum
mines

— Trading of mineral resources

(b)  Property management
operation:

Provision of management service
to commercial premises

(c)  Chemical trading
operation:

Manufacturing and sale of
chemical products

(d)  Security technologies
operation:

Research, development and
sale of security technologies
products

The management monitors the operating results of its business
units separately for the purpose of making decision about resource
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance
is evaluated based on operating profits or loss and is measured
consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial
statements. Information regarding the above segment is reported
below.

TEEHR
AEBIREREBEBAKTRARZAE
ERAEED B -RENBNHREHER
BERARESBERDEES DB LA
HXBZ BRymENER -

RERAMTE AREZRBRAER
REHH AERBEL RANETRE
EHHE BT

@ IREER: — W REYES
—FERAR S
—BEERBEELR

(o) WMEEERXEL: RNEAYWHEREE
3B AR 75

c LtEBEEER EREELEE

ES i

d) REHMER: WMEMEHERTH

it 2 S

BEEERENEEEREXBEM LS
EE UREBRDERFERR - DER
BREEaNABRAE LiRESE
MR A 2 BEENREIEAT 2 EE
AE-BH LMD B ERRELT -
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEER(E)
8.1 Operating segment information 8.1 ReESEEHR
Segment revenue and results PHENERER
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BE-Z-NF+=-A=+—HL
FE
Mining operation
RBER

Sale of

Trading of Trading of security

Property Mining mineral chemical  technologies
management  exploitation resources products products Total

#E

EE EE REEH
NEEE BERR BEER Lt2ER Em @t

HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000
ThL ThL ThRL ThARL ThARL ThARL

Revenue s

Segment revenue PERE 7,607 233,882 8,350 703,543 13,689 967,071

Results’ 4y

Segment results AEEH 206 67,132 (1,785) (49,805) (4,883) 10,055
Unallocated corporate income KA EAFKA 16,229
Finance costs MEAE (276,722)
Other gains or losses HtthERER (211,152)
Unallocated corporate expenses K2 &2 Af % (147,310)
Loss before income tax RESHAEE (607,998)
Income tax Fies 37,219

Loss for the year KEERR (570,779)
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2017

PEEFR (1#)

8.1 REHKEEHR (&)
THEWRERES (&)
Be2_—+F+-_A=+—81t
EE

Mining operation

Trading of Trading of  Sale of security
Property Mining mineral chemical technologies
management exploitation resources products products Total
EE EE HERZEN
nEEE BEAR BEER tBER Em @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T TAL T T T T
Revenue e
Segment revenue P 7,487 189,640 13,388 199,694 58,492 468,601
Results' EE -
Segment resuts NERE (301) (25,739) (767) 02404) 4116 (45,095)
Unallocated corporate income RARAFMA 4,672
Unallocated corporate expenses ~ AAE A FIFR (154,100)
Loss before income tax BRFERAER (194,523)
Income tax FiEH 13317
Loss for the year rEEER (181,206)
1. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable 1. WARRS H2ETREDBE

segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments.
Segment result represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of corporate income and expenses,
depreciation or amortisation, central administrative expenses,
directors’ salaries and finance costs. This is the measure
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose
of resource allocation and performance assessment.

EZHERMAT - DREEEE
AOBERBWRA KR S el
HORRITRER EFHTREE
PR Z 1B & K8 PR IR ) -
R EEZERRELZHRUANE
BRMFERRZETE-
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

8.1 Operating segment information (Continued)

8. Z7EEH (&)

8.1 BE&oHEN (&)

Segment assets and liabilities PHEEERAR
Mining operation
BB
Sale of
Trading of Trading of security
Property Mining mineral chemical  technologies
management  exploitation resources products products  Unallocated Total
#HE
EE Eg RERI
NEEE BERR BEER tEER ER KB agt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TAL TEL TEL TEL
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-NF+ZA=t-8
Segment assets FEEE 585,520 4,006,322 368,123 489,739 145,390 779,236 6,374,330
Segment liabilities FEEE 367 817,397 - 565,552 10,434 1,085,275 2,479,025
As at 31 December 2017 RZZ—+F+ZA=1-R
Segment assets PREE 601,832 4,192,563 392,708 593,618 159,313 597,074 6,537,018
Segment liabilties AEERE 1,323 832,449 - 261,303 198,014 636,887 1929,976
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and MEESBRAERSERERS K

150

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than assets used jointly reportable segments which are
classified as “Others” in segment assets.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than liabilities for which reportable segments are jointly
liable and classified as “Others” in segment liabilities.
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. NEER (&)
8.1 Operating segment information (Continued) 8.1 REDEEHR (HF)
Other segment information HttnBER
Mining operation
RmER
Sale of
Trading of Trading of security
Property Mining mineral chemical  technologies
management  exploitation resources products products  Unallocated Total
#HE
g Eg REHI
VES:] WERR BEAR tEER ER KB At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
As at 31 December 2018 RZB-NF+ZA=t-8B
Depreciation and amortisation ~ TE K &8 3 67,253 2 36,798 103,510 6,185 213,775
Capital expenditures BERHY - 20,489 50 46,619 25 3,07 70,254
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—+&+-A=1+-8
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 3 65,775 7 8,537 3818 5,411 83,548
Capital expenditures BAEX 5 450 - - 1,285 10 1,750
8.2 Geographical information 82 HWEXER

The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of (i) the Group’s revenue from external
customers and (i) the Group’s current and non-current
assets. The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the services were provided or the goods
were delivered. The geographical location of the segment
assets is based on the physical location of the asset, in the
case of mining rights, the location of the operation to which
they are allocated.

TREHEM: (AEERBIAT
Pz RiVAER 2 RE RIER
BEEMLIR 2 ER - EFMEH
BIRATIRHERS X EEY 2B
o D BREEMEMRIZEEER
PR EEE) 5y - BRI AE R IR 5 A
MR
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/-\*Eﬁ*sl' (lnﬂ)
82 HWEER (&)

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.
8.2 Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s operations are located in the following

REEZ EBLRIATHE - TRE

geographical areas. The following table provides an analysis PIREBEIZIDEE D 2 IIREFPI
of the Group’s revenue from external customers and assets wmNMEEDN
by geographical location:
Segment revenue from external
customers Segment assets
RENREF 22 ENE PEEE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—Z-N\% ZT—+F —E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TRT TER FEL
Overseas =gl - 3,928 - -
Hong Kong ENE - 2,458
The PRC hE 967,071 464,673 4,644,908 4,976,602
967,071 468,601 4,647,366 4,976,602
8.3 Information about major customers 83 FBMEXEERFZEH
The following is an analysis of revenue from customers AT AZRE BERME B EE10% A /Y
contributing over 10% of total revenue. B R U R DA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Customer A (Mining operation) BEPA(RREXER) N/A 55,537
Customer B (Sale of security EPB(HEREZHMER)
technologies products) N/A 48,749
There is no other single customer contributing over 10% of REBZEZ ¢+:H +—H
total revenue during the year ended 31 December 2018. WEFE - WEE 1 —BPZERMA
B EE10% J//{ Lo
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10.

9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BMEMRA
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings BARAERNEHRERZ
wholly repayable within five years RITERRAMEE 2 S 237,686 82,267
Imputed interest on convertible bonds AIMRESF ZHERE 39,036 39,099
276,722 121,366
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 10. BRPTEHAIEIR
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging: MRFTERAISEAMBRATIERERETE -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERx FHET
Auditors’ remuneration % ELEN BN & 1,200 1,080
Cost of inventories expensed TFEKAZ H 886,957 352,274
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  ¥1% - = MR IEITE 58,620 27,458
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration) B TARA (BIEZEEEH<)
- Wages and salaries —TEKF® 32,097 27,602
— Retirement benefits contributions —RIRTEFIHR 2,625 2,188
Operating lease payments in respect of MABEMEZKEHERIA
offices premises 7,130 8,247
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11.

154

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration of the directors disclosed pursuant to the Listing

1.

EEME

RIE ET R AR BB QR EPIZE383(1) R

Rules and Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, BeEEMEWT:
is as follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERx FET
Fees: Hwe:
Executive directors WITES - -
Independent non-executive directors BWUIEHITES 300 300
300 300
Other emoluments: Hipi & -
Executive directors: WITES:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEEWE 2,314 884
Contributions to pension schemes RS IR 35 35
Independent non-executive directors: B IEHITES:
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEREYHZE - -
2,349 919
2,649 1,219
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11.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued) 11. EEME (&)
For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, no emolument HE-_Z2—-N\FrR-_Z—tF+=A
was paid by the Group to the directors of the Company as an =t+—HLEFE AEEBVERAARQIFTE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation EXNEAMEERREMBAREEKE
for loss of office. MAR N 2 RIBSERBEBFHE - FA
MEEERETMAHE-
Retirement
Salaries and benefit scheme
Fees other benefits contributions Total
e FERAMERN BB BER At
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-0\% “E-tf “E-0\% —E3-tF —E-0\f —E3-tF “E-0\% ZE-tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T FER T Tz Tér
Executive directors ki
Qian Yi Dong i - - 364 364 17 17 381 381
Zhang JaKun FHH - - - - - - - -
Yang Ying Min BER - - 1950 50 18 18 1968 5
Li i Juan' FER - - - - - - - -
XuZiJing? e - - - - - - - -
Zhao Jan® ik - - - - - - - -
- - 2314 884 35 3% 2,349 919
Independent non-executive  BIFHTEE
directors
Cheng Chak Ho $27 100 10 - - = - 100 100
Wiliam Fong bl | 100 100 - - - - 100 100
Leung Kar Fai 255 100 100 - - - - 100 100
30 30 - - - - 30 30
1 Li Li Juan resigned as executive director on 21 June 2017. ! FEBR-_T—tF A+ —HEEHR
TES-
2 Xu Zi Jing was appointed as executive director on 9 April 2018 and 2 TR - N\FEMANBEZENT
resigned on 15 October 2018. BEEWRE-N\F+ATHABE
3 Zhao Jian was appointed as executive director on 15 October 2018. 3 RN - N\F+AT+RHAEZENIT

E%-
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11.

12.

156

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, remunerations
of all directors of the Company fall within HK$Nil to HK$2,000,000.

There were no arrangements under which a director waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2017: Nil).

Salaries, allowance and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive
directors are generally emoluments paid or receivable in respect of
those persons’ other services in connection with the management
of the affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2017: two) directors, details for whose remuneration are set out in
Note 11 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining three
(2017: three) highest paid, non-director employees are as follows:

1.

12.

BEEME (F)
BHE_Z—N\Fk-ZE—+tF+=A
Z+—BLEFE - ARFEEEE ME
=78 7T 22,000,000 7T 7 & E A ©

FARBEANESFELREXRZHEH
SR (ZT—LF 8E)-

AXRATEEINNTE RHEREY
B —RABRZEALTEARRE RENE
NAMEHEEA B E MR T2 E
s & 557 A

1& & Fr i

FRARAEReFMNEIREMA (==
—tF WMB)EFR FEZHEFBIR
XM FEI BT =R (T —+F: =
B EEBRETFMEI 2HEFBHT

)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Salaries and other benefits e RHAEF 1,742 1,325
Mandatory provident fund contribution EHIMENTESHEIR 54 52
1,796 1,377

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, remunerations
of highest paid, non-director employees fall within HK$Nil to
HK$1,000,000.
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12. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 12. EEHM (&)

Retirement benefit scheme

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
Scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to
make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiary in the PRC are
members of the state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
organised by the relevant local government authority in the PRC.
The subsidiary is required to contribute, based on a certain
percentage of the basic salary of its employees, to the retirement
benefit scheme and has no further obligations for the actual
payment of pensions or postretirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The state-sponsored retirement benefit scheme
represent for the entire pension obligations payable to retired
employees.

The Group does not have any other pension schemes for its
employees in respect of its subsidiaries outside Hong Kong and
the PRC. In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, the Group
did not have any significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2017 (2016: Nil) in respect of the retirement of its employees.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was adopted
pursuant to a resolution passed on 25 May 2011 and will remain
in force for a period of 10 years from that date. The purpose of the
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant options to the Eligible
Persons (as defined under the Scheme) as incentive or reward for
their contribution to the growth of the Group or Invested Entities (as
defined under the Scheme) and to provide the Group with a more
flexible means to reward, remunerate, compensate and/or provide
benefits to the Eligible Persons.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, 100,000,000 share
options was granted to a director, then lapsed in the same year due
to his resignation (2017: Nil).

RIKERTE
REBRIBEEE LD F480T B IE RIS
S EBPIREERRBGIIEE ZER
iRt ATREE 8 ([RESHE]) -
RIS ERBUETATEZE
BHFRAKEE - RIBBESHE BER
HEBRAREBRABUIAZ5% M EIH
R MEFABBRAZ ERAR30,0008 7T °
A% aT EIE L 2 KBRS -

ARBRPEMBRRZEETEEH
Ho 77 BRI #E B P A 7T B 2R B B SR IR AR R
BZRE -MBRARAAREREZELRS
TZETADHRBRAKEME S M
BREEHRZSN BEEEXNERERS
SRR B - BHKEBRIKEN G E A
BERERKEEXNEZMEARE -

ZER B0 8 2 R I P BRSO 2 P R
NAZEEBRIAEMEMERARSFE - AR
REERA WZT—tF+-A=+—
B NEEYELEBRAAEEMER
FARABBE(ZE—RF-|E)-

BB NRRS
ARBREN-"F——FAA-_THAR
BZRBRERRNERETE (T5HE1))
AR B RS+ FHRAERE
Mot EERARAARAEBRAL CE
EREE) ROBRE FRBBRERR
FHAREAPIRERR (TR DS #E
RFLER Y AAKERHEEELINGE
A S2E - MR - WE R SIRERATA
BERALe

REBEE-_Z—N\F+_A=+—HILFE
W B M —% %= E# 1100,000,00017 i B
T BR R EFEAEHTE  ZSHERET
H(ZE—tF E)-
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13.

158

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

—NEFZA=+—HIFE

13.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group incurred taxation losses for the year. Taxes on profits
assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the prevailing rates
of tax based on existing legislation, interpretations and practices.

FriSBiB <

HRAREFANBREHERBE WAL &
BENGUHHER G EMitE 2 BR

M RIBERIBERE AN

BITHETE -

= MER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —+tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FHET

Current tax: BNEARR I8 -
PRC corporate income tax A1 EEPTIS 31 7,446
Deferred tax EAEFIE (37,250) (20,763)
(37,219) (13,317)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before income
tax using the statutory rates for the tax jurisdictions in which the
Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled is as follows:

HRAREFANBREHIERE WAL E
BENGHAHERE Bt 2 BRH

M RIBERIBERE AN

BITHETE -

= MER

2018 2017
—E-N\E —tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Loss before income tax bR PTISF A ES 18 (607,998) (194,523)
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEAEMERFTE 2MIE (135,835) (32,096)
Tax effect of income not taxable AR AZ G E
for tax purpose (2,088) 9,817)
Tax effect of expense not TAMB R 2 BB EE
deductible for tax purpose 153,595 23,639
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses ifi EE RMBEBR I RETE 589 4,957
Tax effect of temporary difference BHEEEcBHBEE (37,250) -
Utilised tax loss recognised E fE AT IEE 1B (16,230) -
Tax credit for the year KEF 2 RIBER (37,219) (13,317)
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14. DIVIDENDS

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

15.

LOSS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic loss per share

The calculation of basic loss per share amount is based on
the net loss for the year of approximately HK$484,008,000
(2017: HK$145,774,000) attributable to equity holders
of the Company, and weighted average of approximately
21,495,386,000 (2017: 21,541,537,000) ordinary shares in
issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share

For the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the
computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible bonds
since their assumed exercise would result in a decrease in
loss per share during the years ended 31 December 2018
and 2017.

14.

15.

RE

EFFRERBE-_T-N\F+-A
=+ RLEREMEARERE (ZF
L) -

ST
(a)

(b)

2018 i A FBERMDERA T

B8

BREAREE
BEREANEEBIREARDGEZD
BEAEGRAFEEBEEREFAY
484,008,000 L (ZF— £ F:
145,774,000 70) R F AN E BT E
B NAE F 15 E#4921,495,386,0004%
(ZZF—+4 :21,541,537,000/% ) &+

i

BRBHER

HE_Z-N\FhkZZE—tF+=
A=+—HLLFE FESRESE
BRI BB R ERADA] ERITE
AR ES  DHERREITEZSE
BARESFBERHEE_T—N\FR
—E—+tFF+A=+—HLFE
AR ES 1B L
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

160

16. ¥% BMERRKRHE

Furniture &
Mining Fixtures
Structure and Leasehold Motor
Buildings Plantand  Improvement Vehicle  Construction
REER Machinery HENE B in Progress Total
REZE BER#EE £ RERRE EEIR A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHER THER THEL FHEL FHEL FHEL
Cost BA
At 1 January 2017 RZZ—+&—A—H 194,876 164,433 536 19,923 567,800 947,568
Additions RNE 1,777 3,284 - 2,000 352 7,413
Disposals HE - - - (1,344) - (1,344)
Acquisition of subsidiary WEEME AR 56,223 275,464 - 4,328 - 336,015
Acquisition of assets through BRBENRBARKEEE
acquisition subsidiary - - - 93 111,183 111,276
Exchange realignment ERAE 17,026 23,666 - 1,206 32,675 74,573
At 31 December 2017 and RIZ—+F+-A=t-HR
1 January 2018 —2-N\F-A—H 269,902 466,847 536 26,206 712,010 1,475,501
Additions RNE 374 - 3,072 787 66,021 70,254
Disposals e - (33,535) - (1,353) (12,071) (46,959)
Written off s - - - - 6,572) 6,572)
Transfer YN 16,851 76,273 - - (93,124) -
Exchange realignment X A% (15,679) (27,707 - (1,054) (26,476) (70,910)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-N\F+=ZA=1+—8 271,454 481,878 3,608 24,586 639,788 1,421,314
Accumulated depreciation and ~ Eif i E
impairment
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—A—H 104,035 133,656 536 19,848 193,938 452,013
Charge for the year FRMK 10,746 16,074 - 638 - 27,458
Disposals HE - - - (1,058) - (1,058)
Exchange realignment ERAE 8,271 10,718 - 979 - 19,968
At 31 December 2017 and RIZ—+F+-A=t-BR
1 January 2018 —2-N\F-A—H 123,052 160,448 536 20,407 193,938 498,381
Charge for the year FRMk 14,507 41,424 614 2,075 - 58,620
Disposals HE - (10,188) - 1,117 - (11,305)
Exchange realignment X A% (7,452) (10,281) - (804) - (18,537)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+=ZA=1+—8 130,107 181,403 1,150 20,561 193,938 527,159
Carrying amount HREE
At 31 December 2018 RZZ—N\F+=A=+-8 141,347 300,475 2,458 4,025 445,850 894,185
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+E+ZA=+—H 146,850 306,399 - 5,799 518,072 977,120
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. ¥ BERZE (&)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the carrying amount of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment of approximately HK$457.3 million
(2017: approximately HK$510.9 million) and approximately
HK$111.9 million (2017: approximately HK$115.8 million)
were allocated to the Molybdenum Mining cash-generating
unit (“Molybdenum Mining CGU”) and Potassium Mining cash-
generating unit (“Potassium Mining CGU”) respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU and Potassium Mining
CGU based on value in use calculation. That calculation used
cash flows projections based on financial budgets as approved
by management covering a 5-year period, and at a discount rate
of 183% and 21% (2017: 11% and 20%) for Molybdenum Mining
CGU and Potassium Mining CGU respectively with reference to the
valuation performed by an independent external valuer as at 31
December 2018. No impairment is considered necessary to provide
(2017: Nil).

As at 31 December 2018, buildings with carrying amount
of approximately HK$36,864,000 (2017: approximately
HK$16,428,000) were pledged for a bank loan.

N—_EBE—-NF+-_A=+—8 KA&£EY
¥ HE K& #E < R EE 457,300,000
B (ZF —+F : 49510,900,0005% 7T )
K 49111,900,0008 L (ZZE—+F: 4
115,800,000/ 7T) # Al D B = 8ERR S E
FEM([ERACESEN])RERE
BReEABN((HRABEREGELESE
firl) e

R-ZE-NE+-A=+—8 ~EHET
FREENEETERRGELSE 2T
WEleEE - BRTEER T EREREMME
WRERFHCMBREERELNHRESR
B REBRSELSBNRFRELRE
REEABMZRED R H13%KR21%
(ZZE—EF 1% Kk20%) TR EBL
HSNEBEERAR - N\F+_A=+—H
EITNHESE - GEFEFELRERE
(ZE—tF &) -

R_ZE—N\F+_A=+—8 EmEEY
36,864,000 T RE(Z T —HF: 4
16,428,000/ 70 ) BIFIEA—IBIRITER
BIHELR o
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17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. ENHEHERE

Prepaid lease payments represent cost paid for medium-term ENEEREERCATE 2P PEEL
leasehold land in the PRC. The costs are amortised over the AT AR - B A 5 B R E 15

leasehold period of 15 years and 45 years respectively. M ABFHESH o
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET

Net carrying amount REFE
At 1 January n—A—H 72,974 52,750
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries FIRUCHERMT B A BT - 21,254
Amortisation for the year FREEY (6,156) (5,636)
Exchange realignment Ik (3,742) 4,606
At 31 December W+=A=+—8H 63,076 72,974
As at 31 December 2018, prepaid lease payments with carrying R—ZE—NF+_A=+—H BKEE
amount of approximately HK$20,342,000 (2017: approximately 4920,342,0008 TR EKAERE (=ZZ
HK$21,997,000) were pledged for a bank loan. —+ 4 4921,997,000/8 7T) B K IHIE A —
BHRTTEZOER-
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18. MINING RIGHTS 18. RIERE
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Costs: B
At 1 January n—H—H 5,713,531 3,096,436
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries FEBUHEHT B A E g - 2,383,855
Exchange realignment PE 5 F 2 (183,635) 233,240
At 31 December R+ZA=+—H 5,529,896 5,713,531
Accumulated amortisation and BB RREEE:
impairment loss:
At 1 January W—A—H 2,310,941 2,100,133
Amortisation provided for the year NFEHHEBE 52,494 50,569
Exchange realignment PE H A (129,857) 160,239
At 31 December RT+=ZA=+—H 2,233,578 2,310,941
Carrying amount: BREE
At 31 December RT+=ZA=+—H 3,296,318 3,402,590

Molybdenum Mine

The Group had an exploitation rights in respect of a molybdenum
mine located at Xi Ban Cha Gou, Huanglongpu Village, Shimen
Town, Luonan County, Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi
Molybdenum Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. The exploitation rights were allocated
to the Group’s Molybdenum Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group determined the
recoverable amounts of Molybdenum Mining CGU based on value
in use calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections
based on financial budgets as approved by management covering
a 5-year period, and at a discount rate of 13% (2017: 11%) with
reference to the valuation performed by an independent external
valuer as at 31 December 2018. As the recoverable amount of the
Molybdenum Mining CGU was higher than the carrying amount, no
impairment loss was recognised as at 31 December 2018.

R
AEBEERTEREE BT ERERLR
REREEAEROFIEERENARE
B SHTE (TPREGEATE|) Pras h 2 BhiRAE -
BRES R TASERERSEL BN -

RZE-NER_F—tF+_HA=1+—
B AEERAEREEFFEEEERS
EEEfzrREeE - FREAEEATE
REREIANRELFHzMBEER
1% (ZZE—+F 11%)UWRENHR
nE WSEBIIBEEMN T —/\F
T A=+ —BAfEHE ARERREE
AR zAIRESESREREE SR
E-N\F+ A=t REERIRES

e
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18.

19.

164

MINING RIGHTS (Continued)
Potassium Mine

The Group had an exploitation rights in respect of a Potassium
mine located Shaanxi Province, the PRC (“Shaanxi Potassium
Mine”) issued by Land and Resources Bureau of Shaanxi Province,
the PRC. The exploitation rights were allocated to the Group’s
Potassium Mining CGU.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group determined the recoverable
amounts of Potassium Mining CGU based on value in use
calculation. That calculation used cash flows projections based
on financial budgets as approved by management covering a
5-year periods, and at a discount rate of 21% with reference to
the valuation performed by an independent external valuer as at
31 December 2018. As the recoverable amount of the Potassium
Mining CGU was higher than the carrying amount, no impairment
loss was recognised as at 31 December 2018.

. PREERE (@)

R AT
AEEEEHBARKESE+ERERR
B A MR AT ((RASEATE])
B HFEE - DEESRETAEENR
FRRSEEEM-

RZZE-NFE+_A=+—HB KrEEK
AEAEESE #mﬁﬁE%ﬁiFi
fizr Bl eE-BRAAEERTERE
BEMENRERFH o MBEERED
MRS METER  RAME21%W LR EE
VHNEBERMR _E-NF+_A=+—
HETHREAE AN ROBEREE
FELzANEEERAKREE WX
E-NF+ZA=+-BUEBRRHES
B

GOODWILL 19. &
HK$’000
FHT

Cost: RS
At 1 January 2017, at 31 December 2017 and RZE—+F—H—H"
at 1 January 2018 RZZE—tF+=-A=+—8K

RZZE—-N\F—-H—H 69,131
Impairment of goodwill EENERIE (12,939)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE-—N\F+ZA=+—8 56,192

As at 31 December 2018, the amounts of goodwill were allocated
to Molybdenum Mine CGU, Trading of chemical products
cash-generating unit (“Chemical Products CGU”) and Sale of
security technologies products cash-generating unit (“Security
Technologies Products CGU”) (“CGUS”) of approximately HK$13.4
million, Nil and HK$42.8 million respectively.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group conducted impairment review
on goodwill attributable to above CGUs at the end of the reporting
period by reference to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount of the CGUs has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation. There was approximately HK$12.9 million
impairment loss was recognised in respect of Chemical Products
CGU for the year ended 31 December 2018.
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19.

20.

GOODWILL (Continued)

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a 5 years
period, and the discount rate of Molybdenum Mine CGU was 13%
Chemical Products CGU was 22% and Security Technologies
Products CGU was 19%.

INVESTMENT DEPOSITS/LONG-TERM
RECEIVABLE

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group entered into
a subscription agreement with Shaanxi Ding Jin Mining Company
Limited (“Ding Jin”), pursuant to which the Group is eligible to
subscribe for the promissory notes issued by Ding Jin. The principal
amount of the promissory notes was HK$500 million and carried
at interest of HK$100 million payable on the maturity date, which
is 5 years from subscription. The promissory note is secured by an
iron mine indirectly owned as to 96% by Ding Jin. Pursuant to the
subscription agreement, the Group has the right to acquire the Iron
Mine should the subscriber failed the settlement of the promissory
note to the Group. The Iron Mine is located at Zi Yang Xian, An
Kang City, Shan Xi Province, the PRC covering approximately 13.54
km?,

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group discussed
with Ding Jin to consider the potential possibility to acquire the Iron
Mine held by Ding Jin given the condition that () Ding Jin obtained
all the necessary approval documents to operate the Iron Minge,
including but not limited to the exploitation right and environment
approval issued by the relevant PRC authorities; and (i) the
satisfaction of due diligence performed by the Group’s mining team,
in particular the evaluation of reserve of the Iron Mine. Accordingly,
the Group and Ding Jin agreed two years period for both parties to
satisfy the conditions layout by the Group.

19.

20.

e (@)
ReREBAFEANGTENNEREEREH]
ERRERFH U HEBEREL  mHE
BHRESEASEN BELEERRSESE
BUREERTEMERRESEFAEM
BRIRE DB A13% - 22% % 19% °

RERE REPERHKE

BHE-_E——F+_A=+—HIEE:
AEBERARSEEERAR ([R2])
FIVRBEHS B AEETRESS
BTz AR ER AL BEEASER
500,000,000 7t » 3 K #100,000,000/%5
THIE  BREIEE (MERERERAF
EH)ENM ARXBEHRSSHEREFI%
HERNEEER - BERERS  WREBA
ReemAEBEEANZE A AREBEE
BB E IR BRI AP B ELEM
K% BEEMEAORIBH4FEFTRE -

HE-Z-—X"F+-A=+—HLFE"
ZREBIAT R ARBEERK ST HNAE
BUEESRSFENEBRERNELARELE F
MGMERE: ()R EERLEBEOE X
BRAEXH BEETRAPREEHEE
BBFT N RO BRAEME MR HE S R (i) R AN
SERBEEFETHEBRAS  LHIZFF
HEBENHE A ARBRREREE
77 70 R BT PO B A 5% B 1R HE A AR 1
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20.

166

INVESTMENT DEPOSITS/LONG-TERM
RECEIVABLE (Continued)

However, during the year ended 31 December 2018, the result
of above conditions was not satisfied. After negotiation between
the Group and Ding Jin, both parties agreed to enter into a
repayment agreement, pursuant to which, the receivable amounts
of HK$600,000,000 would be carrying interest at 10% per annum,
payable on annual basis in 5 years (“Receivable”).

The Receivable was reclassified and recognised as long-term
receivable in the consolidated statements of financial position were
calculated as follows:

20.

REERE REPEWFIE (@)

Am REBEE=ZZ—N\F+=ZA=1+—H
WEFE - FilUEHERE R EN - A%
EHESSHEE  CHRBFER H®E
1t - i Uk 2 TE600,000,00078 7T #6 4% 4 |
E10%HE AR AFRNIEFEL A ([
RIEL) o

REAVBEIMRAREF D BARR BT
FEWR TR MR IRET E N T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT FHET

Cost X AR 600,000 -
Less: Allowance for credit losses Ji - RIZIREEE (14,498) -
585,502 -

Non-current portion IEREF S 466,664 -
Current portion MENE D 118,838 -
585,502 -
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. BILEE

Contract
backlog
BEREN
HK$ 000
FHT
Cost: R :
As at 1 January 2017 RZE—+F—H—H -
Addition through acquisition of subsidiaries FEIBULEMT B A B g 468,321
Exchange realignment P& H SRR 18,951
As at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 R=E—+tF+=-—A=+—8K
—Z-N\F—H—H 487,272
Exchange realignment ME 57, 58 B8 (26,874)
As at 31 December 2018 RZEBE-N\FE+ZA=+—H 460,398
Accumulated amortisation: g £
As at 1 January 2017 RZZT—+F—A—H -
Amortisation provided for the year REZHIFRE 31,221
Exchange realignment ME 5, 38 B 1,264
As at 31 December 2017 and 1 January 2018 RZE—+tF+ZA=+—HBK
—=—N\&—H—H 32,485
Amortisation provided for the year FANEHERE 96,505
Exchange realignment P& H SR 6,217)
As at 31 December 2018 RZEBE-NF+_A=+—H 122,773
Carrying amount: BREME:
As at 31 December 2018 RZEBE-NF+_A=+—H 337,625
As at 31 December 2017 RZE—tF+ZA=+—H 454,787
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21.

22,

168

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2017, intangible assets of
approximately HK$468.3 million were acquired through acquisition
of Gold Pearl Group, represent contract backlog with 5 years useful
life. The amounts of intangible assets were allocated to Security
Technologies Products CGU.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group conducted impairment
review on intangible assets attributable to Security Technologies
Products CGU at the end of the reporting period by reference to
its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of the
Security Technologies Products CGU has been determined based
on a value-in-use calculation. No impairment loss was recognised
in respect of the Security Technologies Products CGU for the year
ended 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil).

The calculation used in the cash flows projections was based on
financial budgets as approved by management covering a 5 years
period, the discount rate of Security Technologies Products CGU
was 18.5% and the estimated general growth rate was 3%.

21.

\|LEE (®)
BHE-_Z—+E+-_A=+—RBILEE"
ERRECDHEBRRENEREED
468,300,000/ 7T + BERF A/ FAHFEH
BEXNEHN BFREAENSEIRTRE
RMEMBRSEESR-

RZB-NF+ZA=+—RB KEER
BERRSERLRMERRSEL BN
ZEFAIRE S ER R L RMRASELSE
MEGEETEEETRELDNRE HERT
BRMERREELEM IR ESELRA
EREEEEE - HE_T-N\F+=
A=+ —BLEFE BELRLRMER
ReETEUERRERR (—F—tF:
&) -

RenERAERNGENEREEE]
EMRELFR IV BREREL HE
REEMERRSELEMZHRAER
18.5% M fhit —ARIBR E 53% °

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 22 EWmEHRE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHE T
Current finance lease receivables mBEKFERS 1,091 1,314
Non-current finance lease receivables JEREERMERE 3,706 5,077
4,797 6,391
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22. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group’s finance lease receivables are as follows:

2. EHEMEHESE (&)
AEBZELBRAREDNT

2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F

Present value Total Present value Total

of minimum minimum of minimum minimum

lease lease lease lease

receivables receivables receivables receivables

BIEEWY BIEEWY RIEEK RIEEK

HERE HELH HELRE HEEE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TR FHET THT

Not later than 1 year TER—F 1,091 1,395 1,314 1,705
Later than 1 year not later than 5 years ER—FETERNLE 3,706 4,187 5,077 5,908
4,797 5,582 6,391 7,613
Less: total future interest income B RRFBUA B (785) (1,222)
Present value of lease obligations HEEARE 4,797 6,391

The interest rate inherent in the leases was fixed at the contract

date for the entire lease term. The interest rates of the above

finance leases was 6% per annum.

The finance lease receivables as at 31 December 2018 were neither

past due nor impaired.

The terms of finance leases entered into ranged to 5 years.

EERHANRERENXBEERAKA
HEANKF ULEBEREZFNES

6% °

RZZE-NF+_RA=+—BZEKME

HEMEAMIRE -

BRIz zEREBEHEFHANFOEF-
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23. INVENTORIES 23. F&
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHExT FET
Raw material R 59,211 39,235
Work in progress P 10,797 12,047
Finished goods K 483,455 421,358
553,463 472,640
Provision of obsolete inventories ZEGERE (32,691) -
520,772 472,640
The cost of inventories recognised as expense during the year in FARKREXS BEECE2EEMREER
respect of mining operations, trading of chemical products and CRMERBERAEIHZEEREASG H
sale of security technologies products were totally approximately 47 /886,957,000 L (ZZE—tF: 4
HK$886,957,000 (2017: approximately HK$352,274,000). There 352,274,000 L) B EZET—NF+=
was approximately HK$34,261,000 of provision of obsolete A=+—BHLFE RERABREET
inventories was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 E B E 434,261,000 L (Z 2 —+F:
December 2018 (2017: Nil). ;) -
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24. TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES FEWEREFRREE
2018 2017
—2-N\F —E L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT
Trade and bill receivables JEURBR R R =1 44,864 66,660
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEEEE (21,429) -
23,435 66,660

As at 31 December 2018 and 1 January 2018, trade receivables
from contracts with customers amounted to HK$23,435,000 and
HK$66,660,000 respectively.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables presented
based on dates of delivery of goods.

RZE—N\F+A=+—BRZZT—N
—B REARFPEHZEWEZERR
2 Bl &23,435,0007% 7T 66,660,000/ T °

AT RIREEMINARZ25HE 5 R
IR FRER D #T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ZT—+tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHEx FET

0-30 days 0-30H 11,780 3,065
31-60 days 31-60H - 4,772
61-90 days 61-90H 1,182 -
91-180 days 91-180H 272 44,596
Over 180 days but within one year #180B B —F R 10,201 14,227
23,435 66,660
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24,

172

TRADE AND BILL RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The aging of trade and bill receivables which are past due but not
impaired are as follows:

BWERER KRS (&)

B8 BR B MR 2 FE AR TR R SR AR BR % 40
T

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERx FHET

31-60 days 31-60H - 4,772
61-90 days 61-90H 1,182 -
91-180 days 91-180H 272 44,596
Over 180 days but within one year #180B B —FR 10,201 14,227
11,655 63,595

For the year ended 31 December 2018, trade debtors that were
not impaired nor past due related to customers for whom there was
no recent history of default. Based on experience, management
believe that no impairment loss shall be recognised as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered recoverable (2017: Nil).

The Directors consider that the fair values of trade receivables are
not materially different from their carrying value because these
amounts have short maturity period on their inception.

For the Group’s mining operation, sales of molybdenum
concentrates and trading of chemical products are largely on cash
basis with no credit terms being granted to customers, except for
sizable customers with good credit history, the Group will allow a
credit term 30 days.
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25.

26.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ANRIE RERHMEWRR
RECEIVABLES
As at 31 December 2018, included in balance of prepayments, R_E-N\F+—A=+—H FBFZE"
deposits and other receivables were () prepayment for purchase of Re kEMERREHRBEEIBEFEZE
inventories of approximately HK$125,733,000 (2017: approximately 1 5RIE49125,733,0008 7T (=T — £ 4F ¢
HK$196,115,000.); (ii) carrying amount of approximately #9196,115,000/8 7T ) : (i) 20 fff 722057 #% F&
HK$118,838,000 (2017: Nil) of Receivables as detailed in note AR T {E 49 5118,838,000/% 7t 2 B W 5K 1A
20; and (i) loan receivable of approximately HK$226,909,000 (ZZ2—+F 1 F): Ry EBARZ K
(equivalent to RMB200,000,000) (2017: Nil) granted to shareholders B 495226,909,000% 7T (FHERAR
of subsidiaries which was carried at effective interests rate of 11%. #200,000,00070) 2 EWE R (=T —+
F ) RERFIEA BUWEF] S o
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT 26. RERKREEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FHETT
Pledged bank deposits BEEBIRITE R 1,055 106,220
Cash and bank balances Re MIRTTHES 121,478 56,097
122,533 162,317

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from
0.01% to 0.35% per annum (31 December 2017: 0.01% to
0.35%).

The pledged bank deposit carry interest at the rate of 1.95% (2017:
1.95%) have been pledged to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group.

RITEREBFETEHENEN F0.01%E
0.35%: 8 (Z2—+F+=-A=+—8:
0.01%%0.35% ) °

EHEMRITERIRFNE1.95% 8 (=F
—tF:1.95%) EERIFIERRTFTAEH
RITEE 2R
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. R
Number Nominal
of shares value
RHE&HE HE
Notes ’000 HK$'000
1aE T FAET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.016 each BREE0OI6E T E R
At 1 January 2017, R-ZZT—+tF—HA—H"
at 31 December 2017, R—_ZE—tF+-_A=+—8H"
at 1 January 2018 and RZZE—N\F—A—HEK
31 December 2018 RZZE—NFE+-_A=+—H 31,250,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRHE:
At 1 January 2017 R-_ZT—+&—H—A 21,557,546 344,021
Repurchases of shares fEE AR (62,160) (995)
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—tF+-A=+—8K
31 December 2018 —E-N\F+=-A=+—H 21,495,386 343,926

The movements in the Company’s share capital are summarized as
follows:

(@  On 25 September 2017, 26 September 2017, 28 September
2017 and 12 October 2017, the Company bought back
shares through Grand Investment (Securities) Limited,
pursuant to which the Directors have agreed to share
buyback, and the Company has agreed to buy back up
to 30,180,000 shares at market price of HK$0.1592 per
shares; 7,650,000 shares at market price of HK$0.1593 per
shares; 12,330,000 shares at market price of HK$0.1622
per shares and 12,000,000 shares at HK$0.1610 per shares
respectively. The shares were cancelled in the stock market
on 6 October 2017 and 18 October 2017 respectively.

174 North Mining Shares Company Limited Annual Report 2018

AR

Al BAREB M MT -

R_ZE—tHFhLA-_t+HB =Z
—+tFhA-Z+AAB - ZT—+F
hA=-+NBER-_Z—t&+A
TZH ARFBERRNERE (F
%)*ﬁ‘ﬁﬁ“ﬂ%@%’“%ﬂtﬁ%ﬂ
ERHOBEEmMAARRED BT
,aon.1592/%7t,5§@30,180,000
& B 4 ~ LA T {8 & JR0.159378 7T 8
[17,650,0000% f% 13 A TH (B T %
0.1622/% L BE [E112,330,0000% A%
B R ATEFA0.16107 JT B8 [
12,000,0000% A% 17 © 3% F & 0 5 B

—+tF+ARNBRZZT—LtF
+ A+ A\BREETISEHE-



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e SRR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 #Z - — /N F+_-_A=+—HI FZ

28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 28. ATRES

2018 2017
—2-N\F —E L
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FH&TT

Convertible bonds with principal amount of: AEEWM TR BRES:
HK$250,000,000 (CB A) 250,000,000/ 7 ( AT fE A ) - 246,857
HK$98,838,000 (CB B) 98,838,000/ 7T, ( AJ 2 AE E%B) - 97,829
= 344,686

On 21 December 2016 and 29 December 2016, the Company
issued unsecured convertible bonds with principal amount of
HK$98,828,000 (the “CB B”) and HK$250,000,000 (the “CB A"
respectively. The maturity date of the CB B and CB A are 20
December 2018 and 28 December 2018 respectively. The CB
B and CB A is interest bearing at 10% per annum and payables
arrears at first anniversary and upon its maturity dates. The CB B
and CB A holders have the rights to convert the CB B and CB A
into ordinary shares of the Company at any time and from time to
time between the date of issue of the CB B and CB A and up to
respectively maturity date, at the initial conversion price of HK$0.15
(the “Conversion Price”), subject to adjustment as set out and
in accordance with the terms and conditions in the instrument
constituting the CB B and CB A.

RZE—RF+ZA=Z+—BEZZ—RX
F+—A-ThB ARRDHETEAS
¥ /98,828,000 7T ([ AT AR EHB |) &
250,000,000/ 7T ([ AR EHA]) 2 &
EAITRRES - TR ESHFBR AR
EHAZH BB A-TE—N\FE+=A
—+tHEZE-NF+ZA=Z+N\H-A
BRREFBR AR EHFATIEFFE10%
SECARE-RERIBMASHI R
AR EHFBRAIRREFARTARES
BE A L2 iR - AR ESFBR ATIRAR
BEHAZIEE ABERR R TRIZYFHR
BEB0.15E T ([HAAX(E ) 5 AT AR (B 5B
LR ESAER AR AR Z L@
BB R AR B AT IR EHBR AT AR
BEHAZ TSGR AR E L # 2
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

The fair values of the liability component and the equity conversion
component were determined at the issuance of the convertible
bonds. The fair value of the liability component, include in current
financial liabilities, was calculated using a market interest rate
for an equivalent non-convertible bond. The residual amount,
representing the value of the equity conversion component, is
included in shareholders’ equity. The convertible bonds recognised
in the consolidated statement of financial position are calculated as

28. AARES (&)

BESOREEBHRIESN R FERAR
BEFBTRET AESIHQFE (G
AREIEBE) A EEIE AT AR E A
SN EGFE - MR eE (RERERID
BEE) S ARRER - REFE T BRRE
RO AR ERDIRAT T AFE:

follows:
CBA CBB Total
TRRESFA TERESB st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
At 1 January 2017 R-ZZT—tF—H—H 243,838 96,633 340,471
Imputed interest charged HEFMBERE 28,019 11,080 39,099
Interest charged PR (25,000) (9,884) (34,884)
At 31 December 2017 and RZE—tF+ZA=1+—H
at 1 January 2018 kZZF—N\F—HA—H 246,857 97,829 344,686
Imputed interest charged HEREMEZ 28,143 10,893 39,036
Repayment (note b) T RIE (H5EDb) - (108,722) (108,722)
Re-classified to corporate bond ENBREEES
(note a) (MizEa) (275,000) - (275,000)

At 31 December 2018

RZE-N\F+ZA=+—H

(a)

(b)

CBA

On 28 December 2018, the Company and CB A holder entered
into the standstill deed, pursuant to which the parties agreed to
extend the repayment date for nine months to 28 September 2019
under amendment the conditions therein. The unpaid principal of
HK$250,000,000 shall be charged at the rate of 10% per annum
based on 365 day and cancelled the conversion option. Accordingly,
the principal amount of CB A had reclassified to corporate bond as
set out in note 35.

CcBB

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the principal amount of
HK$98,838,000 and interest amount of HK$9,883,800 were fully
redeemed by the Company.

Interest expenses on the convertible bonds is calculated using the
effective interest method by applying the effective interest rate of
11.5% to the liability component.
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BRAE=Z—NAFNALA=Z+NB - RKHAK
% & %8250,000,000/% JT % 2 F FI L10%
W B FI) B, 0 B AB65R 2 B +F § # AR
e Bt TMRESAZ RS SEEEHN
DEEDERBS M FEISFTERY

(b) TE;ERESB
HE-_Z—N\E+-_A=+—HI*#F
& K& % %198,838,000/8 Tt & F| B & A
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30.

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 29, EELEHEAE
Mining Security
rights Technology Total
PRIERE REHEM @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—HF—H 273,112 - 273,112
Addition through acquisition of BT HE T B A TG
subsidiaries - 121,818 121,818
Credit to profit or loss FFAER (12,642) (8,121) (20,763)
Exchange realignment IE 53 & 20,060 - 20,060
At 31 December 2017 and RZZE—tF+ZA=1+—H
1 January 2018 MZZE—-NF—H—H 280,530 113,697 394,227
Credit to profit or loss FFAER (13,124) (24,126) (37,250)
Exchange realignment BE 3 A% (14,870) (5,164) (20,034)
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+_HA=+—81 252,536 84,407 336,943
The Group did not have any significant unprovided deferred tax RZZE-—NF+ZA=1+—H A&EEHE
liabilities at 31 December 2018 (2017: Nil). ARNERARABHECHRBEEE(ZZE—t
FomE)o
TRADE AND BILL PAYABLES 30. ENRARAKREE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEx FET
0-30 days 0-30H 28,889 39,484
31-60 days 31-60H 9,715 19,906
61-90 days 61-90H 4,858 -
91-180 days 91-180H 43,097 58,872
Over 180 days but within one year #180B B —F R 48,754 66,597
135,313 184,859

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and bill
payable approximate to their fair values at the end of reporting

period.

EERR BURFERENREEREA

R 5 B
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31.

32.

178

PROVISION FOR ENVIRONMENTAL AND

31. RRRERBEE

RESOURCES TAX
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Environmental and resources tax RREERR 124,123 -

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had environmental and
resources tax at amounts of HK$124,123,000 (RMB109,400,000)
(2017: HK$NIl (RMB: Nil)) arising upon renewal of its mining license.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

W-E—-NE+-A=+—08 A&£H
REEEREEREEERREERM
124,123,000/ 7t ( A R #109,400,0007T )
(Z2—tF BT (ARE - ZIL) ) -

32. EtENSRRESER

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Non-current liabilities FmBEE
— Other payables (note a) —E e RE (Miska) 38,204 -

Current liabilities meaE

— Other payables and accruals (note b) —HiEARIBEREER (M) 188,649 148,775
226,853 148,775

The non-current liabilities represented the amounts due to the
minority shareholders and directors of the Group’s subsidiaries which
are unsecured, interest free and not required to settle within one year.

Included in other payables and accruals are amounts of
approximately HK$24,377,000 (2017: approximately HK$24,579,000)
due to the minority shareholders and directors of the Group’s
subsidiary which are unsecured, interest free and repayment on
demand.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of other payables

and accruals approximate to their fair values at the end of reporting
period.
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33.

34.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 33. RITERRHMEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Interest bearing bank loans, FTEEEARITERRK
secured and other borrowings Hihfg &
Current portion mENE D 710,524 596,343
Non-current portion EREE D 637,396 251,321
1,347,920 847,664

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s interest-bearing bank
loans were carried at effective interest rates from 6.09% to 30%
per annum and were secured by (i) guarantees from corporate
companies; (i) pledged of property, plant and equipment (note
16), prepaid lease payments (note 17) and mining right (note 18);
(ili) guarantees from subsidiaries of the Group and the subsidiary’s
minority shareholders; (iv) guarantee from the ultimate control party;
and (v) pledged bank deposit (note 26).

W_ZE-NF+-A=1+—8 K&EHFH2
HBITERZ BERFFENF6.09%230%
AR ERRZ R (R 20E  BE
NasAE (M5E16) ~ AR E RIS (MIFE17)
NouEE (ME18) « (VAN EEHE AR K&
WEBRARZ VERSBEZER (VVEE
AR ZER RVEBEPETER (K
£¥06) o

CONTRACT LIABILITIES 34. EHNEE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Contract liabilities AHEE 32,873 -

As at 1 January 2018, advances from customers of
HK$37,409,000 in respect of sales of goods previously included in
other payables and accruals were reclassified to contract liabilities.

R-E-NF—A—H EH@HEEDRM
BERT AR RN AR E BB TEK
& PR B7,409,0008 TEEM A HEA
HafE-
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35.

180

CORPORATE BOND

35. t¥EFEH

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—+tF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At 1 January n—H—H - -
Addition RNE 275,000 -
At 31 December R+=—A=+—8 275,000 -

The Group’s corporate bond is repayable as follow:

AEBERNEEESFHBOT

2018 2017

—2-N\F —E—LF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Within one year —&FR 275,000 -

Upon the maturity date of a convertible bond on 28 December
2018 as disclosed in note 28, the Group entered into standstill
deed in relation to turn the convertible bond into a corporate
bond with a principal amount of HK$250,000,000 at a price
equal to 100% of its principal amount to Sfund International
Investment Fund Management Limited, which is to the best of
knowledge, information and belief of the Directors having made all
reasonable enquires, an independent third party of the Company
(the “Corporate Bond”). The Corporate Bond would mature on 28
September 2019. The interest rate of the Corporate Bond was 10%
per annum.
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36. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 36. REHERE
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for RNHREHEEER AEEEFR T HH
future minimum lease payments/receivables under non-cancellable BBz AR A HERRREER S
operating leases which fall due as follows: MR 2 A -
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FHT
The Group as leasee AEBEBEEA
Within one year —FR 7,280 6,246
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_EERAF(BRIEERMTE) 9,729 9,288
After the fifth year ERFE 15,497 16,404
32,506 31,938
The Group as leasor AEBEMEA
Within one year —&FR 6,998 7,407
In the second to fifth years inclusive FEENF (BEEEWRSF) 3,547 7,407
10,545 14,814

2018 Fii A FBERMBERA A 181



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2018 B2 —F—/\F+_-_A=+—HI FZF

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following balances and transactions
with related parties:

(a)

(b)

182

At the end of the reporting period, the Group entered into the
following balances with related parties:

37. E&

BEAERS

BRIEESEMBHRREMATOANES
S REBEBHEEALTHFEN NEHR

5

(a)

Amounts due
from related parties

RIBEREAEER  AEFEEBRE
ATHFEB TR

Amounts due
to related parties

EHREBEALRE ENEREALTRE
2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\F —ZT—tF ZEBE-NF ZZT—+F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT FER FHET
Related parties BREAL 226,909 - 62,631 24,579

The amounts outstanding are unsecured and will be settled in
cash. No guarantee has been given or received. No expenses
have been recognised in the period for bad or doubtful debts
in respect of the amounts due from related parties.

Compensation of key management
personnel

Remuneration for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Company’s directors and certain of the
highest paid employees, as disclosed in notes 10 and 11 to
the consolidated financial statements is follows:

(b)

RAREEFASBEALGAREE
B o WA THEFERER - HX
BELEREREALREZRE
AREERFX

FTEEEABZEHM

AN ER A B IS R R MY R 10 R 1B 3
BOXEEBABZEFM(BEST
ARREERETERFHEEZ
FIB) AR

2018 2017

—2-N\F —E—LF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHT

Short-term employee benefits EEEBET 2,574 2,509
Mandatory Provident Fund contribution 3@ A T&E & 3%k 89 87
2,663 2,596
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38. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

39.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, the Group

did not have any material non-cash transactions.

38.

FERERS
RBE2-_ZE—N\FRZZE—tF+=A
T+ BLEFERN AEBIETMEKR
FERER G-

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30. €@TH
Categories of financial instruments SRITEER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHEx FAET
Financial assets WG EE
Long term receivable = B FE YR IE 466,664 -
Trade receivables JEWBRF (FBHRZEBERIN)

(excluding expected credit loss) 23,435 66,660
Other receivables (excluding prepaid tax) HoAth pe U k18 (FERT R IERR A1) 927,696 244,243
Investment deposit wEEe - 600,000
Finance lease receivable ElmERE 4,797 6,391
Cash and cash equivalents BehReEEY 121,478 56,097
Pledged bank balance EEMRITER 1,055 106,220

At amortised cost RS A AR 1,545,125 1,079,611
Financial liabilities PKaRE
Convertible bonds AR E S - 344,686
Trade and bill payables ERERERE 135,313 184,859
Other payables and accruals M FRIE M EET SR 226,853 148,775
Corporate bond T¥ES 275,000 -
Bank loan and other borrowing RITER R HEMERK 1,347,920 847,664
At amortised cost RER AR 1,985,086 1,525,984
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s treasury department, including the board of directors

184

meets periodically to analyse and formulate strategies to manage
and monitor the Group’s exposure to variety of risk associate with
financial instruments which arise from the Group’s operating and
investing activities. Generally, the Group employs conservative
strategies regarding its risk management to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner. The

risks include market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

(@) Market risk

@

Foreign exchange risk

The business transactions of the Group conducted
during the year were mainly denominated and settled
in either RMB or HK$. The Group currently does not
have hedging policy in respect of the foreign currency
risk. However, management monitors the related
foreign currency risk exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency risk exposure
should the needs arise.

Based on the market condition at end of reporting
period, the Group determined that it is reasonably
possible for RMB to strengthen/weaken by 10%
against HK$ in the coming twelve months (2017:
10%). Hence, 10% are the sensitivity rates used in
the current year when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represent
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and based on the
assumption that other variables are held constant. A
positive number below indicates an increase in profit or
equity where RMB strengthens 10% against HKS. For
a 10% weakening of RMB against HK$, there would
be a comparable impact on the profit or equity, and the
balances below would be negative.
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

40. EfzEEBERBE (&)

(a) Market risk (Continued) (@ WmEEE (&)
()  Foreign exchange risk (Continued) (i) MERK(E)
2018 2017
—E-NF —FT—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Profit or loss' Vi M Sk 1R 17,373 26,396
Equity? PE 22 12,699 207,933
Notes: Bt 5
(1) This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding (1) EERERHEHHELEER
on receivable and payable denominated in RMB at the HUAARBEHE 2 B &
end of the reporting period. JE AN TR 5 2 [ B
(2)  This is mainly attributable to the reserves which are (2 FERERBEHHELEEAR
denominated in RMB included in equity at the end of AARBEGTEILEGT AR Z
the reporting period. T
(3)  In the opinion of the management, the sensitivity Q) BTEERR WREINT
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign RE|AEINER B - REZ
exchange risk because the exposure at the end of the RBEHREERFEYE 2
reporting period does not reflect the exposure during 2\ B2 A A~ 2 B 45 (A BT TED 6 L
the year. B o
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

(@) Market risk (Continued)

186

(i)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest
rate risk, as the Group has no financial assets and
liabilities of material amounts with floating interest rate
except for bank borrowings. The sensitivity analysis
below have been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for bank borrowings at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis is prepared assuming
the financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A
50 basis points increase or decrease in interest rate is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2017: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2018 would decrease/increase
by approximately HK$6,739,600 (2017: approximately
HK$4,238,000). This is mainly attributable to the
Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings. Changes in interest rates have no impact
on other comprehensive income for the year ended 31
December 2018 (2017: Nil).

Other price risk

As at 31 December 2018, the Group did not exposed
to equity price risks as the Group did not have any
equity investments at the end of the reporting period.
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 40. EREEEERBER (#)

POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Credit risk b) EERK

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Credit risk on trade receivable is minimal because most of
the transactions related to mining operation were made on
cash basis with no credit term given to its customers, except
for sizable customers and with good credit history with the
Group.

Credit risk on cash and bank balances is mitigated as
counterparties are banks or financial institutions with high
credit rating which is issued by some international external
rating agencies.

Credit risk of deposit and other receivables is significantly
mitigated as the Group performs ongoing credit evaluation
on the financial condition of its debtors and tightly monitors
the ageing of the receivables balances. Follow up action is
taken in case of overdue balances. In addition, management
reviews the recoverable amount of the receivables individually
or collectively at end of reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts.

2018 i A FBERMDERA T
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 40. EEEEHERBER (#)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (c) REBELER

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term. The Group has net current liabilities
of approximately HK$209,888,000 (2017: net current
liabilities approximately HK$329,089,000) and net assets
of approximately HK$3,895,305,000 at 31 December 2018
(2017: approximately HK$4,607,042,000). In the opinion of
directors, the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is limited.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities at each of end of reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payment computed using contractual rate or, if floating based

AEEZHRATHERERSES
B -mMREFTRRSHE BN
MENERRBZABESFT K- R

—N\&F+-_A=+—8 ~£H
ZREBEFEREEFE N
£209,888,000 7T (— T — £ F:
B & & B £9329,089,0007% JT. )
% #93,895,305,000/8 7T ( =& — +
1 494,607,042,000/8 7T ) ° & F R
ﬁ Z’KE.EﬁTZ//IL@JéiHRP\E
MR o

TERFVAKEFRTETBREN
BEHEEER ZRRE 02 ﬁ 15
S TIRBATORMBERZRE (B
TE%E%TZ’]W% PRI B AR R

SHMAEERZENMERGFEZA

H>3f

on current rates at end of reporting period) and the earliest BYXH)EAEERETEENR 2
date the Group may be required to pay: FRHMmMEH:
2018 —E-N\E
Weighted On demand
average or less than 1-3 3 months Over
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 1 years Total
mEFH EEX -fAZ =fiRZE
Gk R-EAR =f@A -% BB-£ At
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TiER FhT FhR TET TET
Trade and bil payables ENEARER - 135,313 - - - 135,313
Other payables and accruals HW@ DEW R - 188,647 - - 38,204 226,351
Bank loans and other borrowings ROEZREMEE 15 393,687 - 516,837 637,396 1,547,920
Corporate bond rEES 10 - - 275,000 - 275,000
717,647 - 791,837 675,600 2,185,084
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40. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 40. EBEEBERBUR (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) RBESER (&)
2017 —ZE—+tF
Weighted On demand
average or less than 1-3 3 months Over
interest rate 1 month months to 1 year 1 years Total
MEFH EEKT EEY RS
fil= R—EAR =f@A - HE—E At
% HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FiEn TR TR Fi#n
Trade and bill payables ERERRRE - 184,859 - - - 184,859
Other payables and accruals HEENTRESER - 148,775 - - - 148,775
Bank loans and other borrowings BITERREMES 5-12 368,653 32,466 359,662 512,056 1.272,837
Convertiole Bonds HRES 10 - - 383,722 - 383,722
702,087 32,466 743,384 512,056 1,990,193
(d) Fair value of financial instruments d =MIAZQFE
The directors of the Company consider the fair value of ARAREERAE AEBVBKEEK
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are not materially BEZ AT ERERGS VSRR
different from their carrying amounts as stated in the KNV ZRMETESERESL-
consolidated statement of financial position.
41. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 41. EXERE

Capital includes equity attributable to the equity holders of
the Company. The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are:

(@ To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it continues to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

(b)  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

(c)  To provide capital for the purpose of the strengthening the
Group’s risk management capability.

BARIEAATESEA AR 2%
AEBEAERZETBAEA:

(@) WRASEHELS BEARR
REER - SEMERTA ARIER

N

S

E

b ZHAKEREER: X

© REERAIRRNERZ AR EE

2k,
Be /J °
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41.

190

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder
returns, taking into consideration the future capital requirements
of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected
profitability, projected operating cash flows, projected capital
expenditures, and projected strategic investment opportunities. The
Group has not adopted any formal dividend policy.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt
divided by total capital plus net debt. The Group’s total capital
comprises all components of equity and net debt includes bank
borrowing, trade and bill payables, other payables and accruals and
corporate bond, less cash and cash equivalents.

The Group’s gearing ratio at 31 December 2018 and 2017 was as
follows:

4.

EXEE (H)
FEEEGEBRIRESHESRE
BREFARERREERESEKT I
SRALEZ RRARBKRERMS
RS REHBFE S  FHEERSRE -
BAERBI AR RBERERE - K
S8 [ 3 4% SR AR £ 1A] IF = AR B SE ©

AEBENMBERBELE (A EFER
NRERMERFR) ERERRR - RNE
BrBERBEMARD AR M
BEFRUNESRITEN BNERIRE
B AR RREFERAUREEES
HBRRERRNEFEY-

AEBR_ZE—N\ER_ZFT—+tF+_A
=+—HZEXRBELERNT:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Debts af&E 2,109,209 1,525,984
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY (121,478) (66,097)
Net debts BEFE 1,987,731 1,469,887
Equity T 3,895,305 4,607,042
Gearing ratio BEEABRKTE 51.03% 31.91%
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42, AR R TBMR R #EER
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

31 December 31 December

2018 2017
S S
+=B=+-8 +ZA=+—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FET
ASSETS BE
Non-Current Assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KB ARz 1,105,514 1,457,480
Property, plant and equipment YE B k& 2,457 -
1,107,971 1,457,480
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TE I8 ~ 2% N H 4th iE Uk 1,806 1,831
Cash and cash equivalents Be MRS EEY 27,691 8,760
29,497 10,591
Total Assets EEHAE 1,137,468 1,468,071
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRRHE
Share capital fi% 7 343,926 343,926
Reserves B (22,667) 487,645
Total Equity LB 321,259 831,571
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities kREBARE
Banks loans and other borrowings RITER N EMER 287,049 -
287,049 -
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 42.

RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

RATFMBARR R ER (F)

31 December 31 December

2018 2017

=E-N\F —E—+F

+=ZA=+—-8 +t=ZA=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Current Liabilities REAE

Corporate bonds hEES 275,000 344,686
Other payables and accruals HE R R ERT & A 36,028 11,814
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMEER 218,132 280,000
529,160 636,500

Total Liabilities BEARH 816,209 636,500
Total Equity and Liabilities ExRAEEE 1,137,468 1,468,071
Net Current Liabilities REBAETFE (499,663) (625,909)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities EEHABERARBER 608,308 831,571
Net Assets EEFE 321,259 831,571

The financial statements of the Company were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2019
and signed on its behalf by:

Yang Ying Min
BRE
Director

EZE
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42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

43.

42, ARBMBMRR R R (&)

Capital Convertible
Share Share redemption  Contribution notes  Accumulated
capital premium reserve surplus  Share option reserves losses Total
TRRRER
BA ROEE EXRERHE BEHEH BRE % ZitEe it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TAL FEL T TAL FEL T TEL
At 1 January 2017 RZE—+t5-F-H 344,921 3,770,925 - 115,615 - 8,902 (4,217,635) 22,728
Proft for the year REFRF - - - - - - 818,831 818,831
Repurchase of shares Bk (995) (8,999) 995 - - - (995) (9,988)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+tF+-A=+-8 343,926 3,761,932 9% 115,615 - 8,902 (3,399,799) 831,571
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - (516,195) (516,195)
Grant of share option B - - - - 5,883 - - 5,883
Lapse of share option BREXT - - - - (5,889) - 5,883 -
Recognition of equity BRTRREEEEDSD
component of
convertible notes - - - - - (8,902) 8,902 -
At 31 December 2018 RZB-\F+ZA=1+-B 343,926 3,761,932 9% 115,615 - - (3,901,209) 321,259
PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES 43. FEHEQH
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are as ARREEMBARZFBWOT
follows:
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Registered capital/ interests attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital to the Company Principal activities
WEARER AL/ KAt FMER/BRORA AAARERAEEEAL TEEH
Direct Indirect
HE GE3
Sun Man Tai International (B.V.l.) Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary HK$274,051 100% - Investment holding
EBERHE LiEkor4 0618 RAEER
Golden Finance Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2,000,000 - 100% Investment holding
CRUBERLA G L4 2,000,000% T REER
Shanghai Yuan Bei Trading Limited PRC Registered capital - 100%  Investment holding
RMB30,000,000
TERLESERAR i & A AR #30,000,0007 REER
BOC Mantai Property Management (Shanghai) PRC Registered capital US$200,000 - 100%  Properties management
Corporation Limited
FREENEER (LB ERAA 8 A K200 0007 ngEm
Shaanxi Province Luo Nan Xian Jiulong Kuangye ~ PRC Registered capital - 65% Exploration and exploitation of
Company Limited (*Jiulong Kuangye’) RMB90,000,000 molybdenum mines, sales of
molybdenum concentrates
REEREGNEREERLA ((NERE]) & & A AR 90,000,007 DRRFARABRASERH
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43. PRINCIPALS SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 43. X EMBATF (&)
Place of Percentage of equity
incorporation/ Registered capital/ interests attributable
Name of subsidiary establishment issued capital to the Company Principal activities
WEARER AL/ RAE  EMER/BRORE FAAEERAREAEAL TEEHR
Direct Indirect
HE GE3
Wealth Pioneer Group Limited BVI Ordinary USD50,000 - 65%  Investment holding
AERRES L i#M50,000% T RERR
Luo Nan Xian Da Qin Jia Mining Company Limited  PRC Registered capital - 60% Exploration and exploitation of
(‘Da Qin Jia Mining") RMB100,000,000 potassium feldspar mine, and sale of
potassium feldspar
RAGAZABERAR ([KZHE]) hE # & A AR 100,000,007 BRRRFHRRABRAENRA
ZERALIMEREBRAR PRC Registered capital - 51%  Research and development, sales of
(Used to call “Anhui Tongxin) RMB200,000,000 chemical products
ZRALHHBHERAA Gkl & AR AR #200,000,0007T E RERHELEER
(A8 [ZERMEIERAA])
Xinjiang Casiavision Security Technology PRC Registered capital - 100% Research and product development
Company Limited RMB10,000,000 of face recognition technology and
intelligent video analysis technology
and application
HEPHEARHMRERLA i & AR AR 10,000,000 ABERISRGRE R A TRINHE
En¥RRER
Xinjiang Xintongxing Telecommunication PRC Registered capital - 100%  Research and product development
Engineering Company Limited RMB5,000,000 of face recognition technology and

intelligent video analysis technology
and application

MEFERREIRERAA hE 18 A& AR 5,000,000 ABRERR IR R A RIHE
ERERRER
Changji Zhundong Economic and Technological ~ PRC Registered capital - 100% Research and product development
Development Zone Casiavision Security RMB5,000,000 of face recognition technology and
Technology Development Company Limited intelligent video analysis technology
and application
ERERBERMAEETRBARE Gl £ & A A R 85,000,007 ABERIRI R R ARIHE
BERARAA EnEERER
The above list contains only particulars of subsidiaries which ALEEERI TR EAREES
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group. BENABENHNBARFE-
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44.

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 44, ERFERER

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries RZE-—N\F+ZA=+—H HEHEEKX
of the Group that has material non-controlling interests as at 31 EERER AN EBIFELEEFHB AR
December 2018: FFIERMNAT -

Proportion of ownership interests

and voting rights held by Losses allocated to Accumulated of
Name of subsidiary Place of incorporation non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
FERBEREZBEARER
WEAREH EMA L ZRHA PREFERERZER FERERZ 2R
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
—E-N\§ 5% “E-0\% —E—+F —E-N\§ 5%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TR T FiEn
Jlong Kuangye PRC 35% 35% 7679 (5792) 83,833 81,154
hERE “F
Da Qin Jia Mining PRC 40% 40% (16,581) (17,249) 1,392,615 1409196
AEHE HE
Anhui Tongxin PRC 49% 49% (77,507) (12391) (63,131) 14,376
ZHAL #
(86,400) (35432) 1418317 1,504,726
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TXHNEEEAFEREENAEES
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out MEARZHERBER A THEK
below. The summarised financial information below represents ERERBER=ZZTE-N\FF+_A=1+—H0%&%
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2018. NEBETSERT 2 £/ ©
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44, MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(Continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining

4. ERFERES (@)

B AEHBERBEOR=
- \F+t-A=t-B2HEES

196

and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2018 B He AR 3R &
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEREE REHE ZHEE L &5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER FEx FHERT FEx
Non-current assets FREBEE 1,355,691 111,859 324,570 1,792,120
Current assets RBEE 103,928 106,606 128,469 339,003
Total assets BEE 1,459,619 218,465 453,039 2,131,123
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (409,331) - (190,582) (599,913)
Current liabilities TEEE (819,520) (249,289) (374,970)  (1,443,779)
Total liabilities maE (1,228,851) (249,289) (565,552)  (2,043,692)
Equity s 230,768 (30,824) (112,513) 87,431

Summarised statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of Jiulong Kuangye, Da
Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin for the year
ended 31 December 2018

NERE - KEHRKR ZREORE
E-E-\F+ZA=T—-HLFE
ZHEFABRERAEME2EKER

Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total

hEEmE REHE ZHED &5t

HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx FER B FER

Revenue WA 230,577 - 703,542 934,119

Profit/(loss) before income tax B TS B AT

Al (EE) 10,597 (27,026) (158,178) (174,607)

Taxation TRIE 13,124 - - 13,124

Profit/(loss) for the year EEERA,/ (') 23,721 (27,026) (158,178) (161,483)
Profit/(loss) attributable to IR RS T (B1R)

Non-controlling interests 8,302 (16,486) (77,507) (85,691)
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44. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 44, BERFERER (&)

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash NERE - KREHABRRZREORE
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and EZZ2-\F+ZA=+—HLFE
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December ZRESEHERER
2018
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
hEEE REHE ZHE L &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER THER THER
Net cash (used in)/generated from weEy (), s
operating activities B3 72,160 3,033 (228,510) (153,317)
Net cash used in investing activities REEDMAREFE 16,236 (2,584) (41,088) (27,436)
Net cash generated from/(used i) REEBDME/ (F1R)
financing activities B3 (98,931) - 285,625 186,694
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeLRLSEMEN/
and cash equivalent (Rb) 38 (10,535) 449 16,027 5,941
Cash and bank balances at beginning of FOReRRREEN
the year 12,889 486 5,426 18,801
Effect of foreign exchange IEEXZHNTE T
rate changes, net 6,142 (610) (18,558) (13,026)
Cash and bank balances at end ERZBRE RBITHER
of the year 8,496 325 2,895 11,716
Summarised financial information in respect of each of the Group’s TXHNEEEAERERNAEES
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests is set out WEBARZBEMBER A TRHENK
below. The summarised financial information below represents AR =_ZE—-N\F+_A=1+—HB%&
amounts before intragroup eliminations as at 31 December 2018, A ERE SH AT 2 R o
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44. MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 44, ERFEERER (#F)

(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of financial NERE KREHBRZEROLR=
position of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining E—tF+ZA=+—BHZRERSE
and Anhui Tongxin as at 31 December 2017 B He AR 3R &
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total

NERE KEHE ZEED &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET THERT THERT FTHER
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,502,303 2,499,634 339,344 4,341,281
Current assets MEVEE 463,734 1,248 272,552 737,534
Total assets BEE 1,966,037 2,500,882 611,896 5,078,815
Non-current liabilities FReam 379,593 222,142 - 601,735
Current liabilties nEa R 1,455,656 - 571,286 2,026,942
Total liabilities BaRE 1,835,249 222,142 571,286 2,628,677
Equity % 130,788 2,278,740 40,610 2,450,138
Summarised statement of profit or loss and other hEBEE AZFHBRZBEORE
comprehensive income of Jiulong Kuangye, Da E-EB—tF+ZA=+—HLFE
Qin Jia Mining and Anhui Tongxin for the year ZHEREEZEREMZERER
ended 31 December 2017
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui

Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total

hERE AEHR ZHRE &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TART TAT THET FTHER

Revenue LON 184,588 - 199,694 384,282
Loss before income tax BRETEHATER (29,952) (24,501) (23,973) (78,426)
Taxation A 12,642 - - 12,642
Loss for the year AEEEE (17,310) (24,501) (23,973) (65,784)
Loss attributable to Non-controlling interests 3F 122 R 5 & {5 548 (5,792) (17,249) (12,391) (35,432)
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45.

44, MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 44. EXRFERERS (#)
(Continued)
Summarised consolidated statement of cash jL"‘Eﬁ% REHBERZHEOLRE
flow of Jiulong Kuangye, Da Qin Jia Mining and EB—tF+ZA=+—HLFE
Anhui Tongxin for the year ended 31 December ZREGERERER
2017
Jiulong Da Qin Jia Anhui
Kuangye Mining Tongxin Total
NEEE AEHE ZEEL &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
Net cash (used in)/generated from LREE (FTA) /Fig
operating activities ReFE (104,673) (125) 120,838 16,040
Net cash used in investing activities REGZOMARS TSR (89) (176) (2,715) (2,980)
Net cash generated from/(used injfinancing B & E&NFT18,/ (FrFR)
activties B3 121,454 4 (119,169) 2,329
Net increase/(decrease) in cash BeRBESEMEN/
and cash equivalent CRd) % 16,692 (257) (1,046) 15,389
Cash and bank balances at beginning of ~ FIREKREZEN
the year 3,852 719 7,100 11,671
Effect of foreign exchange INEEREHNTE FE
rate changes, net (2,862) 24 (628) (3,466)
Cash and bank balances at end FRZBERBITES
of the year 17,682 486 5,426 23,594
On 28 March 2019, the Company and Mr. Zhu Wei Min (the —NFE=ZRA=Z+N\HB ARARIERK
“Repurchaser”) entered into the Agreement, pursuant to which BREE([BRAFDETZHmE Bt
the Repurchaser has conditionally agreed to re-acquire and the BROSEEKHEREBEMARARCE A
Company has conditionally agreed to re-sell interest in Gold BHEREBEREREELNERZ REAR
Pearl (through sale of the Sale Share) at the Consideration of 430,000,000 7T - B EME—EE RS Y
HK$430,000,000. The Target's sole asset is a 100% interest in KR ED BAARRZTE—LFH
Gold Pearl which was acquired by the Company back in 2017 BB [0 75 Uk B - X (€ 5430,000,000/% 7T ° iR
from the Repurchaser for a consideration of HK$430,000,000. EIEEEELE AR —ERBEBNERE
The Disposal represents repurchase of the entire interest in Gold BOePRM DR -
Pearl (through acquisition of the Target) at the same price by the
Repurchaser.
APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 45. HEFREMB|®R
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and HREMBEHRER=_ZE—NF=A=+/\H

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2019.

B a REENE-
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B ERME

RESULTS E S

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
ZE-N\E ZF-t% ZT-RE ZE-R% e S UES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL THL FHEL THL THL
Revenue Wz 967,071 468,601 256,004 245,969 454,948
Loss from operations mEEE (331,276) (73,157 (330,193 (818,703) (232,703)
Finance costs BERMA (276,722) (121,366) (39,724 (16,949) (19,619)
Share of results of an associate NG E < - - - - -
Loss before tax BRAEE (607,998) (194,523) (369,917) (835,652) (052,329)
Taxation A 37,219 13,317 9,521 125,690 36,392
Loss for the year EEER (570,779) (181,206) (360,396) (709.962) (215,930)
Attributable to: Fefs:
Owners of the Company ADAEEA (484,008) (145,774) (324,425) (436,220) (165,189)
Non-controling interests FiERER (86,771) (35,432) (35,971) (273,742) (50,741)
Loss for the year EEER (570,779) (181,206) (360,396) (709.962) (215,930)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
As at 31 December
®R+=B=t-AH
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
“E-N\E ZFtF —I-RE —Z5-R% “F-mfF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERL FHL THEL THL THL
Total Assets BEHE 6,374,330 6,537,018 4,678,456 4,462,382 5,369,011
Total Liabiltes afEnE (2,479,025) (1929.976) (1,252,226) (787,152 (1,045,087)
3,895,305 4,607,042 3,426,230 3,675,230 4,323 974
Equity attributable to: FEfhER:
Owners of the Company KRAEEA 2,497,615 3,102,316 3,339,284 3,540,704 3,915,705
Non-controlling interests RS 1,397,690 1,504,726 86,946 134,526 408,269
3,895,305 4,607,042 3,426,230 3,675,230 4,323 974
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